Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Street

Suite 404

Buffalo, New York 14203
phone: 716-856-6525
fax: 716-856-6754

web; buffalourbandevelopment.com

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
Board of Directors Meeting

Date: Tuesday, March 29, 2022
Time: Noon
Conference Call for Board Members and Staff
Live Stream Audio for Press and Public

1.0 CALL TO ORDER
2.0 READING OF THE MINUTES (4ction) (Enclosure)
3.0 NEW BUSINESS

3.1 Audit & Finance Committee Report (Enclosure)

3.1.1 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC Audited Financial Statements (Information) (Enclosure)
3.1.2 2021 BUDC Audited Consolidated Financial Statements Approval (Action) (Enclosure)
3.1.3 2021 Audited Financial Statements - BBRF (Information) (Enclosure)

3.1.4 2021 Investment Report Approval (4ction) (Enclosure)

3.1.5 Investment and Deposit Policy Re-adoption (4ction) (Enclosure)

3.1.6 2021 Brownfield Expenses Reimbursement From BBRF Approval (4dction) (Enclosure)

3.2 Monthly Financial Report Approval (Action) (Enclosure)
3.3 Governance Committee Report (Enclosure)

3.3.1 2021 Mission Statement & Performance Measurements w/ Results (Information)(Enclosure)
3.3.2 2022 Mission Statement & Performance Measurements Approval (4ction)(Enclosure)

3.3.3 Procurement Policy Re-adoption (4Action) (Enclosure)

3.3.4 Property Disposition Guidelines Re-adoption (4ction)(Enclosure)

3.3.5 Updated Whistleblower Policy (4ction)(Enclosure)

3.3.6 2021 Public Authorities Annual Report Approval (4ction)(Enclosure)

3.4 Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park — MLB-MLBPA Youth Development Foundation Grant

Agreement (Action)(Enclosure)

3.5 Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park - MVVA Master Service Agreement

Amendment: ADA Accessible Kayak Launch (4Action)(Enclosure)

3.6 308 Crowley Street - Sale of Approx. 3.65 Acres of Land (4ction)(Enclosure)
3.7 308 Crowley Project Update (Information)

3.8 Northland Corridor Project Update (Information)

3.9 Race For Place Project Update (Information)

3.10 Buffalo Lakeside Commerce Park Project Update (Information)

4.0
5.0
6.0
7.0

LATE FILES

TABLED ITEMS
EXECUTIVE SESSION
ADJOURNMENT (Action)

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Chairman of the Board ® Dennis Penman, Vice Chairman ® Brandye Merriweather, President
Rebecca Gandour, Executive Vice President ® Mollie Profic, Treasurer ® Atiga Abidi, Assistant Treasurer ® Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary



1.0

2.0

BUDC Board of Directors Meeting — February 22, 2022
Draft Minutes- Subject to Board Review and Approval

Minutes of the Meeting
of the
Board of Directors
of
Buffalo Urban Development Corporation

Via Video Conference Call & Live Stream Audio

February 22, 2022

12:00 p.m.
Directors Present: Directors Absent:
Trina Burruss Mayor Byron W. Brown (Chair)
Daniel Castle Darby Fishkin
Janique S. Curry Dottie Gallagher
Dennis W. Elsenbeck Dennis M. Penman (Vice Chair)
Michael J. Finn Maria R. Whyte

Thomas Halligan
Thomas A. Kucharski
Brendan R. Mehaffy
Kimberley A. Minkel
David J. Nasca
Darius G. Pridgen

Officers Present:

Brandye Merriweather, President

Rebecca Gandour, Executive Vice President
Mollie M. Profic, Treasurer

Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary

Atiga Abidi, Assistant Treasurer

Guests Present: Alexis M. Florczak, Hurwitz & Fine, P.C.; Laurie Hendrix, ECIDA Administrative
Coordinator, Lisa Hicks, City of Buffalo Office of Strategic Planning; and Seth Piccirillo, Buffalo Niagara
Partnership.

Roll Call - Mr. Mehaffy serves a chair of the meeting and called the meeting to order at 12:03 p.m.
The Secretary called the roll and a quorum of the Board was determined to be present. Mr. Pridgen left
the meeting following the presentation and vote on agenda item 4.2.

The meeting was held via Zoom in accordance with the provisions of Article 7 of the Public Officers Law,
as amended effective January 14, 2022, which authorizes public bodies to conduct meetings and take
such action authorized by law without permitting in public in-person access to meetings and to authorize
such meetings to be held remotely by conference call or similar service, provided that the public has the

ability to view or listen to such proceeding and that such meetings are recorded and later transcribed.

Approval of Minutes ~ Meeting of January 25, 2022 — The minutes of the January 25, 2022
meeting of the Board of Directors were presented. Mr. Pridgen made a motion to approve the meeting
minutes. The motion was seconded by Mr. Nasca and unanimously carried (11-0-0).




3.0

4.0

BUDC Board of Directors Meeting — February 22, 2022
Draft Minutes- Subject to Board Review and Approval

Monthly Financial Reports

3.1 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC Financial Statements — Ms. Profic presented the
financial statements for 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC for the period ending January 31, 2022.
Ms. Profic noted that year-end audits are underway. Draft audited financial statements will be

presented to the Audit & Finance Committee at its March 22 meeting and to the Board at its March
29" meeting.

3.2 BUDC Consolidated Financial Statements —Ms. Profic presented the consolidated financial
statements for BUDC and its affiliates, 683 Northland LLC and 683 WTC, LLC for the period ending
January 31, 2022, Ms. Burruss made a motion to accept the BUDC consolidated financial
statements. The motion was seconded by Ms. Minkel and unanimously carried (11-0-0).

New Business

4.1 Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park — RCWJF Grant Agreement #5 ~ Ms. Gandour
presented her February 22, 2022 memorandum regarding the Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Foundation
Grant Agreement #5 for the Centennial Park project. This item was reviewed by the Downtown
Committee at its February 16" meeting and is being recommended for approval. Following the
presentation, Ms. Minkel made a motion to: (i) accept the $6,906,050.00 grant award from the
Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Foundation for Phase 1 core park construction; and (if) authorize the President
or Executive Vice President to execute the Grant Agreement and take such other actions as are
necessary or appropriate to implement this action. The motion was seconded by Ms. Curry and
unanimously carried (11-0-0).

4.2 Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park — SJB Contract Amendment — Ms. Gandour
presented her February 22, 2022 memorandum regarding a proposed amendment to the SJB
Services Agreement for additional environmental services for the Centennial Park project. This item
was reviewed by the Downtown Committee at its February 16 meeting and is being recommended
for approval. Following the presentation, Mr. Nasca made a motion to: (i) approve an amendment
to the SJB Agreement in the amount of $40,000.00 for the additional environmental scope of work;
and (ii) authorize the President or Executive Vice President to execute an amendment to. the
Agreement and take such other actions as are necessary or appropriate to implement this action.
The motion was seconded by Mr. Finn and unanimously carried (1 1-0-0).

4.3 Bisonwing Planning and Development, LLC Agreement Renewal — Ms. Gandour
reported that the Audit & Finance Committee approved a consulting agreement with Bisonwing
Planning and Development, LLC for assistance with projects relating to the Northland Corridor,
Build Back Better grant and other BUDC matters. The contract is for a not-to-exceed amount of
$25,000.

4.4 Mustard Seed Consulting, LLC Agreement Renewal — Ms. Merriweather reported that the
Real Estate Committee approved a consulting agreement renewal with Mustard Seed Consulting,
LLC for community outreach and marketing services at Northland. The contract is for a not-to-
exceed amount of $25,000.

4.5 Buffalo Lakeside Commerce Park — Project Update — Ms. Gandour presented the following
update regarding BLCP matters:

Sale to Zephyr Investors: BUDC is working with one of Zephyr's consultants to provide information
requested on stormwater retention and documents for the site.

2




5.0
6.0
7.0

I

BUDC Board of Directors Meeting — February 22, 2022
Draft Minutes- Subject to Board Review and Approval

193 Ship Canal Parkway: BUDC continues to engage in discussions with GW Burnett and NYSDEC
with respect to this site.

BLCP Property Owners Association: BUDC submitted its first bill to Uniland for its share of POA
expenses.

4.6 Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park — Project Update — Ms. Gandour reported that the
City of Buffalo released its RFQ for a construction manager for the project. Responses to the RFQ
are due on March 4. Construction documents are at fifty percent completion and are under review.

4.7 Northland Beitline Corridor Update — Ms. Gandour presented the Northland Beltline Corridor
Project update as follows:

Build Back Better Grant Update: BUDC is working with UBRI and ESD on the region’s Phase 2
application. BUDC is working on completing its draft budget and project narrative and collecting
letters of support to submit with the application, which are due this week. Phase 2 applications are
due March 15% and if selected, BUDC would be eligible to receive $32 million of $100 million in
grant funding to the region.

NWTC/ESD/BUDC MOU: The equipment inventory update has been completed and BUDC is
working with ESD on the updated MOU that incorporates the updated equipment inventory. The
MOU will be presented for review and approval at a future meeting of the Board.

Community Solar & Microgrid Project: BUDC received a pre-development summary from Frey
Electric, and is awaiting ESD’s response regarding the remaining $1.8 million in funding for this
project.

4.8 Race for Place Project Update — Ms. Merriweather presented an update regarding Buffalo’s
Race for Place. Douglas Development was selected through an RFP process as the developer for
the Mohawk Ramp site. The project will include mixed-income housing, a mobility hub, retail space,
and additional parking. In response to a question from Mr. Nasca, Ms. Merriweather indicated that
the mobility hub will incorporate multi-modal access and maximize walkability. The project will also
incorporate the Simon Electric properties on Ellicott Street, and the overall project aligns well with
the Ellicott Street Placemaking Strategy. The curbside management RFP was released. Stantec -
was selected as the consultant for the flexible smart street corridors work, which will further the
recommendations contained in the Future of Mobility report. BUDC continues to work with the Arts
Commission on the public art component for the entertainment district project. The Loan Commiittee
will meet on March 1%t to discuss modifications to the BBRP loan program.

4.9 308 Crowley Project Update — Ms. Merriweather reported that BUDC continues to work with
BUDC counsel and Enterprise Folding Box on the land sale, which is anticipated to close sometime
in March. BUDC is also working with the City on phase 2 demolition plans.

Late Files - None.

Tabled Items — None.

Executive Session — None.




BUDC Board of Directors Meeting — February 22, 2022
Draft Minutes- Subject to Board Review and Approval

8.0 Adjournment — There being no further business to come before the Board, on motion made by Ms.

Curry, seconded by Mr. Kucharski and unanimously carried, the February 22, 2022 Board of Directors
meeting was adjourned at 12:36 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Pemry Street

Suite 404

Buffalo, New York 14203

phone: 716-856-6525

fax: 716-856-6754 Buffalo Urban Development Corporation

web: bufialourbandevelopment.com

Item 3.1

MEMORANDUM

TO: Buffalo Urban Development Corporation Board of Directors
FROM: Dennis Penman, Audit & Finance Chair & Mollie Profic, Treasurer
SUBJECT: Audit & Finance Committee Report

DATE: March 29, 2022

At the Audit & Finance Committee Meeting scheduled for March 22, 2022, no quorum was present. The Committee
members present reviewed the following items for Board consideration or action.

Item 3.2 is the 2021 Audited Financial Statements for 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC. Representatives from
Freed Maxick gave a detailed presentation of the Statements to the Committee. This document is presented to the Board for
your information only.

Item 3.3 is the 2021 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for BUDC. Representatives from Freed Maxick
gave a detailed presentation of the Statements to the Committee. The Committee members present agreed that the item
should be moved to the Board for approval.

Item 3.4 is the 2021 Audited Financial Statements for the Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund (BBRF) and
is provided to the Board for your information only.

Item 3.5 is the 2021 Investment Report, which provides a summary of BUDC’s investment activity in 2021. The
Committee members present agreed that the item should be moved to the Board for approval.

Item 3.6 is the Investment and Deposit Policy. This is a re-adoption of this document.

Item 3.7 is the memorandum requesting reimbursement of brownfield expenses for 2021. The Committee members
present agreed to move to the Board for approval the reimbursement of brownfield expenses related to Buffalo Lakeside
Commerce Park, Riverbend, Northland, and 308 Crowley Street from the Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund
(BBRF) in the amount of 136,484.

In addition, the Audit & Finance Committec members present reviewed the following items that do not require
Board action:

Audit & Finance Committee Charter Review
Audit & Finance Committee Training Document
2021 Property Report

Management’s Assessment of Internal Controls
Funding source updates

BBRP/BUDC Loan Program update

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Chairman of the Board ® Dennis Penman, Vice Chairman ® Brandye Merriweather, President
Rebecca Gandour, Executive Vice President ® Mollie Profic, Treasurer ® Atiga Abidi, Assisiant Treasurer ® Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary



REPORT TO THE MANAGING MEMBER

683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC

(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)Q
DECEMBER 31, 2021 S A A@\O
NN
&
@ XX \0
&Q} bo o
L \\}Q\@



Freedl\/iaxick?:ms, PC.

[date]

To the Managing Member of

683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC
(A Limited Liability Company)

95 Perry Street, Suite 404

Buffalo, New York 14203

Attention: Managing Member:

We are pleased to present this report related to our audit of the f nancial statements g&@%\ Northland Master Tenant, LLC
(the Company) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2 Th|s port s ufWrarizes certain matters required by
professional standards to be communicated to you in your ov tﬁor 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC's
financial reporting process.

This report is intended solely for the information and ng} th %\agl lember and management, and is not intended to
be, and should not be, used by anyone other tha

a%s It will be our pleasure to respond to any questions
you have about this report. We appreciate the &( con@ be of service to 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC.

A ‘b
< 2 \\\
QY”\',O \Cg\) O

Page 1



Contents

ReQUIrEd COMIMUNICAHONS ........vvuuerinruniiiiacieenes e ieess e se st eseseseeeesssseseee s es s se s s e et ss s ees e s s s eee oo seses oo 3-4

Summary of Recorded AUit AQJUSIMENLS............v.uerieveeeeceeceos s isesseseseseeseeseeeeeeesess s sesssessessess st sessessss s ee s 5

Exhibit A - Letter CommuRiCating Other MAErS ..............uuucvceeereeeeeeeesseeecesesesssnssesessssessessessesessssesessssssssseeessesoen 6

Exhibit B - Significant Written Communications Between Management and OUr FilM............ovocoovvveeeevvcveessseoeeeon 7
Engagement Letter

Representation Letter

Page 2

= Freedl\/laxick‘épAs,pc_



Required Communications

Generally accepted auditing standards (AU-C 260, The Auditor's Communication With Those Charged With Governance)
require the auditor to promote effective two-way communication between the auditor and those charged with governance.
Consistent with this requirement, the following summarizes our responsibilities regarding the financial statement audit as
well as observations arising from our audit that are significant and relevant to your responsibility to oversee the financial

reporting process.

Area

Comments

Our Responsibilities With Regard
to the Financial Statement Audit

Overview of the Planned Scope
and Timing of the Financial
Statement Audit

Accounting Policies and
Practices

A
&
QQR\ X0

3

Our responsibilities under auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America have been described to you in our arrangement letter dated
January 18, 2022. Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve
management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities, which
are also described in that letter.

We have issued a separate communication dated January 18, 2022 regarding
the planned scope and timing of our audit and identified significant risks.

Preferability of Accounting Policies and Prackises
Under generally accepted accounting prigsiples, in certain circumstances,
management may select\‘é\glazggemat' ccounting practices. In our view, in

such circumstance an nip&® selected the preferable accounting
O
practice. . {\(\ \Q, o
N \é\ x>
ge in

Adoptio @c ounting Policies .

Mana nt h e Uiifate responsibility for the appropriateness of the
acg%ég & S y the Company. The Company did not adopt any
s a

i accquiting policies, nor have there been any changes in existing

-

. Aﬁ‘gniﬁ %ﬁcc ing policies during the current period. The Following is a
X\ d;i%&)n ignificant accounting policies that are currently being evaluated
ur

ication:
&

2 In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842).

Y
(( S‘\’Q The guidance in this ASU supersedes the leasing guidance in Topic 840,

Leases. Under the new guidance, lessees are required to recognize
lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for all leases with
terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either finance
or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense
recognition in the statement of operations. The new standard is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, including interim
periods within those fiscal years. A modified retrospective transition
approach is required for lessees for capital and operating leases existing
at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented in the financial statements, with certain practical expedients
available. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the
pending adoption of the new standard on the financial statements.

Page 3

= Freedl\/laxick‘c‘:ms,pc.

10



Area Comments

Accounting Policies and Significant or Unusual Transactions

Practices (Continued) We did not identify any significant or unusual transactions or significant
accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of
authoritative guidance or consensus.

Management's Judgments and Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the preparation of financial
statements and are based upon management's current judgment. The process
used by management encompasses their knowledge and experience about past
and current events and certain assumptions about future events. You may wish
to monitor throughout the year the process used to compute and record these
accounting estimates.

Basis of Accounting The financial statements were prepared on the assumption that the Company will
continue as a going concern.

Audit Adjustments Audit adjustments, other than those that are clearly trivial, proposed by us and
recorded by 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC are shown in the attached
Summary of Recorded Audit Adjustments.

N\
Uncorrected Misstatements We are not aware of an&ncorr%ted mis@gnents other than misstatements
that are clearly trivial. ,0 o
Disagreements With Management We encountere dlsa@e gfith management over the application of
: significant ac; |p| e basis for management's judgments on any
significaﬂh ers scp@ the audit, or significant disclosures to be included
in fina ts sQ
Consultations  With e ar y consultations management had with other accountants
Accountants out un@ auditing matters.
Significant Issues Dis g‘ (b C5“gn|i|?nt issues arising from the audit were discussed or the subject of
Management e@ndence with management.
i O
Significant leflculﬁe @ did not encounter any significant difficulties in dealing with management
Encountered in Performing theQ\hunng the audit.
Audit
Letter Communicating Other We have separately communicated other matters identified during our audit of
Matters the financial statements, and this communication is attached as Exhibit A.
Significant Written Copies of significant written communications between our firm and the
Communications Between management of the Company, including the representation letter provided to us
Management and Our Firm by management, are attached as Exhibit B.
Page 4

& FreedMaxickiess.ec.

11



683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC
Year End: December 31, 2021
Summary of Recorded Audit Adjustments

Number Date Name Account No Debit Credit
1 12/31/2021  Distributions 3000.000 263,828
1 12/31/2021  Accrued Priority Return 2011.000 263,828

To properly record accrued priority return.

&
2
N
S8 &
NS 5
QR Qb )
SRR
L .9
\ 4
L2 F
¥ & Yo
OQ \,Q" . %0 S
RN
< K
<
Page 5
& FreedMaxickeess ec

12



= Fre»edMaXiCkEPAs, PC.

Exhibit A - Letter Communicating Other Matters

As a service to you, we looked for other areas that will bring value or foresight to the Company. The observations made and
recommendations developed are the result of our normal audit procedures and not of any study, consequently, they are
limited only to those more important areas which came to our attention during the course of our examination.

Leases

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update 2016-02 -
Leases (Topic 842) ("ASU 2016-02"). ASU 2016-02 created Topic 842, Leases, supersedes all existing lease guidance
under US GAAP. Under the new guidance, lessees will be required to recognize leases on the balance sheet as right of use
assets with a corresponding lease liability. The effective date for the ASU is for annual periods beginning after December
15, 2021 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. The process of identifying, examining
leases and calculating the corresponding right of use asset and liability can be extensive a&ﬂme consuming. The Company
needs to perform an analysis of all leases to determine applicability to ensure they arsJo)compliance with the ASU by the

end of 2022, \
. ’06 Q® QA
NSNS
L & 0
Buffalo, New York N \(\ \\
<
DATE D0
S ®
< . &9
N
QRO
Y & X o©
K
A
> O
< K
<

Page 6

13



Exhibit B - Significant Written Communications Between Management
and Our Firm

Engagement letter — previously furnished

Representation letter — see attached

Page 7

= FreedMaxickess ec.

14



AUDITED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

DECEMBER 31, 2021 Q
%

15



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

CONTENTS
Page
Independent AUItOr'S REPOM ...................civiuiceceeeeceeeceeeeeeeee e eee oo eeeeoee oo 1-2
Financial Statements:
BAANCE SHEELS.............cooeit ettt s e eeeee e ee e s 3
Statements Of OPEIAtIONS ...........cocoviuereiies et ee oo e s e e eeeeeee e oo eeeeee e oo oo 4
StatementsofChangesinMembers'Equity.....................................6{45 ..... \ ..... O{\ ....................... 5
Statements of Cash FIOWS ..............oo..eeeeeeoreereee oo A, ®' S e 6 -7
N\ {Q” N
A L@
Notes to Financial Statements ....................... ?{( ..... «K@ ..... \(\ ...... Q‘ ........................................ 8-14
AR
Q o > &
O O
RN
2 o5 P
NI
\(b 00’ 4
N N
Se
<© &
O
L

16



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC

(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,
ASSETS 2021 2020
Current assets:
Cash - operating $ 107,787 $ 56,739
Tenant receivables 74,685 30,533
Prepaid insurance 106,662 90,355
Total current assets 289,134 177,627
Reserves:
Operating reserve 335,857 335,689
Asset management fee reserve 30,111 40,095
Total reserves 365,968 375,784
Prepaid rent - sublessee 426,309 306,965
Prepaid leasing commission 217,938 112,223
Tenant security deposits 84 854 75,750
Equipment, net 6 {) 8,964
Prepaid rent - Master Lease Agreement {Q 52 19,996,180

A ‘\<° R
Total assets < S s R 99,339 $_ 21,053493
¥ UK
LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' 6 Q§\ X.
NN
Current liabilities: e O O
Accounts payable @ 2 (b\} $ 144,550 $ 119,334
Due to related parties KO 0\) ’ 254,935 381,281
Total current liabilities &Q)(\ O\GJ O(S\ 399,485 500,615
Operating deficit loan 132,359 49,931
Tenant security deposits 84,854 75,750
Deferred rent liability - Master Lease A &ent 5,309,411 3,916,352
Deferred rent liability - sublessee % 6,150,839 6,703,913
Distribution payable - priority retu@ 263,941 148,209
Total liabilities 12,340,889 11,394,770
Members' equity 14,578,450 9,658,723
Total liabilities and members’ equity $ 26,919,339 $ 21,053,493

See accompanying notes.

3

17




683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended December 31,

Revenues:
Rental revenue
Additional rental revenue
Other income
Total revenues

Expenses:

Rent expense

Utilities expense

Payroll

Insurance expense

Repairs and maintenance

Professional fees

Property management fee

Real estate taxes

Asset management fee

Miscellaneous expense
Total expenses

Loss from operations

Other expenses:
Depreciation expense

Net loss

See accompanying notes.

18

2021 2020
$ 1,468,498 $ 1,249,168
648,676 390,730
261 556
2,117,435 1,640,454
1,879,742 1,879,742
150,924 126,631
149,471 149,829
120,629 115,150
120,242 90,993
85,899 52,206
67,515 49,861
@6 \ 19, 20,645
Q& (\Q? . 1600 10,000
< \\6\ \‘\ 920 7,232
11,968 2,502,289
Qy S Q \\O (494,533) (861,835)
Q NS
> . 0{\ \Q)
&\4@ "o(b\ %$Q (2,429) (2,429)
(’\\(.b' . (.OC}) N $ (496,962) $ (864,264)
< Q\ O’(\
< &
O
N



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS' EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31,

INVESTOR MANAGING
MEMBER MEMBER TOTAL
Members' equity - January 1, 2020 $ 7,316,480 $ 178,050 $ 7,494,530
Members' capital contributions 3,176,666 - 3,176,666
Distributions (148,209) - (148,209)
Net loss (855,621) (8.643) (864,264)
Members' equity - December 31, 2020 9,489,316 169,407 9,658,723
Members' capital contributions 5,680,517 - 5,680,517
Distributions (263,828) - (263,828)
Net loss (491,992) 49 (496,962)
Members’ equity - December 31, 2021 $ 1441401 o §é£b gs@ 7 $ 14,578,450
Percentage interest (/« \00%_{\ (Le’ 1.00% 100%
S S5
Q(b 00 *0\
& &
O
<& SF
< &
O

See accompanying notes.
5

19



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss (496,962) $ (864,264)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 2,429 2,429
Decrease (increase) in assets:
Tenant receivables (44,152) 331,081
Prepaid insurance (16,307) (71,854)
Accrued rental income (119,344) (260,970)
Prepaid leasing commission (105,715) (112,223)
Prepaid rent - Master Lease Agreement 1,393,059 1,445,129
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Security deposit liability 8,104 36,300
Accounts payable é 25,2160 86,906
Due to related parties (b‘ %26, 58,850
Operating deficit loan . {(\ A28 -
Deferred rent liability - sublessee Q« N ,074) (580,483)
Net cash provided by operating activities V\ Q\Q 50,336 70,901
Cash flows from investing activities: 0 . 6
Equipment purchases (O'Q ,(\ - (3,912)
Net cash used by investing activities 4@ *%\ \). - (3,912)
Cash flows from financing activities:(bss'\ \G %
Members' contributions (’\\ . 60 AN 5,680,517 3,176,666
Distributions 75) Q\ (\ (148,096) (105,026)
Payments of prepaid rent under the Mastér a@Agreement (5,532,421) (3,071,640)
Net cash provided by financing Qﬂtieso.’ < - -
Net increase in cash and restricted {QQ 50,336 66,989
Cash and restricted cash - beth}g of year 508,273 441,284
Cash and restricted cash - end of year 558,609 $ 508,273
Non-cash financing transactions:
Non-cash distribution recorded as distribution payable $ 263941 % 148,209

See accompanying notes.
6

20




683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
For the Years Ended December 31,

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash and restricted cash to the amounts
reported within the balance sheets:

2021 2020
Cash - operating $ 107,787 56,739
Tenant security deposits 84,854 75,750
Operating reserve 335,857 335,689
Asset management fee reserve 30,111 40,095
$ 558,609 508,273
S
O N oo
¥ QY30
&3 $
Q NS v
> ,oﬁ\ \Q)
L o P
SR )
> W
@6\' & Q
A &Q %O
O ¢
< &

See accompanying notes.

21



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION

683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC (the Company) is a limited liability company formed pursuant to the laws of
the State of New York on September 7, 2017. 683 Northland LLC, a related entity, was formed to facilitate the
ownership, rehabilitation and operation of a commercial and industrial facility located at 683 Northiand Avenue,
City of Buffalo, known as the Niagara Machine & Tool Works Factory (the Property). 683 Northland LLC
serves as lessor to the Company. The relationship between lessor and lessee is governed by a Master Lease
Agreement dated December 28, 2017. The major activities of the Company are governed by the Master
Tenant Amended and Restated Operating Agreement.

The Property is located in a historic district on the National Register of Historic Places and will receive an
allocation of federal and state historic rehabilitation tax credits under Section 47 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, and New York credit for Rehabilitation of Historic Properties under Section 606(00) of New
York State tax law. The Property is being developed in two phases; Phase 1 received an allocation of rehabilitation
tax credits during the year ended December 31, 2018; Phase 2 received allocations for the years ending
December 31, 2020 and 2019. No further credits are anticipated.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES&* ,& . 0’(\

. .o
Basis of Accounting: The accompanying finangial state \?h (\bee% epared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the U@g Sta A Q3 GAAP).
Cash: The statement of cash flows cons%r. a Q\% a ﬁable 0D current operations to be cash and
includes amounts restricted for repaymen@ nant@gcurit ositQ' d reserves.

Qaint@ it§€%l in bank deposit accounts which, at times,

pan s erienced any losses in such accounts. The

nifgﬁ:'raefng%k on cash.

X ‘
During the year ended December %R‘Qo 1\ cr)ee @éhts represented 20% (95% - 2020) of rental revenue
and 98% (97% - 2020) of accourfg Xebeige. ()

may exceed federally insured limits. The

Concentration of Credit Risk: The Compa
Company believes it is not exposed to a !é

Grs’ts of receivables from tenants for rent and other charges, if
eir sublease agreements. Tenant receivables do not bear interest.
The Company holds tenant security its as collateral for tenant receivables. On a periodic basis, the
Company evaluates its tenant recej and establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts. There was no
allowance for doubtful accounts forle Years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

AN
Tenant Receivables: Tenant rece% S
applicable, recorded according to the Yerm

Prepaid Leasing Commissions: Prepaid leasing commissions consists of commission paid out in connection
with obtaining long term subleases. The Company recognizes commission expenses incurred over the life of the
applicable lease as required under ASC 840. Prepaid leasing commissions amounted to $217,938 as of the year
ended December 31, 2021 ($112,223 - 2020).

Revenue Income: The Company recognizes revenue on the date rent becomes due in accordance with the
subleases. Rental payments received in advance are deferred until eamed. All leases between parties are
operating leases.

Income Taxes: No provision or benefit has been made for income taxes in the accompanying financial

statements since taxable income or loss of the Company is passed through to the respective members for
reporting passes through to, and is reportable by, the members individually.

22



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Operating Lease: The Company is obligated under a Master Lease Agreement (the Agreement) (Note 8),
with a related entity, through 2037. Minimum rent is recognized over the term of the lease using the straight-
line method. In addition to minimum rents, the lease requires payments for utilities, insurance, maintenance
costs, real estate taxes, and all other operating expenses. Minimum rent due under the Agreement consists of
base rent and prepaid rent. As of December 31, 2021, the Company paid $25,528,601 in prepaid rent
($19,996,180 — 2020).

Use of Estimates: In preparing financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, management makes
estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from these estimates and assumptions.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncement: In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases
(Topic 820). The guidance in this ASU supersedes the leasing guidance in Topic 840, Leases. Under the new
guidance, lessees are required to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for all
leases with terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with
classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the statements of operations. The new standard is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. A nﬁd trospe transition approach is
required for lessees for capital and operating leases existing er@ into\ er, the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented in the financial statemedts, wit ai ctical expedients available.
The Company is currently evaluating the impaa&e ad ofs@@i guigance with have on the financial

statements. [7g) \(\ Qg.

o3 g@s
Subsequent Events: These financial st ts Rave no n uh@ted for subsequent events occurring
after [date], which is the date these financ ate@s wef@vailable to be issued.
>, L @
S Y 0
NOTE 3. TENANT SECURITY DEPOSIT%Q %G" %\}

Tenant security deposits are maintai a @\a}at ‘b%’nk account from operating funds. They are tracked by

name of the tenant internally by t m@n@éegregated on the accompanying balance sheets.
)

NOTE 4. RESERVES <<0 %Q)

Asset Management Fee Reserve: T ompany was required to establish a reserve to fund the payment of
asset management fees in the t"of $60,000 upon receipt of the third capital contribution from the
investor member. As of Decembgr 31, 2021, the reserve amounted to $30,111 ($40,095 — 2020). The
remaining required funding of the asset management fee reserve has been reduced by the investor member.

Operating Reserve: The Company was required to establish an operating reserve to fund any operating
deficits as approved by the investor member. An initial contribution of $335,000 was to be deposited into the
operating reserve upon receipt of the third capital contribution from the investor member which occurred during
the year ended December 31, 2019. Funds are required to be held in a segregated, interest-bearing account
with a federally insured financial institution. As of December 31, 2021, the reserve amounted to $335,857
($335,689 — 2020).

Replacement Reserve: The Company is required to establish a replacement reserve to fund any replacement
costs as approved by the investor member. The reserve is to be funded annually in the amount of $48,000
(subject to a 3% increase per year) from net cash flow in accordance with the allocation of profits and losses
(Note 8). Funds are required to be held in a segregated, interest-bearing account with a federally insured
financial institution. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, there was no net cash flow available to fund the
replacement reserve.

23



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 5. CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The Company consists of two members; 683 WTC, LLC and NTCIC HTC Community Fund ll, LLC (NTCIC). 683

WTC, LLC is the managing member and a 1% owner. NTCIC is the investor member and has a 99% membership
interest.

The managing member is required to contribute capital of $198,360 according to the terms of the amended and
restated operating agreement. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the managing member has made all required
contributions.

The investor member is required to contribute capital of $20,354,240 based upon the completion of requirements
by the Company as defined in the amended and restated operating agreement. As of December 31, 2021, the

investor member made required contributions amounting to $18,319,975 ($12,639,458 —~ 2020). Total remaining
required capital contributions amounted to $2,090,803 as of December 31, 2021 (87,771,320 — 2020).

NOTE 6. TRANSACTIONS WITH AFFILIATES

The Company has a Master Lease Agreement (the Agreement) w@ @s r, a ed entity, to pay rental
1¢ whi
37 th

o]
expense commencing on August 26, 2018, the day prior to the. b ase | of the building was
placed in service for purposes of the historical tax credits thrq ey ended December 31, 2021

and 2020, the Company recognized $1,879,742 i l e e. age @greement includes scheduled rent
increases over the term of the lease, which in ac nc “Q % P recognized on a straight-line base
O

over the term of the lease. Q~ (\
st

Future minimum rental payments to be pXd W th eéc}'ase Agreement are contractually due as

follows:
e 0 ©

2022 R $%0484,486

2023 XD >\~ 492423

2024 Q¥ & (x\ 528,046

2025K © 558,008

2026 565,617

Thereafter Qé ‘.0®6 6,890,373

O
KQ $__9519,043

Due to Related Parties: The Con‘%&owes certain operating expenses paid by related parties directly to a third
party on behalf of the Company. ese amounts are recorded as due to related parties on the accompanying
balance sheets.

NOTE 7. COMMERCIAL RENTAL REVENUE
The following are several subleases the Company has entered into:

Northland Workforce Training Center: The Company entered into a sublease agreement with the Economic
Development Group, Inc. d/b/a Northland Workforce Training Center, (NWTC), commencing on September 1,
2018, and extending through August 31, 2033. The agreement calls for payment of prepaid rent and additional
rent. Rental income from the sublease agreement is being recognized on a straight-line basis, in accordance
with U.S. GAAP, over the term of the lease. Prepaid rent in the amount of $7,678,971 was due and paid during
the year ended December 31, 2018; $511,931 of rental income related to the prepaid rent was recognized
during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. The Company is required to estimate additional rental
income on a monthly basis and provide NWTC with a statement of actual additional rent incurred within 90
days of year end. During the year ended December 31, 2021, $292,708 in additional rental income was
recognized ($196,903 — 2020).

10

24



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 7. COMMERCIAL RENTAL REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Additionally, the Company entered into a second sublease agreement during 2019 for an additional space
related to the Northland Workforce Training Center commencing October 1, 2019 and extending through July
31, 2026. The agreement calls for prepayment of rent in the amount of $288 000. The entire prepaid rent
balance was paid during the year endmg December 31, 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the
Company recognized $41,142 in rental income based on the second sublease agreement (358,286 — 2020)

Buffalo Manufacturing Works: The Company entered into a sublease agreement with Edison Welding
Institute Inc. d/b/a Buffalo Manufacturing Works, commencing on July 1, 2019, and extending through June 30,
2034. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized $475,400 in rental income
based on this agreement.

Manna Culmary Group: The Company entered into a sublease agreement with Manna Culinary Group, Inc.
commencing on September 30, 2019, and extending through October 31, 2024. Under the sublease
agreement, base rent payments begin March 1, 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the
Company recognized $21,715 in rental income based on this agreement.

Sparkcharge: The Company entered into a sublease agreeme h arkg Inc. commencing on
March 1, 2020, and extendlng through February 28, 2023 cember 31, 2021, the
Company recognized $37,200 in rental income bas&on this @em —2020).

Retech: The Company entered into a subleas %?mt R&ch ems LLC. commencing on July 1,
2020 and extending through December 3 m@ December 31, 2021, the Company
recognized $284,946 in rental income ba reerp§$($1k 1 —-2020).

Rodriguez Construction: The Company e&% in 9 e agreement with Rodriguez Construction
Group Inc. commencing on December 1, 2 ndl rough November 30, 2025. For the year ended

December 31, 2021, the Company reco d @ 42 ntal income based on this agreement ($3,145 —
2020).

Garwood Medical: The Compaﬂs te |nto g\blease agreement with Garwood Medical Devices, LLC
commencing on December 1 20.%and € ndlng through November 30, 2025. For the year ended
December 31, 2021, the Compan)@gn é® 39,600 in rental income based on this agreement ($3,300 -
2020).

Bank on Buffalo: The Company e@t into a sublease agreement with CNB Financial Corporation d/b/a
Bank on Buffalo commencing o pl 1, 2021, and extending through September 30, 2031. For the year
ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized $18,821 in rental income based on this agreement. For
the year ended December 31, 2020, there was no rental income recognized for this sublease agreement.

The following is a schedule of minimum future rental revenue on noncancelable leases with an initial term
greater than one year:

2022 $ 1,465,594
2023 1,431,494
2024 1,429,329
2025 1,412,055
2026 1,330,871
Thereafter ’ 8,247,033
Total $.15,316,376
11

25



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 8. ALLOCATION OF PROFITS AND LOSSES
In accordance with the amended and restated operating agreement, operating profits and losses and credits, other
than those arising from a capital transaction, will be allocated in the ratio 1% to the managing member and 99% to
the investor member. Profits and losses arising from a capital transaction will be allocated to the members in
various amounts as described in the amended and restated operating agreement depending on if the amounts are
profits or losses and if the members’ capital account balances are negative or positive.
All net cash flow available for distribution shall be paid annually as follows:

() To the investor member in the amount of any unpaid adjusters;

(if) To the investor member in the amount of any outstanding special tax distribution;

(i) The investor member in the amount of any outstanding priority return for the fiscal year plus any
outstanding priority return for any prior fiscal year;

(iv) To fund the replacement reserve; 6

N
(v) To the repayment of any subordinated {oans (and accr@ébl;mtig@iha@g and any operating deficit
loans; and /\ . & o) QB
(vi) The balance to the members in accordalva~ it enée ge ingrésts.
O

equal to their negative capital account basi¥ b on their pro nate share of the anticipated distribution;
second, any remaining profits are distributed inéc rd@

-\
Losses arising from a capital transactio\r@be IGated lﬁﬂ\e following order: first to each member, an amount
equal to their positive capital accoun IS b{S eir proportionate share of the anticipated distribution;
second, any remaining losses are gigiflotiteali cc€5 with the members’ capital accounts.
For distributions other than cash flow istrib@ipns prior to dissolution or termination of the Company, assets
and proceeds will be distributed in thé owig%rder:

(i) To the payment of all mature%@?cs and liabilities of the Company and all expenses of the Company
incident to any Capital @x action, excluding (i) debts and liabilities of the Company to members or
any affiliates, and (i) alunpaid fees owing to any developer entity;

Profits arising from a capital transaction wil istripQled in tffollo {gg order: first to each member, an amount
t

embers’ capital accounts.

(i) To the setting up of any reserves which the liquidator (or the managing member if the distribution is not
pursuant to the liquidation of the Company) deems reasonably necessary for contingent, unmatured
or unforeseen liabilities or obligations of the Company;

(i) To the payment to the investor member of any unpaid credit recovery loans and interest thereon;

(iv) To the investor member in the amount of any outstanding priority return;

(v) To the payment of any unpaid special tax distribution plus an amount equal, on an after-tax basis, to the
local, state and federal taxes projected (at the applicable tax rate) to be imposed on the members of
the investor member as a result of the capital transaction;

(vi) To the repayment of any unpaid debts and liabilities (including unpaid fees) owed to the members or any
affiliates by the Company for Company obligations; and

(vii) The balance to the members in accordance with their percentage interests.
12

26



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 8. ALLOCATION OF PROFITS AND LOSSES (CONTINUED)

The amended and restated operating agreement requires the distribution of cash based upon the net cash
flow calculation. Distributable cash flow is calculated annually as defined by the amended and restated
operating agreement. Based upon the calculation, there is no net cash flow available to be distributed for the
years ending December 31, 2021 and 2020. However, according to-the amended and restated operating
agreement, any priority return not distributed shall accrue and remain payable until net cash flow becomes
available. Under the amended and restated operating agreement, the priority return is based upon 1.5% of the
portion of capital contributions attributable to federal historic tax credits and is pro-rated for any periods less
than a full year. As of December 31, 2021, $263,941 was accrued as payable to the investor member for the
priority return ($148,209 — 2020). During the year ended December 31, 2021, the investor member was paid
$148,096 for the 2020 accrued priority return ($105,026 — 2020).

NOTE 9. OPERATING DEFICIT GUARANTY

In accordance with the amended and restated operating agreement, the managing member will provide funds
to the Company so as to allow them to cover accrued accounts pay on a 60-day,gqurrent basis. Any funds
advanced shall be provided in the form of an operating deficit loa o%eti icit loan shall be treated
as a subordinated loan and shall bear no interest. As of Dec@ber i(\ 021\ 2,359 was loaned to the

Company from the managing member ($49,931 — %QO). \\ \@ @Q

NOTE 10. PROPERTY MANAGEMENT Qy Q 'Q \'0
RO S

The Company entered into a property man ger@ag entg?ﬁ’? Mancuso Management Inc. (Mancuso) in
December 2017. Under the agreement, Ma is @?*o@aeasing’and property management services.
Under the agreement, the monthly mana ) at 5% of rents billed or $2,700, whichever is
higher. A new agreement was entered 4 ncusDleffective January 1, 2021 through December 31,
2021 with an option to extend up to adgifgtial -year terms. As of December 31, 2021 the option to
extend through December 31, was-ggercise@\Fbr the year ended December 31, 2021, $67,515 of
property management fees wer: urre d pa 49,861 — 2020).

e) @9
NOTE 11. RECONCILIATION OF TAXARDN® LOSS

The reconciliation of financial state@?net loss to the taxable loss of the Company for the years ended
December 31, are as follows: Q

2021 2020
Financial statement net loss $ (496,962) $ (864,264)
Add (subtract) nondeductible items per tax retumn:
Book to Tax depreciation 2,429 (1,484)
Section 467 income 658,590 492,034
Section 467 expense (440.807) (404.553)
Taxable loss $____ (276,750) $___(778.264)

The Company files income tax retumns in the U.S. Federal jurisdiction and New York State.

13

27



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 12. PAYMENT IN LIEU OF TAXES (PILOT)

The Company entered into a 7-year agreement (the Agreement), through December 31, 2026, with the Erie
County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA), on behalf of the City of Buffalo (the City), the City of Buffalo
School District (the School District), and County of Erie (the County), whereby the Company pays an annual
PILOT payment to the City, the County and the School District. The Company was exempt from taxes until the tax
fiscal year beginning in 2019. Beginning in 2019, the Company shall pay a payment in lieu of taxes composed of a
land component, an existing improvements component, and a variable component. The variable component will
be impacted by application of an annual payment factor. The payment factor will be 10% for the first two years of
the Agreement, 20% for the next two years of the Agreement, and 30% for the final three years of the Agreement.

The Company paid taxes amounting to $19,626 for the year ended December 31, 2021 ($20,645 - 2020).

14

28



REPORT TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
\\

YOI
DECEMBER 31, 2021 & &fb ©
A &5
< @& & &
SIS
.0 @
O OO
2 o P
NI %)
\(b‘ O\T} T4
SRR &*
<@ &Q\ O
O~ &
© ¢
K

29



XXXXX, 2022

To the Members of the Board of Directors

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation

95 Perry Street, Suite 403 6
Buffalo, New York 14203

Members of the Board: \ éQ 4\6
Development Corporation (BUDC), as of an 2021. This report summarizes certain

matters required by professional standar n your oversight responsibility for BUDC's
financial reporting process.

We are pleased to present this report relat % gé r@ual statements of the Buffalo Urban

should not be used by anyone other tha es

This report is intended solely for the informaE@and
you have about this report. We appreg\a's

C and management and is not intended to be and
@s It will be our pleasure to respond to any questions
& ®

of service to the BUDC.
&Q) O Very truly yours,
%

<<° N
O’o Freed Maxick CPAs, P.C.

30



CONTENTS

Page
Required Communications 1-2
Summary of Significant Accounting Estimates
Summary of Recorded Audit Adjustments 4
Recently Issued Accounting Standards 5-6

Management Letter
Exhibit A — Significant Written Communication Between Management and our Firm
Representation Letter

> > O
N LN
N Q{;QA\%

\Qp

31



Required Communications

Generally accepted auditing standards (AU-C 260, The Auditors Communications with Those Charge with
Govemance) require the auditor to promote effective two-way communication between the auditor and those charged
with governance. Consistent with this requirement, the following summarizes our responsibilities regarding the
financial statement audit as well as observations arising from our audit that are significant and relevant to your
responsibility to oversee the financial reporting process.

Area Comments
Our Responsibilities with Regard to the Our responsibilities under auditing standards generally
Financial Statement Audit accepted in the United States of America and Government

Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of
the United States, have been described to you in our
arrangement letter dated January 25, 2022. Our audit of
the financial statements does not relieve management or
those charged with governance of their responsibilities
which are also described in that letter.

Overview of the Planned Scope and Timing of We have issued a separate communication regarding the

the Financial Statement Audit planned scope and timing of our audit and have discussed
with you our i e%iﬁcation of ang planned audit response to
significant righ®d.o? masrial mi ment.

Accounting Policies and Practices Preferak y of &&ur&r@olicies and Practices

Q& Un@ @%'y &epted principles, in certain
v Q{ sfande’s, marggement may select among alternative
Q, ccou prag@s. In our view, in such circumstances,
O b al en\’h s selected the preferable accounting
(00 p@'c e. @0
< & op‘@kpf, or Change in, Accounting Policies

ment has the ultimate responsibility for the
&
0\} { priateness of the accounting policies used by BUDC.

3

UDC did not adopt any significant new accounting policies
nor have there been any changes in significant existing
O policies during the current period.

QO‘ @‘b Significant or Unusual Transactions
9

O We did not identify any significant or unusual transactions

.Q or significant accounting policies in controversial or

0‘\ emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative
Q guidance or consensus.

Management’s Judgments and Accounting Estimates

Summary information about the process used by
management in  formulating particularly  sensitive
accounting estimates and about our conclusions regarding
the reasonableness of those estimates is in the attached
“Summary of Significant Accounting Estimates.”

Basis of Accounting The financial statements were prepared on assumption
that the entity will continue as a going concern.

32



Required Communications (Continued)

Audit Adjustments The audit adjustments, other than those that are clearly
trivial, proposed by us and recorded by the BUDC are
shown on the attached “Summary of Recorded Audit
Adjustments.”

Uncorrected Misstatement We are not aware of any uncorrected misstatements other
than misstatements that are clearly trivial.

Disagreements with Management We encountered no disagreements with management over
the application of significant accounting principles, the
basis for management's judgments on any significant
matters, the scope of the audit, or significant disclosures to
be included in the financial statements.

Consuitations with Other Accountants We are not aware of any consultations management had
with other accountants about accounting or auditing
matters.

Significant Issues Discussed with No significant issues arising from the audit were discussed

Management with or were the subject of correspondence with
management.

Significant Difficulties Encountered in We did not e@: ny si ant difficulties in dealing

Performing the Audit with man nt d

Required Consultation equired consultation outside the

Difficult or Contentious Matters That Wi@ ‘Qrcﬁj sngnlﬂcant and difficult or
rs t

presentatlon letter provided to us by
é‘ ttached as Exhibit A.

A
‘b(\ &
R\ 9\0\30\
Q

Significant Written Communication B @
Management and Our Firm

)

fb 00

o\
«<° gf’

O

=

33



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
Summary of Significant Accounting Estimates
Year Ended December 31, 2021

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the preparation of financial statements and are based upon
management’s current judgment. The process used by management encompasses their knowledge and experience
about past and current events and certain assumptions about future events. You may wish to monitor throughout the
year the process used to determine and record these accounting estimates. The following describes the significant
accounting estimates reflected in the BUDC’s December 31, 2021 financial statements:

Management’s Basis of our conclusions on
Estimate Accounting Policy Estimation Process Reasonabileness of Estimate
Depreciation of . . . .
Management depreciates -Useful lives were assigned The methods and lives used to
Property, Plant & : : -
Equipment property, plant and based on BUDC's useful estimate depreciation expense
quip equipment over the estimated life policy. Management appears reasonable.
lives of the assets. was consistent in

calculating depreciation
based on the useful lives
assigned to each asset.

34



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
Summary of Recorded Audit Adjustments
Year Ended December 31, 2021

Account No Name Debit

Credit

1902 ENTO01 Development Costs - BLCP
5902 ENTO1 Proceeds from Land Sales - BLCP 33,450
5912 ENTO1 Cost of Land Sales - BLCP

To properly record sale of land related to BLCP as of December 31, 2021.

(11,780)

(21,670)

33,450

(33,450)

35



Recently Issued Accounting Standards

The GASB has issued several statements not yet implemented by the BUDC. BUDC's management has not yet
determined the effect these Statements will have on the BUDC’s financial statements. However, BUDC plans to
implement all standards by the required dates. The Statements which might impact the BUDC are as follows:

Summary of GASB Statement No. 87, Leases

This Statement issued in June 2017 will be effective for BUDC with its fiscal year ending December 31, 2022. This
Statement better meets the information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and financial
reporting for leases by governments. This Statement increases the usefuiness of governments’ financial statements
by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating
leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provision of the
contract. It establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are
financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease
liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a
deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about governments’
leasing activities.

The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2021. Earlier
application is encouraged.

Summary of GASB Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Co%% \ Q
Incurred Before the End of a Construction Period . (\ (b ‘\0
NN

This Statement issued in June 2018 will be effectiyé for B egi wit 4&\ﬁscal year ending December 31,
2022. The primary objectives of this Statement )t an r e and comparability of information
about capital assets and the cost of borrowing?g r ride*and o simplify accounting for interest cost
incurred before the end of a construction per@

Q7

This Statement establishes accounting req em%@or intgrest cosfiricurred before the end of a construction period.
Such interest cost includes all interest that previBusly, ted for in accordance with the requirements of
paragraphs 5-22 of Statement No. 62, Co and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in
Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and Al nc? S, which are superseded by this Statement. This
Statement requires that interest cost i the of a construction period be recognized as an expense in
the period in which the cost is incurr ial st "&ents prepared using the economic resources measurement
focus. As a result, interest cost j of a construction period will not be included in the historical
cost of a capital asset reported fr& busipesg-type Wetivity or enterprise fund.

This Statement also reiterates in #Ghcial statements prepared using the current financial resources
measurement focus, interest cost ifcurr efore the end of a construction period should be recognized as an
expenditure on a basis consistent with@emmental fund accounting principles.

The requirements of GASB Stath No. 89 are effective for financial periods beginning after December 15, 2021.
Earlier application is encouraged.

36



Recently Issued Accounting Standards (Continued)

Summary of GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements

This Statement issued in May 2020 will be effective for the BUDC beginning with its fiscal year ending December 31,
2023. This Statement provides guidance on the accounting and financial reporting for subscription-based information
technology arrangements (SBITAs) for government end users (governments). A SBITA is defined as a contract that
conveys control of the right to use another party's (a SBITA vendor's) information technology (IT) software, alone or in
combination with tangible capital assets (the underlying IT assets), as specified in the contract for a period of time in
an exchange or exchange-like transaction.

This Statement establishes that a SBITA results in a right-to-use subscription asset—an intangible asset—and a
corresponding subscription liability. To the extent relevant, the standards for SBITAs are based on the standards
established in GASB Statement No. 87, Leases, as amended.

The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2022, and all reporting
periods thereafter. Earlier application is encouraged.

37



E Freedl\/laxick“.épAs, RC.

XXXXXX, 2022

The Finance & Audit Committees, Boards of Directors, and Management
Buffalo Urban Development Corporation

In planning and performing our audits of the financial statements of the Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
(BUDC), of and for the year ended December 31, 2021, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America, we considered the BUDC's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a
basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our
opinions on the separate financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the BUDC's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operati fa \htrol .d§ not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assig uncp’@ to ent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakngss is a d ncy copi\pifation of deficiencies, in internal
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility j#atha mat mis;&é@e @t e BUDC'’s financial statements will
not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on g ¥nely b{% Qa

Our consideration of internal control was f imit rpo (descr' ﬁ the first paragraph and was not designed
to identify all deficiencies in internal contis|that be réerial knesses. Given these limitations, during our
audit we did not identify any deficiencies in int co @l that\@ consider to be material weaknesses. However,

material weaknesses may exist that have n(&@en id% d. 0‘9

This communication is intended sole ’%r th{?)cvhorm%%v and use of management, the Finance and Audit
Committees, Boards of Directors, a ers n tth DC. It is not intended to be, and should not be, used by
anyone other than these specifie IES OQ

S) @%

O"o

S

Freed Maxick CPAs, P.C. Q

38



EXHIBIT A — SIGNIFICANT WRITTEN COMMUNICATION
BETWEEN MANAGEMENT AND OUR FIRM

S A o
(\\\Q 4\
é( Q Q} \{\ Q~
OQ‘ o fz§\ c’,\
@” . OQ ’\
W P
X %)
0\@@0\} &
SIS %o‘\
«° O@‘Z’
\}&Q

4

39



DRAFT

AUDITED
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT
CORPORATION

DECEMBER 31, 2021

40



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
CONTENTS

FINANCIAL SECTION
Independent Auditor's Report
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Basic Financial Statements:
Consolidated Statements of Net Position
Consolidated Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to Financial Statements
Supplementary Information:
Consolidating Statement of Net Position
Consolidating Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
INTERNAL CONTROL AND COMPLIANCE
Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of

Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards

41

12
13
14

15-23

24
25

26-27



DRAFT

FINANCIAL SECTION



DRAFT

BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2021
{(UNAUDITED)

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC) is a not-for-profit corporation whose mission is to support
the urban economic development efforts of the region through acquisition, remediation and management of
distressed properties, and to engage in related real estate development activities for the purpose of
attracting and/or retaining new and existing businesses to the City of Buffalo, New York (the City) as part
of the region. The mission of BUDC also includes supporting the revitalization of the City by serving as the
lead management entity for Buffalo Building Reuse Project (BBRP) initiatives, working in collaboration with
the Mayor's Office of Strategic Planning, including the coordination of financial assistance for downtown
adaptive re-use projects and public right-of-way improvements.

For financial reporting purposes, BUDC is classified as a governmental entity that is required to comply
with accounting standards issued by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) because a
majority of its governing body are officials of local governments or appointed by officials of local
governments. Under GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements - and Management’s Discussion
and Analysis - for State and Local Governments, BUDC is required to present management’s discussion
and analysis (MD&A) to assist readers in understanding BUDC's financial performance.

In compliance with GASB Statement No. 34, we present the attached overview and analysis of the financial
activities of BUDC for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019. We encourage readers to
consider the information presented here in conjunction with BUDC'’s audited financial statements.

In 2017, BUDC's financial reporting entity expanded as a result of a tax credit transaction to bring historic
tax credits (HTC) and new markets tax credit (NMTC) funding to the development project at 683 Northland
Avenue (the Project), the location of the Northiand Workforce Training Center (Workforce Training Center).
The financial reporting entity consists of (a) BUDC (the primary entity), (b) 683 WTC, LLC (WTC), of which
BUDC is the sole member, and (c) 683 Northland LLC (683 Northland), of which WTC holds a 95% equity
interest. All significant intercompany balances and transactions between the three entities are eliminated
in the consolidated financial statements. WTC is also the managing member of 683 Northland Master
Tenant, LLC (Master Tenant) and holds a 1% equity interest.

Basic Overview of the Financial Statements
Included in this Annual Report are the following financial statements:

1) Statement of Net Position — This statement shows the reader what BUDC owns (assets and
deferred outflows) and what BUDC owes (liabilities and deferred inflows). The difference between
BUDC's assets, deferred outflows, liabilities and deferred inflows (net position) can be one way to
measure BUDC's financial position. Over time, increases or decreases in BUDC's net position is
one indicator of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating.

2) Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position — This statement reports BUDC's
operating and nonoperating revenues by major source along with operating expenses. The
difference between total revenues and expenses can be one way to measure BUDC'’s operating
results for the year.

3) Statement of Cash Flows — This statement reports BUDC’s cash flows from operating, noncapital
financing, capital and related financing, and investing activities.

43



DRAFT

BUDC'’s net position increased by 11% from $76,743,000 in 2020 to $85,318,000 in 2021.

BUDC experienced an increase in net position of $7,614,000 in 2021 compared to a decrease of
$2,472,000 in 2020 due mainly to the receipt of brownfield tax credits by WTC in 2021, Grant
income and development costs decreased in 2021, compared to 2020.

* BUDC's total assets decreased by $6,351,000 primarily due to a $3,489,000 decrease in grants
receivable and a $4,051,000 decrease in net capital assets, combined with a $2,448,000 increase
in cash.

» BUDC's total liabilities decreased $14,926,000 as a result of the repayment of construction loan
debt during 2021.

Financial Highlights

44



DRAFT

The following table (Table 1) presents condensed comparative financial information and was derived from
the audited consolidated statements of net position of BUDC.

Condensed Comparative Financial Statements:

1. Statements of Net Position:

Tabie 1
Consolidated Statements of Net Position at December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
(Amounts in thousands)

2021 2020 $ Change % Change 2019
Assets:
Cash $ 2,818 $ 370 % 2,448 662% $ 247
Receivables 10,161 13,650 (3,489) -26% 10,781
Restricted cash 4,487 3,753 734 20% 5,235
Other cument assets 6,627 7,163 (526) -7% 8,135
Loans receivable 9,666 10,416 (750) 7% 10,791
Equity investment 178 178 - 0% 198
Capital assets, net 108,785 112,836 (4,051) 4% 110,458
Construction in process - - - 0% 2,697
Land and improvements held for sale 3,363 4,080 (717) -18% 4,087
Total assets $ 146,085 $ 152,436 $ (6,351) 4% $ 152,629
Liabilities:
Current liabilities $ 26191 $ 45256 $ (19,085) 42% $ 15,333
Long-term liabilities 34,576 30,437 4,139 14% 58,692
Total liabilities 60,767 75,693 (14,926) -20% 74,025
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 87,868 73,760 14,108 19% 73,261
Restricted 3,624 4,021 (397) -10% 4,702
Unrestricted (6,174) (1,038) (5,136) 495% 641
Total net position $ 85318 $ 76,743 $ 8,575 1% $ 78,604
Total liabilities and net position $ 146,085 $ 152,436 $ (6,351) 4% $ 152,629
6

45



DRAFT

Cash — Cash increased $2,448,000 due to a decrease in receivables and an overall decrease in expenses
during 2021.

Receivables — Receivables include grant and other receivables owed as a result of BUDC's development
projects. The $3,489,000 decrease is primarily due to $5,000,000 of grants awarded to BUDC during 2021,
compared to $8,500,000 of grant receipts during the year.

Restricted cash - Restricted cash includes amounts held by the Erie County Industrial Development
Agency (ECIDA) on behalf of BUDC related to the Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund and the Buffalo
Building Reuse Project loan fund. Also included in restricted cash are amounts received from ESD held in
segregated interest accounts, which may be drawn down upon approval from ESD. The increase of
$734,000 is mainly due to the repayment of a loan in 2021.

Other current assets — Other current assets include prepaid expenses, developer fees receivable (BUDC)
and interest receivable. The $526,000 decrease from 2020 to 2021 is due mainly to the collection of
developer fees in 2021.

Loans receivable — Loans receivable decreased $750,000 in 2021, as one loan was paid off under the
Buffalo Building Reuse Project Ioan program.

Capital assets, net — Capital assets net of accumulated depreciation decreased $4,051,000 primarily due
depreciation expense of $4,226,000. Portions of 537 East Delavan Avenue and other properties were also
capitalized and placed in service in 2021.

Land and improvements held for sale — Land and improvements held for sale represents property held
at BLCP and 308 Crowley Avenue and has been reduced to its net realizable value; estimated by
management to be the fair value of the property when sold. Land was sold at BLCP and 308 Crowley during
2021, accounting for the decrease.

Current liabilities - The $19,065,000 decrease in current liabilities was primarily due to repayment of a
portion ($18,919,000) of 683 Northland's KeyBank construction loans during 2021.

Long-term liabilities — Long-term liabilities increased $4,139,000 due to an increase in 683 Northland

LLC’s deferred rent liability under a Master Lease Agreement with its tenant, 683 Northland Master Tenant,
LLC.

46



DRAFT

The following table (Table 2) presents condensed comparative financial information and was derived from
BUDC's audited statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position.

2. Change in Net Position:

Table 2
Change in Net Position for the Years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
{(Amounts in thousands)

2021 2020 $ Change % Change 2019
Revenue:
Grants $ 4,425 % 8816 $ (4,391) -50% $ 20,800
PILOT agreements 41 172 (131) -76% 299
Loan interest and commitment fees 112 153 41) -27% 150
Rental and other revenue 14,870 2,034 12,836 631% 14,842
Total revenue 19,448 11,175 8,273 74% 36,091
Expenses:
Dewvelopment costs $ 4253 $ 5294 $ (1,041) 20% $ 2,580
Adjustment to net realizable value 29 419 (320) -76% 576
Salaries and benefits 483 546 (63) -12% 509
General and administrative 2,092 2,091 1 0% 3,094
Management fee 70 92 (22) 24% 134
Depreciation 4,226 4,198 28 1% 3,224
Total expenses 11,223 12,640 (1,417) -11% 10,117
Operating income (loss) 8,225 (1,465) 9,690 -661% 25,974
Loss on disposal . (118) - (118) -100% -
Interest income 1 1 - 0% 19
Interest expense (450) (933) 483 -52% (1,172)
Amortization expense (44) (75) 31 41% (75)
Change in net position $ 7614 $ (2472) $ 10,086 408% $ 24,746
8

47



DRAFT

Grants — Grant income includes income from the Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Foundation and Great Lakes
Commission for work related to Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park, and Empire State Development and
NYSERDA for projects along the Northland Corridor. Grant income is recognized as the related grant
expenses are incurred. In 2021, $4,176,000 of grant revenue was recognized for Centennial Park and
$249,000 for Northland. The decrease of $4,391,000 from 2020 reflects a continued decrease in revenue
from larger grants related to 683 Northland Avenue.

3. Revenue and Expense Analysis:

Rental and other revenue — Other revenue includes WTC’s 2018 brownfield tax credit refund, rental
income from 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC under the Master Lease Agreement, rent from other
Northland tenants and other income. The increase of $12,836,000 from 2020 was due to the $12,720,000
brownfield tax credit refund of WTC received during the year.

Development costs - Development costs include those costs related to various BUDC projects but
excludes certain BLCP and Northland development costs that are reflected in “adjustment to net realizable
value’ as discussed below. The decrease of $1,041,000 is the result of lower costs in 2021 due to Ralph
C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park project timing.

Adjustment to net realizable value — The adjustment to net realizable value represents certain Northland
and BLCP capitalized development costs. These costs are added to the book value of capital assets and
land and improvements held for sale; however, an offsetting adjustment is recorded to reduce the net book
value to equal the estimated net realizable value of each property.

Salaries and benefits — Salaries and benefits decreased by $63,000 or.12% due mainly to the retirement
of an employee in 2021.

General and administrative — General and administrative costs remain consistent at $2,092,000 in 2021
($2,091,000 in 2020). Included in this category are expenses related to the Workforce Training Center
project, such as amounts granted to Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Corporation and rent payments.

Management fee — The management fee represents costs charged for certain ECIDA staff that spend a
portion of their time performing financial, compliance, administrative and property management services on
behalf of BUDC under a shared services agreement. Asset management fees charged to 683 Northland by
NMTC and HTC investors were also reported here in 2019, and reclassified to general and administrative
costs in 2020.

Depreciation — Depreciation expense increased $28,000 from $4,198,000 in 2020 to $4,226,000 in 2021.
The majority of depreciation expense ($4,146,000) was related to the building and improvements at 683
Northiand Avenue.

Loss on disposal — The loss on disposal for 2021 represents the difference between the sale prices of
property sold at BLCP and 308 Crowley and the book value of those properties. A gain on the disposal of
certain equipment by 683 Northland LLC is aiso included.

Interest expense — Interest expense relates mainly to loans payable by 683 Northland and lines of credit

of both BUDC and 683 Northland. The $483,000 decrease in interest expense from 2020 to 2021 is
reflective of repayment of a portion of the construction loans and BUDC’s line of credit during 2021.

48



DRAFT

Each year, BUDC prepares an operating budget and three-year forecast. BUDC’s 2021 budget was
presented and approved by the Board of Directors on October 27, 2020. The following table (Table 3)
presents an analysis of BUDC'’s performance compared to the approved 2021 budget.

4. Budget Analysis:

Table 3
Budget to Actual Analysis for the year ended December 31, 2021
(Amounts in thousands)

Original Actual to Budget
Actual Budget $ Change % Change
Rewenue:
Grants $ 4425 $ 9,062 $ (4,627) -51%
PILOT agreements 41 83 42) -51%
Loan interest and commitment fees 112 97 16 15%
Other 14,870 2,008 12,862 641%
Total revenue 19,448 11,240 23,263 207%
Expenses:
Dewelopment costs $ 4253 % 5241 § (988) -19%
Adjustment to net realizable value 99 - 99 100%
Salaries and benefits 483 534 (51) -10%
General and administrative 2,092 1,464 628 43%
Management fee 70 103 (33) -32%
Depreciation 4,226 4,600 (374) -8%
Total expenses 11,223 11,942 (719) -6%
Operating income (loss) 8,225 (702) 8,927 -1272%
Loss on disposal (118) (58) (60) 103%
Interest income 1 1 - 0%
Interest expense (450) (729) 279 -38%
Amortization expense (44) (44) - 100%
Change in net position $ 7614 $ (1,632) $ 9,146 -597%

Note: The original 2021 budget was not amended; therefore, only one budget column is presented.

Budget to Actual Analysis:

Overall, BUDC's change in net position exceeded the budget by $9,146,000. Grant revenue was
$4,627,000 below budget due to lower than anticipated recognition of grant revenue from Ralph C. Wilson,
Jr. Foundation related to the Centennial Park Project. Other revenue surpassed the budgeted amount by
$12,862,000 due to recognition of the 2018 brownfield tax credit refund by WTC. Development costs of
$4,253,000 were below budget by $988,000. This is directly related to the lower recognition of grant
revenue. General and administrative expenses of $2,092,000 were above the budget by $628,000. 683

10

49



DRAFT

Northland recognized $217,000 of expense related to the sale of certain equipment. Interest expense of
$450,000 was $279,000 higher than budget, due to repayments of long-term debt.

5. Economic Factors Impacting BUDC:

BUDC has limited sources of operating funds that can support its ongoing operating costs. As a result,
BUDC is reliant upon future land sales occurring at its BLCP business park and future revenues at the
Northland Corridor redevelopment site to support operations.

6. Requests for Information:

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of BUDC's finances. Questions concerning
any of the financial information provided in this report should be addressed to the Treasurer of BUDC at
(716) 856-6525. General information relatihng to BUDC can be found at its website
www.buffalourbandevelopment.com.

11

50



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

DRAFT

DECEMBER 31,
2021 2020
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash $ 2,817,690 $ 425,719
Grants receivable 10,160,553 13,649,610
Restricted cash 4,487,462 3,697,709
Other current assets 6,626,745 7,152,726
Total current assets 24,092,450 24,925,764
Noncurrent assets:
Loans receivable, net 9,666,400 10,416,400
Equity investment 178,051 178,051
Capital assets, net 108,785,225 112,835,377
Land and improvements held for sale, net 3,363,434 4,080,387
Total noncurrent assets 121,993,110 127,510,215
Total assets $ 146,085,560 $ 152,435,979
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 959,332 $ 874,573
Unearned revenue 14,373,673 13,822,911
Line of credit 677,158 1,416,953
Current portion of loans payable 10,180,810 29,141,944
Total current liabilities 26,190,973 45,256,381
Noncurrent liabilities:
Deferred rent liability 20,219,190 16,079,828
Loans payable 14,099,750 14,099,750
Note payable 257,381 257,381
Total noncurrent liabilities 34,576,321 30,436,959
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 87,868,099 73,759,690
Restricted 3,624,405 4,020,554
Unrestricted (deficit) (6,174,238) (1,037,605)
Total net position 85,318,266 76,742,639
Total liabilities and net position $ 146,085,560 $ 152,435,979

See accompanying notes.

51




BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET | [
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2021 2020
Operating revenues:
Grant revenue $ 4,425140 3 8,816,375
Brownfield funds 40,821 171,903
Loan interest and commitment fees 112,107 152,597
Rental and other revenue 14,869,875 2,033,807
Total operating revenues 19,447,943 11,174,682
Operating expenses:
Dewelopment costs 4,253,370 5,294,325
Adjustment to net realizable value 98,713 418,386
Salaries and benefits 482,778 546,021
General and administrative 2,091,562 2,091,258
Management fee 70,408 91,454
Depreciation 4,225,517 4,198,380
Total operating expenses 11,222,348 12,639,824
Operating income (loss) 8,225,595 (1,465,142)
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Loss on disposal (118,382) -
Interest income 722 1,278
Amortization expense (43,675) (74,872)
Interest expense (450,479) (933,410)
Total nonoperating expenses, net (611,814) (1,007,004)
Change in net position 7,613,781 (2,472,146)
Net position - beginning of year 76,742,639 78,603,896
Add: capital contributions 961,846 610,889
Net position - end of year $ 85,318,266 $ 76,742,639

See accompanying notes.
13

52



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

DRAFT

Cash flows from operating activities:
Amounts received from Brownfields funds

Grants received

Receipts from loans and commitment fees
Repayments of loans
Rental and other revenue

Payments to employees, suppliers, and other
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Praceeds from sale/disposal of capital assets

Repayment of line of credit
Proceeds from line of credit
Repayment of loans
Capital contributions

Net cash used by capital and related financing activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Change in restricted cash

Interest earned
interest paid

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities

Net increase in cash

Cash - beginning of year

Cash - end of year

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) from operations to
net cash provided by operating activities:

Operating income (loss)

Adjustment to reconcile income from operations to

net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation expense
Increase (decrease) in grants receivable
Decrease in other current assets
Decrease in loans receivable

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses

increase in unearned revenue
Increase in deferred rent liability

Net cash provided by operating activities

Non-cash transactions:

Capital asset purchases not yet disbursed
Grants received but not yet earned

See accompanying notes.
14

53

2021 2020
67,767 $ 229,279
8,464,959 9,026,593
112,107 152,597
750,000 375,000
19,562,372 3,951,260
(6,934,777) (8,994,092)
22,022,428 4,740,637
(449,194) (6,364,450)
872,400 -
(923,370) 677,445
183,575 -
(18,961,134) -
961,846 631,199
(18,315,877) (5,055,806)
(789,753) 1,536,876
722 1,278
(525,549) (1,044,206)
(1,314,580) 493,948
2,391,971 178,779
425,719 246,940
2,817,690 $ 425,719
8,225,595 $  (1,465,142)
4,225,517 4,198,380
3,489,057 (2,868,964)
525,981 982,499
750,000 375,000
116,154 (1,186,829)
550,762 3,079,182
4,139,362 1,626,511
22,022,428 $ 4,740,637
- 5 390,059
548,961 3,079,182



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of the Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC) have been prepared in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) as applied to government
units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard setting body for establishing
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The more significant of the BUDC's accounting policies
are described below.

A. REPORTING ENTITY

The Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC) was incorporated to facilitate partnership with the private
sector in the development of the City of Buffalo (the City). Funding was initially received from the City; however
the City has not allocated direct funding to BUDC for several years and future allocations are not expected.
Funding is received primarily from land sales, grant funding, and loan repayments. In 2005, an agreement
between BUDC, Erie County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA), the City, and Erie County (the County)
established the Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund (the Fund). The Fund dedicates certain payments
received in lieu of real estate taxes (PILOT) for future eligible project costs. The fund is administered by ECIDA
and reimburses BUDC for eligible project costs incurred. The activity of the Fund is included in these financial
statements.

The financial reporting entity consists of (a) the primary entity, which is BUDC, (b) 683 WTC, LLC, (WTC) of
which BUDC is the sole member, and (c) 683 Northland LLC, (Northland) in which 683 WTC, LLC has a 95%
equity interest.

In accordance with U.S. GAAP, BUDC is not considered a component unit of another entity.

B. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Revenues from grants, Brownfield funds, rental payments and interest on loans are reported as operating
revenues. All expenses related to operating BUDC are reported as operating expenses. Certain other
transactions are reported as nonoperating activities including BUDC's interest income from deposits and interest
expense related to long-term debt.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is BUDC's policy to use restricted
resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

C. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

The consolidated financial statements inciude the accounts of BUDC, WTC, and Northland. All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAP.

D. MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

BUDC is considered a special-purpose government engaged in business-type activities. Business-type activities
are those that are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties for goods or services. The
financial statements of BUDC are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual
basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are
incurred; regardless of when the cash transaction takes place.

Nonexchange transactions, in which BUDC gives or receives value without directly receiving or giving equal value
in exchange, include grants. Revenue from grants is recognized in the year in which all eligibility requirements
have been satisfied.

E. CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH

BUDC'’s cash consists of cash on hand and demand deposits. Certain assets are classified on the balance sheet
as restricted because their use is limited.

15

54



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DRAFT

F.

LOANS RECEIVABLE

Loans receivable are presented net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts. BUDC maintains an allowance for
estimated uncollectible accounts which is based on an analysis of the loan portfolio and reflects an amount that,
in management’s judgment, is adequate to provide for potential loan losses. Loans are written off when, in

management’s judgment, no legal recourse is available to collect the amount owed.

Interest on loans receivable is accrued as required by the terms of the agreement; management considers that
collection is probable based on the current economic condition of the borrower. Accrual of interest ceases when
management adjusts a loan reserve to 50% or more of the loan’s outstanding balance.

OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid
expenses. These amounts are included in other current assets and amounted to $6,188,769 and $6,646,600 for
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Other current assets include interest and accounts receivables and
amounted to $437,976 and $506,126 for December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital assets are recorded at acquisition cost and depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the respective
assets using the straight-line method. The cost of repairs, maintenance and minor replacements are expensed
as incurred, whereas expenditures that materially extend property lives are capitalized. When depreciable
property is retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the
accounts and any gain or loss is reflected in income. Contributed capital assets are recorded at fair value at the
date received.

Capitalization thresholds (the dollar value above which asset acquisitions are added to the capital asset
accounts), depreciation methods, and estimated useful lives of capital assets reported in the BUDC are as
follows:

Estimated
Useful Life
3-10 years
5-40 years

Capitalization
Threshold
$1,000
$1,000

Depreciation
Method

Straight-line

Straight-line

Furniture and equipment
Buildings and improvements

INSURANCE

BUDC is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets, personal
injury liability, and natural disasters. These risks are covered by commercial insurance purchased from
independent third parties. Judgments and claims are recorded when it is probable that an asset has been
impaired or a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Settled claims
from these risks has not yet exceeded commercial insurance coverage for the past three years.

NET POSITION
Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:

a. Net investment in capital assets - Consists of capital assets including restricted capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation and related debt.

b. Restricted - Consists of net positions with constraints on the use either by (1) external groups such as
creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (2) law through constitutional
provisions or enabling legislation. Included in this classification are the Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment
Fund and a loan fund.

c. Unrestricted - The net amount of assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of
resources that are not included in the determination of net investment in capital assets or the restricted
component of net position and therefore are available for general use by BUDC.

16

55



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DRAFT

K.

INCOME TAXES

BUDC is exempt from federal income tax under Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3) and the income realized
will not be subject to New York State corporate franchise tax. BUDC is subject to unrelated business income tax
related to certain lending transactions associated with WTC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the purposes of the statements of cash flows, BUDC considers all cash, other than restricted cash, which
includes cash and demand accounts.

USE OF ESTIMATES IN THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses/expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

The following are GASB Statements that have been issued recently and are currently being evaluated, by BUDC,
for their potential impact in future years.

Statement No. 87, Leases, which will be effective for the year ending December 31, 2022.

Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations, which will be effective for the year ending December 31, 2022.

Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020, which will be effective for the year ending December 31, 2022.

Statement No. 93, Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates, which is effective for the year ending December

31, 2021, except for paragraph 11b, which will be effective for the year ending December 31, 2022.

® Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment Arrangements,
which will be effective for the year ending December 31, 2023.

» Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements, which will be effective for the
year ending December 31, 2023.

» Statement No. 97, Cerfain Component Unit Criteria, and Accounting and Financial Reporting for Internal

Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans-an amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and

84, and a supersession of GASB Statement No. 32, which will be effective for the year ending December 31,

2022.

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.

NOTE 2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS

BUDC's investment policies are governed by State statutes. In addition, BUDC has its own written investment policy.
BUDC monies must be deposited in Federal Deposit Insurance Corporatnon (FDIC)-insured commercial banks or
trust companies located within the State. BUDC is authorized to use interest bearing demand accounts and
certificates of deposit. Permissible investments include obligations of the United States Treasury and its agencies,
repurchase agreements and obligations of the State and its localities.

17

56



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Collateral is required for demand deposits and certificates of deposits not covered by federal deposit insurance.
Obligations that may be pledged as collateral are obligations of the United States and its agencies, obligations of the
State and its municipalities and school districts and obligations issued by other than New York State rated in one of
the three highest rating categories by at least one nationally recognized statistical rating organization.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, BUDC's aggregate bank deposits were considered fully collateralized.

Investment and Deposit Policy

BUDC follows an investment and deposit policy, the overall objective of which is to adequately safeguard the principal
amount of funds invested or deposited; conformance with federal, state and other legal requirements; and provide
sufficient liquidity of invested funds in order to meet obligations as they become due. Oversight of investment activity
is the responsibility of BUDC’s Treasurer.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of investments will be affected by changing interest rates. BUDC's
investment policy does not limit investment maturities as a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses
arising from increasing interest rates.

Credit Risk

BUDC's policy is to minimize the risk of loss due to failure of an issuer or other counterparty to an investment to fuffill
its obligations. BUDC's investment and deposit policy authorizes the reporting entity to purchase the following types
of investments:

Interest bearing demand accounts.

Certificates of deposit.

Obligations of the United States Treasury and United States agencies.
Obligations of New York State and its localities.

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a failure of a depository financial institution, the reporting entity may
not recover its deposits. In accordance with BUDC's investment and deposit policy, all deposits of BUDC mcludlng
interest bearing demand accounts and certificates of deposit, in excess of the amount insured under the provisions of
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) shall be secured by a pledge of securities with an aggregate value
equal to 100% of the aggregate amount of deposits. BUDC restricts the securities to the following eligible items:

¢ Obligations issued, fully insured or guaranteed as to the payment of principal and interest, by the United States
Treasury and United States agencies.

« Obligations issued or fully insured or guaranteed by the State of New York and its localities.

» Obligations issued by other than New York State rated in one of the three highest rating categories by at least
one nationally recognized statistical rating organizations.

NOTE 3. LOANS RECEIVABLE

BUDC has an agreement with Pursuit (formerly New York Business Development Corporation) to provide loans to
facilitate the development and adaptive reuse of vacant or underutilized buildings in certain designated areas. The
loan agreement provides for $9,000,000 in total funding from five participating lending banks, with interest rates
determined by the banks. The balance of the loans outstanding were $0 and $750,000 at December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively. Interest payments are due monthly and principal is due at maturity.

In 2017, BUDC made a loan in the amount of $9,666,400 to Northland NMTC Investment Fund, LLC (NMTC).
Interest accrues at the rate of one percent per annum (1%) and is due quarterly. Interest only payments from the date
of first advance, which was December 28, 2017 through December 31, 2024 are payable quarterly. Principal and
interest shall be paid commencing December 31, 2024 through December 31, 2042. NMTC pledges its entire interest
in BACDE NMTC Fund 16, LLC and NTCIC-Northland, LLC. The following is a summary of the loans receivable.
BUDC’s policy is to present loans receivable net of an allowance for uncollectible loans. Management has
determined that no allowance for these loans was necessary in 2021 and 2020.

18

57



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DRAET

2021 2020
Downtown Loan Fund $ - $ 750,000
NMTC Investment Fund 9,666,400 9,666,400
Total loans receivable $ 9,666,400 $ 10,416,400

NOTE 4. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the BUDC for the year ended December 31, 2021 was as follows:

Balance Balance
01/01/2021 Increases Decreases 12/31/2021
Non-depreciable capital assets
Land $ 874,014 § - $ - 8 874,014
ldle buildings and improvements 4,687,894 336,940 - 5,024,834
Total non-depreciable capital assets 5,661,908 336,940 - 5,898,848
Depreciable capital assets:
Buildings and improvements 107,814,194 69,920 - 107,884,114
Fumiture and equipment 7,925,057 6,688 420,120 7,511,625
Less: accumulated depreciation 8,465,782 4,225,517 181,937 12,509,362
Total depreciable assets, net 107,273,469 (4,148,909) 238,183 102,886,377
Total capital assets, net $ 112,835377 $ (3,811,969) § 238,183 $ 108,785,225

Capital asset activity for the BUDC for the year ended December 31, 2020 was as follows:

Balance Balance
01/01/2020 Increases Decreases 12/31/2020
Non-depreciable capital assets
Land $ 844,942 $ 29,072 $ - 8 874,014
Construction work in progress 2,697,320 2,276,653 4,973,973 -
Idle buildings and improvements 5,510,766 1,639,434 2,462,306 4,687,894
Total non-depreciable capital assets 9,053,028 3,845,159 7,436,279 5,561,908
Depreciable capital assets:
Buildings and improvements 100,718,306 7,095,888 - 107,814,194
Fumiture and equipment 7,666,432 305,670 47,045 7,925,057
Less: accumulated depreciation 4,282,524 4,198,380 15,122 8,465,782
Total depreciable assets, net 104,102,214 3,203,178 31,923 107,273,469
Total capital assets, net $ 113,155,242 $ 7,148,337 $ 7,468,202 $ 112,835,377

Land, buildings, and improvements related to the Northiand Corridor amounted to $5,898,848 and $5,561,908 at
December 31, 2021 and 2020. BUDC intends to return these properties to productive use, assist with revitalizing the

surrounding neighborhood, and provide employment opportunities for

nearby residents by creating a new

manufacturing hub on the City’s east side. Once completed, BUDC expects to lease the property to local businesses,

government agencies, and nonprofit organizations.

Due fo the extensive amount of revitalization, pollution remediation (Note 14), and other related activities, the
anticipated costs of certain Northland properties exceed the expected fair value of the properties based on current
estimates. Adjustments to net realizable value totaled $660 and $418,386 for the years ended December 31, 2021

and 2020, respectively.

19

58



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS :

NOTE 5. LAND AND IMPROVEMENTS HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AND SALE

In 2002, on behalf of the City, BUDC agreed to undertake a multi-phase Brownfield reclamation and redevelopment
project at the former Hanna Furnace site and land surrounding the Union Ship Canal, now known as Buffalo Lakeside
Commerce Park (BLCP). BUDC accepted 104 acres of tax foreclosed property from the City, demolished derelict
structures, and constructed approximately 5,000 linear feet of roads and infrastructure. Funding for this work was
provided by the State, the City, and the County. With additional funding from the State, BUDC purchased 130 acres of
land to add to the BLCP and constructed additional roads and infrastructure. Between 2004 and 2008 there were
multiple BLCP parcels sold to local businesses. In 2021, approximately 20 acres of land were sold to a local
developer.

In 2018, BUDC purchased approximately 7 acres of property at 308 Crowley Street in the City of Buffalo for the
purpose of remediation and redevelopment. The property inciudes a derelict building which will undergo select
demolition. One acre of land was sold in 2020, and .65 acres were sold in 2021.

Land and improvements held for sale are recorded at net realizable value based on assessment of the fair value of
each project as follows at December 31,:

2021 2020
BLCP $ 8,533,718 $  9211,452
308 Crowley - 71,510 83,719
Less adjustment to net realizable value (BLCP) 5,241,794 5,214,784
Total land and improvements held for development and sale $ 3,363,434 $ 4,080,387

NOTE 6. GRANTS RECEIVABLE AND UNEARNED REVENUE

BUDC was awarded several grants between 2016-2020 from Empire State Development (ESD) for the demolition,
remediation, renovation, construction and site/street improvements for various Northland properties and the Western
New York Workforce Training Center project (Training Center). In 2021, BUDC was awarded a $200,000 grant for the
planning for a solar array and microgrid system at the Training Center.

In 2019, BUDC was awarded a $3,998,549 grant from ESD under the Restore NY Program in support of the
demolition and rehabilitation at certain properties in the Northland Corridor. A $131,250 grant was also awarded from
National Grid’s Brownfield Redevelopment Program in support of this work.

Between 2019-2021, BUDC was awarded six grants from the Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Foundation totaling $21,397,150 for
project coordination and advancing the transformation of Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park into a world-class park
and recreational amenity for the City and the Western New York Region.

To further support the shoreline components of the Centennial Park project, BUDC was awarded two grants totaling
$1,224,252 from the Great Lakes Commission in 2020 and 2021.

The following is a summary of grants receivable and unearned grant revenue at December 31,

2021 - 2020
Grants receivable:
ESD $ 2,033,102 $ 4,382,619
National Grid 250,000 250,000
Ralph C Wilson Jr. Foundation 7,740,000 8,300,000
NYSERDA - 23,136
Great Lakes Commission 137,451 693,855
$ 10,160,553 $ 13,649,610
20

59



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Unearned revenue:

ESD $ 1,835,008 $ 1,762,728
National Grid 381,250 381,250
Ralph C Wilson Jr. Foundation 11,850,415 11,058,342
NYSERDA - 119,232
Great Lakes Commission 7,000 501,359
Other 300,000 -

$ 14,373,673 $ 13,822,911

NOTE 7. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

The foll'owing is a summary of accounts payable and accrued expenses at December 31,:

2021 2020
Accounts payable $ 862,805 $ 741,247
Accrued payroll 23,615 36,435
Accrued interest 23,812 57,791
Other accrued expenses 49,100 39,100
$ 959,332 $ 874,573

NOTE 8. DEFERRED RENT LIABILITY

Northiand has a Master Lease Agreement (the Agreement) with the master tenant member to receive rental income
commencing August 26, 2018, the day prior to the first date on which Phase | of the Building was placed in service for
purposes of the historical tax credits, through the year ended December 31, 2037. Northland recognized $1,879,742 in
rental revenue related to the Agreement for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. The lease agreement includes
scheduled rent increases over the term of the lease, which in accordance with U.S. GAAP, will be recognized on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease. Northland will reduce the deferred rent liability by $1,879,742 over each of the next 5
years and through the remainder of the life of the lease agreement.

Future minimum rental receipts to be received under the Master Lease Agreement are contractually due as follows as
of December 31, 2021:

2022 $ 484,486
2023 492,423
2024 528,046
2025 558,008
2026 565,617
Thereafter 6,890,373

$ 9,519,043

NOTE 9. NOTE PAYABLE

In connection with the purchase of property related to BLCP, BUDC issued a non-interest bearing note payable in an
amount equal to the greater of $525,000 ($13,125 per acre) or a percentage of the resale price of the developed
property. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the note payable amounted to $257,381, which represents the remaining
19.61 acres of land at $13,125 per acre. No payments are required until any portion of the property is sold.

21

60



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 10. LINE OF CREDIT

BUDC entered into a revolving line of credit agreement with KeyBank on April 29, 2020 which allows for borrowings up to
$1,800,000. Borrowings are to be used to pay for specific projects that are reimbursed through grants but require the work
to be completed prior to reimbursement and for general working capital purposes. Borrowed amounts on the line bear
interest at an adjusted LIBOR rate (3.25% - 2021) per annum and are collateralized by security interest in all assets of
BUDC. Interest payments are due on the first of each month. Principal is due upon demand. The line of credit had an
outstanding amount of $0 and $923,370 on December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Northland entered into a non-revolving line of credit agreement with KeyBank on April 29, 2020 which allows for
borrowings up to $1,000,000. Buffalo Urban Development Corporation, 683 WTC, LLC, and BBRC Land Company |, LLC,
related parties, are guarantors this agreement. Borrowings are to be used to pay interest on the Bridge loans (see Note 6)
while awaiting member contributions. Borrowed amounts on the line bear interest at an adjusted LIBOR rate (3.25% at
December 31, 2021) per annum and are collateralized by security interest in all assets of 683 WTC, LLC, BUDC and
BBRC Land Company |, LLC. All outstanding principal and interest amounts are due upon maturity. The agreement was
amended in 2021 and matures on December 31, 2022. The line of credit had an outstanding amount of $677,158 and
$493,583, respectively.

NOTE 11. LOANS PAYABLE

Mortgage Payable
During 2017, Northland borrowed amounts totaling $13,730,000 related to the Northland Corridor project from BACDE

NMTC Fund 16, LLC and NTCIC-NORTHLAND, LLC. BUDC is a guarantor on the loan agreement. Interest accrues at
the rate of 1.33776% and is due quarterly. The loans are collaterized by the building. Interest only payments from the
date of agreement, December 28, 2017 through December 31, 2024 are payable quarterly. Principal and interest are
due quarterly, commencing December 31, 2024, until the maturity date of December 28, 2052. Under the mortgage
agreements, Northland shall pay BACDE NMTC Fund 16, LLC an annual asset management fee of $45,000 through
2025 and NTCIC-NORTHLAND, LLC an annual asset management fee of $10,000 through 2026.

Bridge Loan
Northland entered into two bridge loan agreements with KeyBank on December 28, 2017, in the amounts of $20,000,000

(Loan A) and $10,000,000 (Loan B). BUDC, WTC and BBRC Land Company |, LLC are guarantors on the loan
agreement. The loan is collaterized by security interest in all assets of WTC, BBRC Land Company |, LL.C and Northland,
assignment of rents by Northland, and assignment of construction contracts and architect’s agreements. The bridge loan
agreement for Loan B matured on June 30, 2021 and was paid in full as of December 31, 2021. The bridge loan
agreement for Loan A was extended through December 31, 2022. The balance outstanding at December 31, 2021 totaled
$10,180,810 ($29,100,000 - 2020). Interest on Loan A is calculated at the prime rate (as established by KeyBank), plus
-25% with a floor of 3% (3% at December 31, 2021). Interest on Loan B is calculated at the prime rate (as established by
KeyBank) plus .25% per annum. Accrued interest amounted to $23,812 as of December 31, 2021 ($55,207 - 2020).
Management intends to repay the bridge loans with the proceeds from the Master Lease Agreement payments and capital
contributions from the managing member. The capital contributions from the managing member will be funded by the
proceeds received in connection with the Brownfield tax credits.

Term Note
BUDC entered into a term note agreement with M&T Bank on February 28, 2019 totaling $369,750 for the purchase of
the land and building at.714 Northland. This note is interest-bearing only until maturity in March 2024.

The above debt is summarized by funding source below as follows at December 31:

22

61



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2021 2020

KeyBank $ 10,180,810 $ 29,100,000
BACDE NMTC Fund 16, LLC 8,730,000 8,730,000
NTCIC-NORTHLAND, LLC 5,000,000 5,000,000
M&T Bank 369,750 369,750
Paycheck Protection Program - 85,620
24,280,560 43,285,370

Less: debt issuance costs - 43,676
$ 24,280,560 $ 43,241,694

Current maturities of long term debt are as follows for the years ended December 31:

2022 $ 10,180,810
2023 -
2024 469,938
2025 404,116
2026 409,549
Thereafter 12,816,147
$ 24,280,560

Interest expense for the year ending December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $450,479 and $933,410, respectively.

NOTE 12. EQUITY INVESTMENT

Equity investment represents WTC’s 1% investment in 683 Northiand Master Tenant, LLC (Master Tenant). WTC
utilizes the historical cost method of accounting for its investment in the Master Tenant which results in the equity
investment balance being comprised of WTC's original capital contribution in the Master Tenant. The investment
amounted to $178,051 at December 31, 2021 and 2020.

NOTE 13. RESTRICTED NET POSITION

BUDC's restricted net position consists of amounts related to the Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund in the
amount of $278,701 and $720,294 at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and a loan fund in the amount of
$3,345,704 and $3,300,260 at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

NOTE 14. NOTES RECEIVABLE WTC

BUDC and WTC have note agreements in the amount of $25,045,279 and $27,142,000 whereby BUDC will advance
proceeds to WTC as requested. The notes carry an interest rate of one percent (1%), compounded annually and the
notes are for a period of thirty years. The balance of the notes plus accrued interest is due upon maturity date at
December 28, 2047. The total outstanding balance on these notes was $52,187,279 and $51,049,259 at December
31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Accrued interest on the loan amounted to $1,501,646 and. $952,415 at December
31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

NOTE 15. POLLUTION REMEDIATION

Various pollution remediation activities will be necessary at Northland during development. Based on preliminary
environmental studies and design plans, management believes clean-up activities will amount to $4,575,000. The
current estimate includes 87% of the total Northland acreage acquired and the remaining sections are expected to be
demolished or consist of parking lots that will require limited clean-up.

23

62



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management expects the entire cost of the remediation to be reimbursed by State grants; therefore no pollution
remediation liability has been accrued in these financial statements

NOTE 16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Management has evaluated subsequent events through XXXX, 2022, which is the date the financial statements are
available for issuance and have determined there are no subsequent events that require disclosure under generally
accepted accounting principles, other than those noted above.

24

63



DRAFT

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

64



14

"SJUSWISIE)S [RISUBUY PSIEPIIOSUCD S} JO} PRJRUILLIS 94 O} SIIUS Sy} usamjaq sajioe syussaidal siyi (1)

095'580°9¥L  $ (S0Z'SLO'CLL) $  Sp.'60L'10L ¢ eco'e6b'eS  § Z9B'Sev'e6 $ uoiyisod jau pue saly iejoL
99z'gLE sg (026'02¢ '65) ZLe'L12'98 £6.'708'c 12121928 (31ouep) uonisod jou [ejo]
(8gz'vLL'9) (0zs'0ze'65) (1) (ozz'zze'or) £6.'08'c 6¥9'699°29 (noyep) pajouysaiun
SOV vz9o'e - - - SOP'pZ9's paLisey
660°898°28 - TE0'SHS'9L - 290'cZE' L1 syesse [ejdea u) JusLuisanul 19N
(1121430} NOILISOd 13N
128 9.8'PE (622'281'26) 061°6¥6'CE 6.2'/81'25 181°229 Sl}i{iqe) Juaunduou jejol
182152 - - - L8e'/62 o|qefed sjoN
05.'660'vL (622'£81°26) (1) ooo'oeL'cl 6.2'/81°25 062'69€ ajqefed sueon
061°6LZ°0Z - 061'612°02 - - Aypqey el paugeq
Sojjljiqe]] JUaLINJUON
£26'061'9Z {(900°205°1) £VZ'6£6'0) 900°205'L 0€4'152'S1 saljijiqel] Juaund [ejof
018'08L°0) - 012'081 01 - - ajqeAed sueo| jo uoipod uaund
851°2.L9 - 9G1°//9 - - }P2ID J0 sour]
€19'€.8'VL - - - €L9'€€'rL anuanal Juelb psuieaun
z£2'656 (900°205°1) $ (1) sz2'18 $ 900'205°L $ 150'8.8 $ sesuadxa panooe pue ajqeded sjunoaoy
sepIIqel] Juelnd
salLIHavIn
095°580'9¥1 (soz'sioeil) ¢ SrL'S0LL0L  $ 9c0'eBr'ES ¢ Z86'sep'es $ sjosse [ejoL
0LLe66'LZL (661'805°LL1) Zr8'sSt 001 1/6'96F ‘65 96¥'9¥S 'L S19SSE JuBLNIUOU [ejo)
ver‘eag's - - - pep'soc's 12U ‘gjes Joj piay suswanoldull pue pueT
§22'98.2'801 - Zr3'sst' 00l - £8¢'6ZE'8 jou ‘sjosse |ejden
150'8L}) (0z6'02¢'65) () - 116'867'65 - aunsaa Aunb3
001°999°6 (622'281'28) (1) - - 6/9'¢68°19 ajqealasal sueo
1S]aSSE JUSLINIUON
0526012 (900'208'1) £06'6v9 19 98v'6¥6'veZ §}osse juauno |ejo),
Sv.1°929'9 {900'205°1) (1) ss5'selL Sl 121'966'2 SJOSSE JUaLND JBYI0
¥ L8P - 166'06E - 1.P'960' Ysed pajoL}say
€55°091°01 - - - £65'091°'0L ajqenladal sjuels)
069°218°2 - $ £ge'ezt $ 5 $ S8Z'v69'T $ sjus|eninba yseo pue yse
'$3osse JUANY
S13ssv
ej01 suoneulwE oM 271 uopesodiod
puejypoN £89 D1M £89 juswdojeaeq
ueqin ojeyng
1202 ‘1€ ¥IGWI03a

NOILISOd 13N 40 SLINJNILV.LS ONILVAITOSNOD
NOILLVHOdHOD LNIJINdOTIAIA Nvadn O1vd4d4ng

65



9

‘SJUBLLIDIRIS [RISUBUL PSIEPIOSUOD SUY) JO) paleulwid aq o} Seljilue ay) usamiaq saijanoe sjussaidal siyl (1)

99z‘gle’'s8 ¢ (0z6'0Ze'8S)  $ ZieLIz'os $ e6L'p08'S $ 121°29'28  $ Jea jo pua - (Hoyap) uopisod JoN
98196 (v66'258°E1) (1) ovs'6L8vlL - - suofnqujuod |eydes ppy
6£9°ZVL 9L (9Z6'29P'S¥) (L) 210'c€9'v¥ (281 '65€9) 0€.'626'c8 Jeak jo Buuuibaq - (oyap) uoilisod JeN
182'€19'2L - (evs'282'c) Ge6'coL 2l (eog'zLe'l) uoiisod jau uy abueyn
(r18°119) L2 6¥S (S1LE'6PP) (621 °6¥9) (155°291) J8u ‘sasuadxs Bueladouou [ejof
{(ezv"0S¥) €2 675 (1) (eL2'vep) (LezZ'6¥5) (904°G1) asuadxa jsasep|
(529'ch) - (519'¢h) - - asuadxa uonezZIHOWY
el - 0LL 25 00S awoou| }sase|
(cec’stl) - €96°82 - (s¥e'Lv1) [esodsip uo (ssoj) uleg
(sasuadxa) sanuaaas BunesadouoN
565'6228 (1ez'6v5) (1) (0ez'98L'D) vLL'ELL'TL (850°'061°1) (sso]) swooul Bunessdo
8ve'eZz Ll - 22 899t 098'9 990°2pS'9 - sesuadxa bunesado [ejo|
L1s°62Zy - Lo'orL Yy - 906'6. uoneioasdeq
80v°0L - - - 80¥'0.L 939} Juowabeue
795°160'2 - NN drards] 098°9 L62'296°L aAljelisiuiwpe pue [e1suag
8LL°C8Y - - - 8.1'28¢ sjjousq pue ssueeg
€1L1'86 - - - €1.'88 enjea ajgezijeal Jau o} Juswysnipy
0.£'ssZ'y - - - 0.£'€8Z'y 51502 juswdoared
:sasuadxa bunesadQ
£v6°'L¥r'6l (L£2'6¥S) 261°088'L ¥.6'6LL'2L 800°'26€'S anuanais Bunjesado ejo]
618'698'FL - Z61°088°L v.6'6LL'TL 60.'69¢ anuanai Jayjo pue [ejusy
20L°ZLL (Lez'st5) () - - 8£€°199 $89) JUSLUYLULIOD pUE }SaId)Ul Ueo
Lzg‘or - - - LZ8'0F Spunj pjayumolg
ovi‘szr'y $ - $ - ¢ - ¢ ovi'szy'y ¢ anuanal Juels)
:sanuaaas bupelado
oL suopeujwg oM oM uogpesodiod
pueyHON £89 DLM £89 juswdojansq
ueqin ojeyng

1202 ‘1€ ¥38INIO3A A3ANT JVIA IHL ¥O-

NOILISOd L3N NI STONVHO ANV SISNIdX3 ‘SINNIAIN 40 SINIWILYLS ONILYAITOSNOD
NOILVHOdH0D ININdOTIA3IA Nvaun O1vddng

66



DRAFT

INTERNAL CONTROL AND COMPLIANCE

67



DRAFT

AUDITED

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND
CHANGES IN NET POSITION

BUFFALO BROWNFIELDS REDEVELOPMENT
FUND

DECEMBER 31, 2021

68



Independent Auditor’s Report

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Notes to the Schedule ...............ooooveooeeeeeeeeeeee e,

69



BUFFALO BROWNFIELDS REDEVELOPMENT FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021

DRAFT

Operating revenues:
City of Buffalo PILOTs by end user:
Cobey
Total City of Buffalo PILOTs

County of Erie PILOTs by end user:
Sonwil
Cobey
Total County of Erie PILOTs
Total operating revenues
Operating expenses:

City of Buffalo share of PILOTs
County of Erie share of PILOTs
Eligible project costs

Total operating expenses

Operating loss

Nonoperating revenues:
Interest income

Change in net position
Net position - beginning

Net position - ending

See accompanying notes.
3

70

3 41,174
41,174

62,986
30,243
93,229

134,403

20,587
47,864
507,728
576,179

(441,776)

183

(441,593)

720,294

$ 278,701




BUFFALO BROWNFIELDS REDEVELOPMENT FUND
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial Reporting Entity: The Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund (the Fund) was formed in July 2005 by
agreement between Erie County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA), the City of Buffalo (the City), the County of
Erie (the County), and Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC) for the purpose of remediation and
redevelopment of Brownfields properties in the City. Under this agreement, ECIDA receives payments in lieu of taxes
(PILOTs) from property owners located within the Buffalo Lakeside Commerce Park (BLCP). These PILOT payments
are the result of abated City and County property taxes, as authorized by ECIDA. A portion of these PILOT payments
is paid to the City and County, while the remainder is held in the Fund to assist in further development of BLCP. After
completion of BLCP, funds can be used in connection with similar projects located within the City that are undertaken
by BUDC.

Basis of Presentation: The schedule of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position (the schedule) presents
the activity of the Fund, which is accounted for and is part of BUDC's financial statements. The schedule has been
prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America as applied to governmental units and specifically business-type activities. The Governmental
Accounting Standards Board is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and
financial reporting principles.

71



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation

Investment Report
For the year ended December 31, 2021

72




Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
2021 Annual Investment Report

Purpose of Report:

Under Section 2925(6) of the Public Authorities Law, BUDC is required to annually
prepare and approve an Investment Report. The InvestrgeﬁtReport is to include: BUDC’s
Investment Guidelines (see below), the results of the annual independent audit (see below),
a list of the total investment income received by{the iﬁe‘bi;poggﬁon and a list of the fees,
commissions or other charges paid to each investment ba?:ker, broker, agent, dealer and
advisor rendering investment associated sefvices to the corporation since the last
investment report. g e

‘%l. : 2 f,‘; vaﬁ
The attached schedule details the corporatiori's investment income and related fees for the

year ended December 31, 2021 and was approvz*du})fy,- the BUDC Board of Difectors at their
March 29, 2022 meeting. £l e ool il

R S L,
b - N
o e b

Investment Guidelines: "‘%, <

%

6otifii 2925 of Hié: Public“Authiorities Law, BUDC is required to
adopt Investment Guidelines,which detail its operative,policy and instructions to staff
regarding the investing, monitpring and reperting of funds of the Agency. In addition,
BUDC has elected to.follow the:deposit and\investment restrictions contained in Sections
10 and 11 of the Gener‘faf;’,;hz[q;gii;;gglsbaw?as a “b‘est practice”.

Mq‘ﬁq—, 1y )

In accordance with.:Sk

A= N e RO T \‘i"y)-“
BUPC’S Investrn?ﬁt;@uidelihe“s?‘werer appreved: by the BUDC Board of Directors at their
March .29, 2022 “mieeting  4nd are posted on the BUDC website at
httﬁ://WW;buffalourbaﬁ‘devplo- sment.com/budc-corporate-policies. The  Investment
Guidelines are.consistent with:the Guidelines adopted on March 30, 2021.

Investment f(ﬂ(!lf , } '
BUDC’s auditors havg’audlted the corporation’s compliance with the Investment
Guidelines for Public Authorities. In their report dated March XX, 2022 Freed Maxick

CPAs have indicated that BUDC complied, in all material respects, with these Investment
Guidelines.

73



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation {(BUDC) and Affiliates
Annual lnvestment Report

For the year ended December 31, 2021

Account Type

BUDC Accounts:
1 Interest Checking

2 Interest Checking
3 Interest Checking
4 Interest Checking
5 Interest Checking
6 Interest Checking
7 Interest Checking
8 Interest Checking

N and LLC Acg

9 Interest Checking
10 Interest Checking
11 Checking
12 Checking

FInancial

Institution

KeyBank
KeyBank
KeyBank
KeyBanik
KeyBank
KeyBank
KeyBank
KeyBank

KeyBank
KeyBank
Citibank
Citibank

C.; LLC Accounts:

13 Inferest Checking  KeyBank

Notes:

G/L Balance GIL Balance
111/2021 1213112021
315,188 2,568,435
6,100 6.100
2,560,261 3,345,704
217,484 561,318
425,333 39,709
65,647 119,750
4,383 -
- 149,742
$ 3574397 § 6790757
48,784 123,353
56,490 23,813
160,250 151,000
284,508 216,178
$ 548032 $ 514,343
0 52
$. .0 $ 52
7,305,153

'$ 4123429 §

Interest
Rats®
Doc 2021
0.01%
0.02%

0.01%
0.05%

0.01%

0.05%
0.05%

0.01%

[

2021

Investment
Income

273

183
7
45

13

Fees

s 50 s

165

3 739

Restrictad

< 2 L L L L

< L L

Purpose

General BUDG Checking account.

Northland Corridor account

Downtown Loan Fund

Restricted account for City of Buffalo reat estate development”®
Imprest account for grant AC426

Account for 714 Northland property

Imprest account for grant Z415°

Imprest account for ESD grant #133857°

General 683 Northland Checking account
Interest Reserve account

NTCIC Reserve Checking account
BACDE Reserve Checking account

General 683 WTC Checking account

All accounts are FDIC guaranteed and secured by collateral posted by the depository or its agent for balances above the FDIC limit.

® The Interest Rate is the annualized rate for the month of December 2021 and is prior to the deduction of fees (if any).

® This account is known as the Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund (BBRF) and is held by the ECIDA on behalf of BUDC.

¢ Account closed 2021.
“ New account opened in 2021

74



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

INVESTMENT AND DEPOSIT POLICY

ARTICLE 1
Scope

Section 2925 of the New York Public Authorities Law requires the Buffalo Urban
Development Corporation (the “Corporation™) to adopt by resolution comprehensive investment
guidelines which detail its operative policy and instructions to officers and staff regarding the
investing, monitoring and reporting of funds of the Corporation.

This investment and deposit policy (“Investment Policy”) is adopted by the Corporation
pursuant to the foregoing provisions of the Public Authorities Law and shall apply to all moneys
and other financial resources available for investment on the Corporation’s own behalf or, when
applicable, on behalf of any other entity or individual. The provisions of this Investment Policy
are also consistent with the requirements of Sections 10 and 11 of the New York General
Municipal Law, which the Corporation is not required to comply with, but has elected to follow
as a “best practice.”

This Investment Policy shall be applicable to all affiliates and subsidiaries of the
Corporation, and to all other affiliates or subsidiary companies of the Corporation which may
hereafter be established by the Corporation and which are determined to be subject to the
requirements of Section 2925 of the Public Authorities Law (an “Affiliate”). Unless otherwise
indicated, all references to the “Corporation” herein shall also include the each Affiliate.

ARTICLE IT
Governing Principles

A. Investment Objectives.

The primary objectives of the Corporation’s investment policy are, in order of
priority, as follows: (i) to conform with all applicable federal, state and local laws and legal
requirements; (ii) to adequately safeguard principal; (iii) to provide sufficient liquidity to meet
all operating requirements of the Corporation; and (iv) to obtain a reasonable rate of return.

B. Diversification.

The policy of the Corporation is to diversify by investment instrument, by
maturity, and where practicable by financial institution.

75



C. Internal Controls.

1. All funds received by an officer or employee of the Corporation shall be
promptly deposited with the depositories designated by the Corporation (pursuant to Article TII.A
of this Investment Policy) for the receipt of such funds.

2. The Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer of the Corporation shall maintain or
cause to be maintained a proper record of all books, notes, securities or other evidence of
indebtedness held by the Corporation for investment and deposit purposes. Such record shall
identify the security, the fund for which it is held, the place where kept, the date of sale or other
disposition, and the amount received from such sale or other disposition,

3. The Corporation is responsible for establishing and maintaining an
internal control structure to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that deposits and
investments are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, that transactions
are executed in accordance with management’s authorization and recorded properly, and are
managed in compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

D. Authorized Financial Institutions and Dealers.

The Corporation shall maintain a list of financial institutions and dealers
approved for investment purposes and establish appropriate limits to the amount of investments
that may be outstanding with each financial institution or dealer. All financial institutions with
which the Corporation conducts business must be creditworthy as determined by criteria
established by the Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer of the Corporation. All banks with which the
Corporation does business shall provide their most recent Consolidated Report of Condition
(Call Report) at the request of the Corporation. Security dealers not affiliated with a bank shall
be required to be classified as reporting dealers affiliated with the New York Federal Reserve
Bank, as primary dealers.

E. Purchase of Investments.

The Corporation may contract for the purchase of investments directly, including
through a repurchase agreement, from an authorized trading partner. All purchased obligations,
unless registered or inscribed in the name of the Corporation, shall be purchased through,
delivered to, and held in the custody of a bank or trust company. Such obligations shall be
purchased, sold or presented for redemption or payment by such bank or trust company only in
accordance with prior written authorization from the officer authorized to make the investment.
All such transactions shall be confirmed in writing to the Corporation by the bank or trust
company and shall be held pursuant to a written custodial agreement as described in Article
IV.C.2 of this Policy.

F. Repurchase Agreements.

The Corporation may enter into repurchase agreements subject to the following
restrictions:

76



1. All repurchase agreements must be entered into subject to a Master
Repurchase Agreement.

2. Trading partners are limited to commercial banks or trust companies
authorized to do business in New York State and primary reporting
dealers.

3. Obligations shall be limited to obligations of the United States of America
and obligations guaranteed by agencies of the United States of America.

4. No substitution of securities will be allowed.

5. Obligations purchased pursuant to a repurchase agreement shall be held by
a custodian other than the trading partner, pursuant to a written custodial
agreement that complies the terms of Article IV.C.2 of this Policy.

ARTICLE 111
Investments

A. General Policy.

It is the general policy of the Corporation that funds not required for immediate
expenditure shall be invested as described in Article IILB below. Investments shall be made
with judgment and care, under circumstances then prevailing, which persons of prudence,
discretion and intelligence exercise in the management of their own affairs, not for speculation,
but for investment, considering the safety of the principal as well as the probable income, net of
fees, to be derived.

B. Permitted Investments.

The Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer is authorized to invest funds not required for
immediate expenditure in the following investments, which are permitted under Section 11 of the
General Municipal Law:

1. Special time deposit accounts in, or certificates of deposit issued by any
commercial bank or trust company that is located in and authorized to do business in New York
State, provided that such deposit account or certificate of deposit is secured in the same manner
as provided in Article IV.B of this Investment Policy and is payable within such time as the
proceeds shall be needed to meet expenditures for which the funds were obtained;

2. Obligations of the United States of America;

3. Obligations guaranteed by agencies of the United States of America where
the payment of principal and interest are guaranteed by the United States of America;

77



4. Obligations of the State of New York; and

5. Such other obligations as may be permitted under Section 11 of the
General Municipal Law.

All investments as provided in Sections B(2) through B(5) of this Article shall be
payable or redeemable at the option of the Corporation within such times as the proceeds will be
needed to meet expenditures for purposes for which the moneys were provided and, in the case
of obligations purchased with the proceeds of bonds or notes, shall be payable or redeemable at
the option of the Corporation within two years of the date of purchase, and comply with such
other requirements as set forth in Section 11 of the General Municipal Law.

ARTICLE IV
Deposits

A. Designation of Depositories.

The Corporation shall, by resolution, designate one or more commercial banks or
trust companies for the deposit of Corporation funds received by the Corporation. Such
resolution shall specify the maximum amount that may be kept on deposit at any time with each
bank or trust company. Such designations and amounts may be changed at any time by further
resolution of the Corporation.

B. Collateralization of Deposits.

All deposits of the Corporation (including certificates of deposit and special time
deposits) in excess of the amount insured under the provisions of the Federal Deposit Insurance
Act shall be secured as follows:

1. By a pledge of “eligible securities” with an aggregate “market value” as
defined by Section 10 of the General Municipal Law, at least equal to the aggregate amount of
deposits. A list of eligible securities is attached hereto as Schedule A.

2. By a pledge of a pro rata portion of a pool of eligible securities, having in
the aggregate a market value at least equal to the aggregate amount of deposits from all such
officers within New York State at such bank or trust company.

3. By an irrevocable letter of credit issued by a qualified bank (other than the
bank with which the money is being deposited or invested) in favor of the Corporation for a term
not to exceed ninety (90) days with an aggregate value equal to 140% of the aggregate amount of
deposits and the agreed upon interest, if any. A qualified bank is one whose commercial paper
and other unsecured short-term debt obligations are rated in one of the three highest rating
categories by at least one nationally recognized statistical rating organization or by a bank that is
in compliance with applicable minimum risk-based capital requirements.

78



4, By an eligible surety bond payable to the Corporation for an amount at
least equal to 100% of the aggregate amount of deposits and the agreed upon interest, if any,
executed by an insurance company authorized to do business in New York State, whose claims-
paying ability is rated in the highest rating category by at least two nationally recognized
statistical rating organizations. The terms and conditions of any eligible surety bond shall be
subject to Board approval.

C. Safekeeping and Collateralization.

Eligible securities used for collateralizing deposits shall be held by the depository
and/or third party bank or trust company subject to security and custodial agreements as
described below.

1. Security Agreement Reguirements. The security agreement shall provide
that eligible securities are being pledged to secure Corporation deposits together with agreed
upon interest, if any, and any costs or expenses arising out of the collection of such deposits
upon default. It shall also provide the conditions under which the securities may be sold,
presented for payment, substituted or released and the events which will enable the Corporation
to exercise its rights against the pledged securities. In the event that the securities are not
registered or inscribed in the name of the Corporation, such securities shall be delivered in a
form suitable for transfer or with an assignment in blank to the depository or its custodial bank.

2. Custodial Agreement Requirements. The custodial agreement shall
provide that securities held by the bank or trust company, as agent of and custodian for the
Corporation, will be kept separate and apart from the general assets of the custodial bank or trust
company and will not, in any circumstances, be commingled with or become part of the backing
for any other deposit or other liabilities. The custodial agreement should also describe that the
custodian shall confirm the receipt, substitution or release of the securities. The custodial
agreement shall provide for the frequency of revaluation of eligible securities and for the
substitution of securities when a change in the rating of a security may cause ineligibility. Such
agreement shall include all provisions necessary to provide the Corporation a perfected interest
in the securities and may include such other terms as the Board deems necessary.

ARTICLE V
Monitoring and Reporting Obligations

The following monitoring and reporting procedures shall be applicable in connection
with the deposit and investment of funds subject to this Investment Policy:

A. Monthly Monitoring.

Each cash and investment account statement will be reviewed and reconciled on a
monthly basis. The Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer will review each account reconciliation for
accuracy and will investigate any unusual items noted.

79



B. Monitoring and Reporting.

Pursuant to Section 2925(5) of the Public Authorities Law, the Treasurer or
Assistant Treasurer of the Corporation shall present a report at each meeting of the Board of
Directors which will include the following information: (i) the cash and investment balances of
the Corporation; (ii) identification of any new investments since the last report; (iii) information
concerning the selection of investment bankers, brokers, agents dealers or auditors since the last
report; and (iv) the names of the financial institutions holding Corporation deposits.

C. Annual Monitoring and Reporting.

1. On an annual basis, the Corporation will obtain an independent audit of its
financial statements, which shall include an audit of its cash and investments and the
Corporation’s compliance with this Investment Policy. The results of the independent audit shall
be made available to the Board of Directors at the time of its annual review of this Investment
Policy.

2. Pursuant to Section 2925(6) of the Public Authorities Law, staff shall, on
an annual basis, prepare and submit for Board approval an investment report which shall include
this Investment Policy, amendments to the Investment Policy since the last investment report, an
explanation of the Investment Policy and any amendments, the results of the annual independent
audit, the investment income record of the Corporation and a list of the total fees, commissions
or other charges paid to each investment banker, broker, agent, dealer and advisor rendering
investment associated services to the Corporation since the last investment report. The
investment report will be distributed to those individuals identified in Section 2925(7)(b) of the
Public Authorities Law. The Corporation shall make available to the public copies of its
investment report upon reasonable request therefor.

ARTICLE VI
Annual Review

This Investment Policy shall be reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors of the
Corporation on an annual basis.

ARTICLE VII
Savings Clause

Nothing contained in Section 2925 of the Public Authorities Law shall be deemed to
alter, affect the validity of, modify the terms of or impair any contract, agreement or investment
of funds made or entered into by the Corporation in violation of, or without compliance with the
provisions of Section 2925 of the Public Authorities Law.

80



SCHEDULE A
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES

Obligations issued by the United States of America, an agency thereof or a United States
government sponsored corporation or obligations fully insured or guaranteed as to the payment
of principal and interest by the United States of America, an agency thereof or a United States
government sponsored corporation.

Obligations issued or fully guaranteed by the International Bank for Reconstruction and
Development, the Inter-American Development Bank, the Asian Development Bank, and the
African Development Bank.

Obligations partially insured or guaranteed by any agency of the United States of America, at a
proportion of the market value of the obligation that represents the amount of the insurance or
guaranty.

Obligations issued or fully insured or guaranteed by the State of New York, obligations issued by
a municipal corporation, school district or district corporation of New York State or obligations
of any public benefit corporation which under a specific state statute may be accepted as security
for deposit of public moneys.

Obligations issued by states (other than the State of New York) of the United States rated in one
of the three highest rating categories by at least one nationally recognized statistical rating
organization.

Obligations of Puerto Rico rated in one of the three highest rating categories by at least one
nationally recognized statistical rating organization.

Obligations of counties, cities and other governmental entities of another state having the power
to levy taxes that are backed by the full faith and credit of such governmental entity and rated in
one of the three highest rating categories by at least one nationally recognized statistical rating
organization.

Obligations of domestic corporations rated in one of the two highest rating categories by at least
one nationally recognized statistical rating organization.

Any mortgage related securities, as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
which may be purchased by banks under the limitations established by federal bank regulatory
agencies.

Commercial paper and bankers” acceptances issued by a bank (other than the bank with which
the money is being deposited or invested) rated in the highest short-term category by at least one
nationally recognized statistical rating organization and having maturities of not longer than sixty
days from the date they are pledged.

Zero-coupon obligations of the United States government marketed as “Treasury STRIPS.”

81



Adopted: 4/7/2009

Re-Adopted: 4/6/2010
Re-Adopted: 3/29/2011
Re-Adopted: 3/27/2012
Re-Adopted: 3/26/2013
Re-Adopted: 3/25/2014

Amended and Adopted: 3/31/2015
Re-Adopted: 3/29/2016
Re-Adopted: 3/28/2017

Amended and Adopted: 3/27/2018
Re-adopted: 3/26/2019
Re-adopted: 3/31/2020
Re-adopted: 3/30/2021

82



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Street

Suite 404

Buffalo, New York 14203

phone: 716-856-6525

fux: 716-856-6754

web: buffalourbandevelopment.com

Item 3.1.6
MEMORANDUM

TO: BUDC Board of Directors

FROM: Mollie Profic, Treasurer

SUBJECT: Reimbursement of Brownfield Expenses from Brownfield Fund
DATE: March 29, 2022

The Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund (“BBRF” or the “Fund) allows certain third-party expenses
incurred by BUDC in connection with the development of Buffalo Lakeside Commerce Park (“BLCP”) to be
reimbursed. Under the Fund Administration Agreement, these out-of-pocket third-party costs “include, but are
not limited to, land acquisition, site investigations, site planning, remediation, road and utility construction and
related legal costs”.

On September 26, 2012, the Board designated the BLCP project as complete, which allowed for the expansion
of the use of BBRF funds to “other comparable projects” in the City of Buffalo. Riverbend, Northland and 308
Crowley Street were designated “comparable” projects by the Board beginning October 1, 2012, January 1,
2015 and June 26, 2018, respectively.

Since 2011, reimbursements have been approved for costs incurred related to BLCP, Riverbend and Northland.
Grant application fees related to Northland totaling $311,848 were approved for reimbursement by the Board on
May 10, 2018. Additional reimbursement of BLCP, Riverbend, Northland and 308 Crowley costs from J anuary
1,2018 — December 31, 2018 in the amount of $419,785 were approved by the Board on March 26, 2019, for a
total of $731,633 in 2018. 2019 project costs (including Restore NY 4 grant local match) of $787,080 were
approved by the Board on March 31, 2020. Additional costs related to unrelated business income tax (UBIT) of
$98,436 was approved, bringing total 2020 approved project costs to $886,366. 2020 project costs of $454,828
were approved by the Board on March 30, 2021. $52,900 of environmental cleanup costs approved by the
Board on March 28, 2017 were also reimbursed in 2021.

We are now requesting reimbursement of Riverbend and Northland costs incurred in 2021. Costs incurred
related to BLCP and 308 Crowley Street have been netted with land sale proceeds in 2021. Attachment 1 to this
memorandum details the $136,615 in eligible third-party costs that have been incurred by BUDC and which are
eligible for reimbursement by the Fund. After this reimbursement, the BBRF balance will be approximately
$444,500.

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Chairman of the Board ® Dennis Penman, Vice Chairman ® Brandye Merriweather, President
Rebecca Gandour, Executive Vice President ® Mollie Profic, Treasurer ® Atiqa Abidi, Assistant Treasurer ® Kevin . Zanner, Secretary

83



This item was reviewed with the Audit & Finance Committee members present on March 22, 2022.
Action:

I am requesting that the Committee recommend the approval of the reimbursement to BUDC of $136,615 in
third party Riverbend and Northland costs from the BBRF as outlined in Attachment 1 to this memorandum.

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Chairman of the Board ® Dennis Penman, Vice Chairman ® Brandye Merriweather, President
Rebecca Gandour, Executive Vice President ® Mollie Profic, Treasurer ® Atiga Abidi, Assistant Treasurer ® Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary

84



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation

Item 3.1.6 - Attachment 1

Summary of Costs Paid by BUDC & Reimbursable from BBRF

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

|Buffalo Lakeside Commerce Park B

Landscaping

Legal Costs

Property Insurance

Snow removal

Operations & Maintenance

Consultants

Utilities

Less: non-refundable portion of deposit on land purchase
Less: maintenance costs reimbursed by POA member
Netted against proceeds from land sale

|Riverbend

Taxes, Operations & Maintenance

|308 Crowley

Landscaping

Legal Costs

Consultants

Operations & Maintenance

Property Insurance

Netted against proceeds from land sale

|Northland*

Insurance

General Development

Operations & Maintenance

Legal Costs

Snow removal

Landscaping

714 Northland costs

Consultants

Utilities (net of reimbursements from tenant)
Marketing

Less: 612 Northland & 714 Northland rents received

Total

2021

$ 40,066
73,030

9,879

5,000

2,091

7,160

525

(12,000)

(3,806)
(121,945)

132

3,766
9,431
4,960
204
29,785
(48,146)

66,568
21,356
35,057
57,058
19,404
65,527
15,220
1,882
(145,589)

136,484

S 136,615

*The Northland costs represent those costs that are not eligible or reimbursed through grant agreement(s).

85



683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC

Financial Statements
February 28, 2022
(Unaudited)

86




683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
Balance Sheet

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash
Tenant receivable
Prepaid expenses
Total current assets

Prepaid rent - sublessee

Prepaid leasing commission

Tenant security deposits

Cash reserves

Equipment, net

Prepaid rent - Master Lease Agreement

Total assets

LIABILITIES & MEMBERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Due to related parties
Total current liabilities

Operating deficit loan
Tenant security deposits
Deferred rent liability - Master Lease Agreement
Deferred rent liability - sublessee
Distribution payable - priority return
Total noncurrent liabilities

MEMBERS' EQUITY

Total liabilities and net position

February January December
2022 2022 2021

59,338 $ 103,486 § 107,787
98,002 56,384 74,685
87,891 07,686 106,662
245,231 347,556 289,134
438,415 432,362 426,309
213,113 215,525 217,938
84,850 84,850 84,854
365,997 365,983 365,968
6,535 6,535 6,535
25,528,601 25,528,601 25,528,601
26,882,742 $ 26981412 § 26,919,339
65,106 $ 206,885 $ 144,550
254,935 254,935 254,935
320,041 461,820 399,485
132,359 132,359 132,359
84,850 84,850 84,854
5,541,953 5,425,682 5,309,411
6,058,660 6,104,749 6,150,839
263,941 263,941 263,941
12,081,763 12,011,581 11,941,404
14,480,938 14,508,011 14,578,450
$ 26882742 % 26981412 $ 26,919,339

87




683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC

Income Statement

Year-to-Date For the Period Ended:

Revenues:
Rental revenue
Additional rental revenue

Interest and other revenue

Total revenues

Expenses:
Rent expense
Payroll
Utilities expense
Insurance expense
Professional fees

Property management fee

Real estate taxes

Repairs and maintenance

Asset management fee

Miscellaneous expense

Depreciation expense
Total expenses

Net loss

Members' equity - beginning of period

Change in members' equity

Members' capital contributions

Distributions

Members' equity - end of period

$

February January December
2022 2022 2021
244,356 $ 122,178 § 1,468,498
122,120 61,060 648,676
49 25 261
366,525 183,263 2,117,435
313,290 156,645 1,879,742
21,889 10,675 149,471
37,726 44 594 150,924
20,317 10,158 120,629
9,030 2,413 85,899
11,622 5,811 67,515
4,081 241 19,626
46,082 23,165 120,242
- - 10,000
- - 7,920
- - 2,429
464,037 263,702 2,614,397
(97,512) (70,439) (496,962)
14,578,450 14,578 450 9,658,723
(97,512) (70,439) (496,962)
- - 5,680,517
- - (263,828)
14,480,938 $ 14,508,011 § 14,578,450




683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
Statement of Cash Flows

Year-to-Date For the Period Ended:

February January December
2022 2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (97,512) $ (70,439) § (496,962)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation - - 2,429
Decrease (increase) in assets:
Tenant receivables (23,317) 18,301 (44,152)
Prepaid insurance 18,771 8,976 (16,307)
Accrued rental income (12,106) (6,053) (119,344)
Prepaid leasing commission 4,825 2,413 (105,715)
Prepaid rent - Master Lease Agreement 232,542 116,271 1,393,059
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Security deposit liability (4) (4) 9,104
Accounts payable (79,444) 62,335 25,216
Due to related parties - - (126,346)
Operating deficit loan - - 82,428
Deferred rent liability - sublessee (92,179) (46,090) (553,074)
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities (48,424) 85,710 50,336
Cash flows from investing activities:
Equipment purchases - - -
Net cash used by investing activities - - -

Cash flows from financing activities:

Members' contributions - - 5,680,517

Distibutions - - (148,096)

Payments of prepaid rent under Master Lease Agreement - - (5,532,421)
Net cash provided by financing activities - - -
Net increase (decrease) in cash (48,424) 85,710 50,336
Cash and restricted cash - beginning of period 558,609 558,609 508,273
Cash and restricted cash - end of period $ 510,185 § 644319 $ 558,609

89



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
Budget to Actual Comparison

YTD YTD
February Budget
2022 2022 Variance
Revenues:

Rental revenue $ 244356 $ 245,492 § (1,136)
Additional rent revenue 122,120 105,833 16,287
Interest and other revenue 49 83 (34)

Total revenues 366,525 351,409 15,117

Expenses:

Rent expense 313,290 313,290 (0)
Payroll 21,889 28,960 (7.071)
Utilities 37,726 15,333 22,393
Insurance 20,317 20,500 (183)
Professional fees 9,030 11,333 (2,303)
Property management fee 11,622 12,333 (711)
Real estate taxes 4,081 4,000 81
Repairs and maintenance 46,082 35,333 10,749
Asset management fee - 1,667 (1,667)
Miscellaneous - 833 (833)
Depreciation - 405 (405)

Total expenses 464,037 443,989 20,048

Net income (loss) $ (97,512) $ (92,580) $ (4,932)

Budget variances:
- Additional rent represents amounts charged to tenants for common area maintenance (CAM) charges, insurance, etc.
This is ahead of budget due to higher utility costs charged back to tenants.
- Utility costs are trending above budget due to increases in rates. Costs incurred must be paid by the Master Tenant, then
billed back to tenants in the following month based on leased area. Some common area charges are absorbed.
- Repairs and maintenance includes building automation system costs and snow removal.

90



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation

Consolidated Financial Statements
February 28, 2022
(Unaudited)

92




BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Net Position

(Unaudited)
February January December
ASSETS 2022 2022 2021
Current assets:
Cash $ 2,116,236 $ 2594504 § 2,817,690
Restricted cash 4,535,026 4,477,069 4,487 462
Grants receivable 9,650,727 9,650,727 10,160,553
Other current assets 6,601,722 6,625,678 6,626,745
Total current assets 22,903,712 23,347,978 24,092,450
Noncurrent assets:
Loans receivable 9,666,400 9,666,400 9,666,400
Equity investment 178,051 178,051 178,051
Capital assets, net 108,125,225 108,455,225 108,785,225
Land and improvement held for sale, net 3,363,434 3,363,434 3,363,434
Total noncurrent assets 121,333,110 121,663,110 121,893,110
Total assets $ 144,236,822 $ 145,011,088 ¢ 146,085,560
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 423,597 $ 284,508 $ 959,332
Lines of credit 677,158 677,158 677,158
Loans payable, current 10,180,810 10,180,810 10,180,810
Unearned grant revenue 13,947,714 14,413,646 14,373,673
Total current liabilities 25,229,280 25,556,122 26,190,973
Note payable 257,381 257,381 257,381
Deferred rent liability 19,986,648 20,102,919 20,219,190
Loans payable, noncurrent 14,099,750 14,099,750 14,099,750
Total noncurrent liabilities 34,343,779 34,460,051 34,576,321
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 87,208,099 87,538,009 87,868,099
Restricted 3,699,600 3,639,243 3,624,405
Unrestricted (6,243,936) (6,182,426) (6,174,238)
Total net position 84,663,763 84,994,916 85,318,266
Total liabilities and net position $ 144,236,822 $ 145,011,088 §$ 146,085,560

Balance Sheet Notes:

- Capital assets decrease is due to monthly depreciation expense.
- Lines of credit: balances at end of February are BUDC: $0 ; 683 Northiand: $677,158. 683 Northland took no advances

during the month and BUDC's line is currently paid down.

- Unearned grant revenue decreased $466,000 due to recognition of grant revenue.

92



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Revenues, Expenses

and Changes in Net Position
Year to Date (with Comparative Data)
(Unaudited)

Operating revenues:
Grant revenue
Brownfield funds
Loan interest and commitment fees
Rental and other revenue
Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Development costs
Adjustment to net realizable value
Salaries and benefits
General and administrative
Management fee
Depreciation

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)
Non-operating revenues (expenses):
Loss on disposal
Interest expense
Amortization expense
Interest income
Total non-operating revenues (expenses)
Change in net position
Net position - beginning of period

Add: Capital contribution

Net position - end of period

February January December
2022 2022 2021

$ 425,958 § 3027 $ 4,425,140
30,170 - 40,821
16,111 8,055 112,107
343,717 174,458 14,869,875
815,955 185,540 19,447,943
142,600 10,429 4,253,370
26,535 - 98,713
60,944 31,420 482,778
519,857 105,589 2,091,562
13,600 6,800 70,408
660,000 330,000 4,225,517
1,423,536 484 238 11,222,348
(607,580) (298,697) 8,225,595
- - (118,382)
(47,001) (24,696) (450,479)
- - (43,675)

79 42 722
(46,923) (24,653) (611.814)
(654,503) (323,350) 7,613,781
85,318,266 85,318,266 76,742,639
- - 961,846

$ 84,663,762 $ 84994915 § 85,318,266

93



"SJuSLIS}E)S |BIDLIEUY PS)EPIIOSLIOD SU) J0) PAJEUILLS SQ O} SSNNUS oL usamjaq Aanoe syuasaidal siyj (1)

zeg'oez vyl ¢ (SZE'6LO'CLL) $ 6LZLEV'O0L $ 8£0'66V'6S $ 068'GZEL6
£0/'€09'v8 (0ze'0zc'68) G60'GZ8'SS ££9°008'S 656°80€'28
(9€6'cr2'9) (1) (oze‘oze'ss) (2£6'650°02) ££9°008°s 982'9€¢°29
009'669'c - - - 009'669'C
660'802°.8 - Zeo'seg'sl - 190'€2e'LL
BLLEVE'DE (622'281'28) 819'912'€E 6.Z'I8L'TS LEL'L29
oss'e60'vk (1) (622°281°28) 000'0€L'€L 6.2'181°25 052'69¢
89'086'61 - 89'086'61 - -
Lge'1se - - - 18€'262
08Z'622'52 (9zL118'L) 9.1'688'0L 9zZL'LIG") ¥08'6EE'VL
PLLLV6'EL - - - PLLIP6'EL
olg'osi oL - olg'osL'ol - -
8G1'229 - 8G1'219 - -
166'€zy $(1) (9zt'115'L) $ 905°LE $ 9ZL'LLS') $ 680'26¢
zeg'eez'vrl ¢ (SZE'6LOELL) $ 6LZ°LEF'00L $ 8€0'66¥'6S $  068'GZE'L6
OLL'SEE‘1ZL (661805 LLL) Zv8'66.'66 L16°861'65 961'9vS'€L
YEY'EOE'E - - - PEV'EOE'S
6zz'selL'sol - Zv8'G6.'66 - £8€'62¢'8
1S0'8LL (1) (0zs'0ze'6s) - L16'861'6G -
00%'999'6 (1) (622'281'28) - - 619'€58'1L9
ZLL'e06'2e (9z1'1L15'1) 11€'S€9 19 ¥6E'6LL'ET
2211099 (1) (9ziLis'L) 65E'ZelL Sl §.1'086'L
121'089'6 - - - 121'059'6
9Z0°GES'Y - £61'88¢ - ges'orL'y
gez'oLL'z $ - $  9zs'vLL $ 29 $ 859°L00'C
lejoL (1) suoneunuyz m 971 °0LM £89 uopelodiod
puejyyoN £89 yuawdojanag

uequn ojeyng

uonisod jau pue sanyiqel) (ej0]

uopisod jau |e10]

paousaiun
pajousay

sjosse [eyded uj JUSWISaAUl JON

NOILISOd 13N

sanIqe|| JUSLINSUOU [B)0 )
Jusunouou ‘a|qefed sueo
Ayngen yuel pauseq

ajqeded ajoN

:sal)Iqel] JUsLINIUoN

soniigel| [ejoL

anuaAal juelb paweaun
juaung ‘s|geded sueo

upad Jo aur

¢ osuadxs panooe pue sjqeled sjunosoy
-sanljigel) jusnd

salrmavin

sjesse [8J01

SJOSSE JUSLINOUOU JBjo |
18U ‘ajes 1o} pjay JuawsAoidwi pue pue
Jou ‘sjasse |ejiden
juswsaAul Ainbg
a|qeAlsoa1 sueo
:S]9SSE JUaLINJUON

S)9SSe JUDLIND 8]0
S]9SSE JUBLND 1BIYD
3|qeAIRDS. SJURID)

yseo pajouissy
yseo

:Sjasse Juainy)

$13SSV

(paypneun) zzoz ‘sz Aeniqag
UoRISOd JON JO Judwale)s Bupepljosuon

NOLLVIOd¥OD LNJN40TIAIA Nvadn Ovddng

924



‘SjUSWale)S |eIouBLL. PBEPIIOSLOD 8U) JOy pejeulw@ aq o] Saljjua ay) uaamiag Ajialoe syussaidas siyl (})

£€9.'€99'98 $ (0z6'0ze'6S) $ S60'G28'GS $ €£9'008'G $ GS6'85€°C8 $ pouad jo pus - uoisod JaN
- ) - - - - suonnquIuos [eyded :ppy
GozZ'ale’se (1) (ozs'0ze's6S) 0Lg'212'98 £6.'708'S 2z1'119'Z8 J1eak jo Buiuuibaqg - uoisod JoN
{€05'v59) . (s1z'z6e) (0ZL'v) (891'852) uoysod jou uj obuey)
(cz6'oP) - (Lie'sy) - (z1L9'4) (sesuadxa) senuaaal Hunesado-uou [e1o ]
- - - - - sasuadxafewoou Jauyy0
6L - 6 - 0l awodU) Jsalalu|
- - - - - asuadxs uoneziuowy
(100'2¥) - (oze'sy) - (z89'1) asuadxa jsala|
(sesuadxa) sanuaaal Bunesado-uopn
(085'209) - (c06'9vE) (ozi'p) (955'952) awooul Bunessdo
0e6'eZi'L - ¥61°099 oclL'y Lee'e6s. sosuadxa Gunesado 210
000099 - 000°099 - - uonepaidaqg
009'clL - - - 009'€) 23] Juswwabeuepy
268'61S - 6l ozL'y £G'GLS aAleisiuiuipe pue [elausg)
1609 - - - €¥6'09 sjjeusq pue seueles
Ges'9e - - - GeG'oz anjeA a|gezijead Jou 0} juawsnipy
009'zyL . - - 009'Z¥L 1500 Juswdojeaaq
:sosuadxs Bunelsdo
GS6'S18 - 06Z'cle - 699°20S anuana. Bunesado |ejoy
- - - - - 18U 'sa|es pue| Woly Spaasold
LL1epe - 06zZ'cle - 1Z¥'0g 8NUBABI JBUIO puE [ejusy
LLL'9L - - - Lot $934 JusSW)IWWOI pue }sals)ul ueo]
oLl'0¢ - - - 0108 spuny p|ayumoig
866°GZh $ - $ - $ - $ 8g6'szy $ aNUBABI JuBIS)
:sanuaaal bunesado
lejol (1) suopeunuyz oT1 277 '01M €89 uopesodio)

PUEJYON £89

yswdojanag
ueqin ojeyng

(peupneun) Zzoz ‘gz A1eniqag ojeq o} Jea)

uonisod JaN ul sabueyn pue sesuadxy ‘sshusasy Jo Jusawale)s Bunepijosuo)

NOILVY

0d¥0D LNIW4OTIAIA Nvadn Ovddng

95



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Budget to Actual Comparison
Year to Date February 28, 2022 (Unaudited)

YTD YTD
February Budget
2022 2022 Variance
Operating revenues:
Grant revenue $ 425958 § 2,234,167 $ (1,808,209)
Brownfield funds 30,170 11,167 19,003
Loan interest and commitment fees 16,111 16,111 (0)
Rental and other revenue 343,717 334,555 9,162
Proceeds from land sales, net - (11,917) 11,917
Total operating revenues 815,955 2,584,082 (1,768,127)
Operating expenses:
Development costs 142,600 117,805 24,795
Adjustment to net realizable value 26,535 - 26,535
Salaries and benefits 60,944 80,805 (19,861)
General and administrative 519,857 1,746,254 (1,226,397)
Management fee 13,600 15,750 (2,150}
Depreciation 660,000 680,333 (20,333)
Total operating expenses 1,423,536 2,640,948 (1.217.412)
Operating income (loss) (607,580) (56,866) (5650,715)
Non-operating revenues (expenses):
Interest expense (47,001) (65,612) 18,611
Interest income 79 167 (88)
Other income - 160,243 (150,243)
Total non-operating revenues (expenses) (46,923) 84,797 (131,720)
Change in net position $ (654,503) $ 27931 $ (682,434)

Budaget variances:
- Grant revenue relates mainly to Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park and Northland Solar Projects. The variance is due to lower grant reve
recognition than anticipated as a resuit of project timing.
- Rental and other revenue consists of recognition of prepaid rent income (straight-line basis) by 683 Northland LLC from 683
Northiand Master Tenant, LLC, and rent income at properties other than 683 Northland Avenue.
- Development costs consist of property/project-related costs (e.g. construction, operations and maintenance, legal and utility
costs). Some costs will be capitalized upon project completion.
- General and administrative costs consist of consultants, insurance, rents, audit, marketing and other G&A costs. Rents include BUDC
offices, Buffalo Manufacturing Works base rent (per ESD grant agreement) and recognition of prepaid rent for Workforce Training Center.
Consultant costs for Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park are also captured here, with the variance due mainly to timing.
- Depreciation relates mainly to capitalized assets at 683 Northland Avenue.
- Interest expense represents cost of borrowing related to construction of 683 Northland and the related line of credit.

96



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Street

Suite 404

Buffalo, New York 14203

phone: 716-856-6525

firx: 716-856-6754

web: buffalourbandevelopment.com

Item 3.3
MEMORANDUM
TO: Buffalo Urban Development Corporation Board of Directors
FROM: Thomas Kucharski, Governance Committee Chair
SUBJECT: Governance Committee Report

DATE: March 29, 2022

At the March 8, 2022 Governance Committee meeting, the Governance Committee reviewed the following
items that do not require any action by the full Board of Directors:

2021 Mission Statement & Performance Measurements w/ Results
Board of Directors 2021 Self-Evaluation Process

Governance Committee 2021 Self-Evaluation Process

Code of Ethics

Governance Committee Charter

Travel, Conferences, Meals & Entertainment Policy

2021 Summary of Employee Benefits

PAAA Training Opportunities

New Board Member Orientation Process

Property Disposition Guidelines

The Governance Committee also reviewed and recommended that the following items be forwarded to the full
Board for approval:

2022 Mission Statement and Performance Measurements (Item 3.3.2 to follow)
Procurement Policy (Item 3.3.3 to follow)

Property Disposition Guidelines (Item 3.3.4 to follow)

Updated Whistleblower Policy (See updated policy attached as Item 3.3.5)

2021 Public Authorities Annual Report (Item 3.1.6 to follow)

No changes were recommended to the Procurement Policy or the Property Disposition Guidelines. The
Committee is recommending a modification to the BUDC Whistleblower Policy to conform the policy to a
recent change in NYS law governing whistleblower protections.

Action: The Board of Directors is requested to approve the following: (i) 2022 Mission Statement and

Performance Measurements; (ii) Procurement Policy; (iii) Property Disposition Guidelines; (iv) Whistleblower
Policy, as amended; (v) and the 2021 Public Authorities Report

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Chairman of the Board ® Dennis Penman, Vice Chairman ® Brandye Merriweather, President
Rebecca Gandour, Executive Vice President ® Moliie Profic, Treasurer ® Atiga Abidi, Assistant Treasurer ® Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary

97



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC)

2021 Mission Statement and Performance Measurements (w/ Results)
Date Approved: 3/30/2021

BUDC Mission Statement:

The mission of Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC) is to support the urban
economic development efforts of the region through acquisition, remediation and management of
distressed properties, and to engage in related real estate development activities for the purpose
of attracting and/or retaining new and existing businesses to the City as part of the region. The
mission of BUDC also includes supporting the revitalization of downtown Buffalo by serving as
the lead management entity for Buffalo Building Reuse Project (BBRP) and Race for Place
initiatives, working in collaboration with the City of Buffalo; including the coordination of
financial assistance for downtown adaptive re-use projects and public right-of-way
improvements.

BUDC Performance Measurements:

Goal: To reclaim abandoned and distressed land and buildings for future
development.

Objective A:  Continue to establish the Northland Beltline (“Northland”) as the prime
urban area for reclamation, by implementing the redevelopment strategy
and continuing to engage in appropriate planning processes and leasing

Jor future development.

New Measurement: Negotiate and execute a lease with Bank on Buffalo for branch bank
space at Northland Central.

Result: Negotiated and executed a lease amendment with Bank on Buffalo.

Measurement: Assemble any additional properties that become available which are
needed to enhance Northland.

Result: No additional properties have become available that were needed to
enhance Northland.

Measurement: Obtain City of Buffalo Planning Board approval for various phases of
Northland redevelopment as they occur.
Result: No City of Buffalo Planning Board approvals were needed.

Measurement: Obtain State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) approval to maximize
the preservation of structures that will contribute to the redevelopment of
Northland and the select demolition of structures that are an impediment
to the redevelopment.

Result: No new structures were introduced to SHPO for approval.

98



Measurement;

Result:

Measurement;

Result:

Measurement:

Result:

Measurement:

Result;

Measurement:

Result:

Measurement:

Result:

Measurement:

Result:

Measurement:

Result:

Measurement:

Result:

Manage all compliance and milestones related to the financing for
Northland Central; including Historic Preservation Tax Credits,
Brownfield Cleanup Program Tax Credits, New Market Tax Credits, and
bridge loan financing.

Compliance milestones were met, but reimbursements for Brownfield
Cleanup Program Tax Credits are delayed due to the standard audit
process.

Negotiate and execute any lease agreement amendments with tenants at
Northland Central, 714 Northland, and 612 Northland.

Negotiated and executed a second lease renewal with Well Worth
Products, Inc for 714 Northland.

Continue to implement the Soil (Site) Management Plan (SMP) for
Northland Central, under the NY'S Brownfield Cleanup Program.
Remedial investigations completed at Northland Central and Site (soil)
Management Plan (SMP) implemented.

Continue effective M/WBE Utilization and Workforce Participation
programs for remaining Northland construction.

M/WBE Utilization and Workforce Participation programs continued to be
effective.

Continue to implement the Restore NY V Grant initiatives, including
renovations at 541 E. Delavan and select demolition at 777 Northland.
541 E. Delavan construction paused by COVID pandemic.

Continue the implementation of the Historic Preservation Mitigation
measures agreed to with the State Historic Preservation Office, according
to the Memorandum of Agreement (MOA).

MOA measures implemented for all development activities.

Continue to work with the NYSDEC regarding Superfund investigation
and remediation at the 537 E. Delavan site.
NYSDEC is continuing to monitor all wells through December 31, 2022.

If funding becomes available, begin renovations or other actions necessary
to bring other space across Northland to a “ready-to-lease” condition.
BUDC is actively pursuing funding as part of the regional application to
the Economic Development Administration (EDA)’s Build Back Better
program.

Continue the Community Outreach Program, with one additional Public
Meeting and one additional Stakeholder Advisory Committee Meeting,
and additional community outreach through social media.

The Community Outreach Program was centered on the Northland
Business Network Series. Two additional presentations were organized

929



Measurement:

Result;

Measurement:

Result:

Measurement:

Result:

Measurement;

Result;

Objective B:

and held via a Zoom platform with break-out sessions. Northland video
series released 1% video in Northland Marketing video series.

Continue to implement the green infrastructure plan for 537 E. Delavan, if
construction resumes.

Based on the paused development activity at 537 E. Delavan, no further
green infrastructure work was advanced.

Execute a contract with the consultant team for the Community Solar and
Microgrid project. Initiate the pre-development planning, analysis, and
financing phases of the project.

Negotiated and executed a consulting agreement with Frey Electric to
advance the pre-development planning, analysis, and financing phases of
the project.

Continue to work with energy stakeholders to solicit funding from Eaton
Corporation to create an Energy Experience Center at Northland Central,
and get construction of same underway.

Due to the COVID pandemic, the energy stakeholders have put this
initiative on hold, but have remained in communication with Eaton
Corporation.

Finalize the procurement process and execute a contract with the
consultant team for the tax credit, legal, and accounting services needed to
determine the feasibility of moving forward with a renovation project at
631 Northland.

631 Northland is included in the Build Back Better program application.
If successful, consultant contracts will be executed.

Secure funds to continue to advance the Northland Beltline projects.

New Measurement: Pursue a Grant Disbursement Agreement (GDA) with Empire

Result:

State Development (ESD) for $1.8M in additional funding for the
Northland Community Solar & Microgrid Project.

ESD has been active in the pre-development activities. An application to
the ESD Board is anticipated in early 2022 for the $1.8M in additional
funding.

New Measurement: Draw-down all funds related to the $200,000 GDA (#133,857)

Result:

with ESD for the Northland Community Solar & Microgrid Project.
An imprest account has been established for the $200,000 in ESD funds.
One draw was completed in 2021.

New Measurement: Submit an application to National Grid for additional funding

Result:

related to the Northland Community Solar & Microgrid Project.
Once pre-development is complete, an application will be submitted to
National Grid for additional funding related to the Northland Community

100



Solar & Microgrid Project. The project is also included in the Build Back
Better scope of work.

New Measurement: Continue to draw-down funds related to the City’s Restore NY
V GDA (#AD009) for new work to be completed at 541 E. Delavan
and 777 Northland.

Result: No new work was completed.

New Measurement: Submit all documentation for the 6 installment of Historic Tax
Credits related to the development of Northland Central.

Result: Documentation for the 6™ installment of Historic Tax Credits related to the
development of Northland Central is delayed due to the ongoing 2019
BTC standard audit process.

New Measurement: Receive 2018 Brownfield Tax Credit (BTC) refund from NYS
related to the Northland Central redevelopment.
Resuit: Received.

New Measurement: Complete submittal and receive 2019 BTC refund from NYS
related to the Northland Central redevelopment.

Result: 2019 BTC was submitted in September 2020 but has not yet been
received.

New Measurement: Complete submittal for 2020 BTC refund from NYS related to
the Northland Central redevelopment.

Result: 2020 BTC refund claim was submitted in October 2021. The beginning
stages of an audit are underway.

New Measurement: Submit an application to the US Economic Development
Administration (EDA) for funding related to the rehabilitation of 631

Northland.

Result: 631 Northland is part of the regional application to the EDA’s Build Back
Better program.

Measurement: Close-out all documentation related to the $10.3M GDA (#Z415) with
ESD for Northland Central.

Result: This grant was fully closed out in April 2021.

Measurement: Draw-down all remaining funds related to the $6M GDA (#AC426) with
ESD for Northland Workforce Training Center equipment.

Result: Documentation to draw down the remaining funds will be submitted to
ESD in early 2022.

Measurement: Identify additional funding sources (i.e. grants and tax credits) and income
opportunities for future phases of Northland Beltline projects.

Result: Northland Corridor Phase 3 is included in the regional application to the
EDA’s Build Back Better program.

101



Objective C:  Continue to transition Northland management responsibilities to the
Northland Project Manager.

New Measurement: Follow-through on the sub-division of 537 E. Delavan to create
new marketable properties.

Result: Survey documentation was finalized in early January 2022 and submitted
to Erie County Real Property Services.

New Measurement: Complete land swap with Plesh for Northland Central parking
lot development.

Result: Completed.

New Measurement: Manage construction of 714 Northland parking lot
improvements.

Result: Managed clean up and minor improvements to 714 Northland parking lot.

New Measurement: Coordinate the environmental remediation at 1669 Fillmore.
Result: All tank removals compléted to NYSDEC satisfaction at 1669 Fillmore.

New Measurement: Re-engage Watts Engineers and 34 Group to resume Phase 1C
construction at 541 E. Delavan.

Resulit: Delayed due to funding constraints but included as part of the regional
application to the EDA’s Build Back Better program.

New Measurement: Re-engage 34 Group to begin select demolition at 777
Northland.

Result: Delayed due to funding constraints but included as part of the regional
application to the EDA’s Build Back Better program.

New Measurement: Coordinate involvement with University of Buffalo Urban

Design class regarding the plan for Houdaille Place at 537 E. Delavan.
Result: Project did not move forward.

New Measurement: On a monthly basis, coordinate all Northland property
maintenance and repairs with Mancuso Management.

Result: Met with Mancuso Management on a monthly basis to coordinate all
Northland property maintenance and repairs.

Measurement: Complete the Beltline Brownfield Opportunity Area (BOA) Nomination
Document and submit to the NYS Department of State for review.

Result: Beltline BOA continues to be under review by New York Department of
State.

Measurement: Further Development of the Northland Small Business Networking Series.
Schedule two (2) additional events in 2021.

Result: The Community Outreach Program was centered on the Northland
Business Network Series. Two additional presentations were organized
and held via a Zoom platform with break-out sessions.

102



Measurement: Continue to work with LISC to implement components of the Northland
Corridor Delavan Grider Community Enhancement Project from 2020.

Result: BUDC continues to explore ways to collaborate with LISC in the Delavan Grider
neighborhood.

Measurement: Complete required annual and bi-annual compliance reports for
ECIDA and NTCIC/Tax Credit Investors.
Result: All reports produced on a timely basis.

Objective D:  Prepare land and buildings for development through remediation, select
demolition, infrastructure upgrades/construction, site improvements, and
amenity construction.

New Measurement: Continue to move the 308 Crowley site to the point that partial
demolition can occur.

Result: Phase 1 of demolition has been completed. Phase 2 of demolition is
anticipated to begin shortly.

New Measurement: Finalize the Brownfield Cleanup Work Plan with NYS
Department of Environmental Conservation for 193 Ship Canal
Parkway.

Result: Work plan continues to be negotiated between NYSDEC, G.W. Burnett
and BUDC.

Measurement: Assemble appropriate properties throughout the City to increase inventory
for future brownfield projects.
Result: No additional properties were assembled.

Measurement: Number of acres remediated to shovel-ready condition.
Result: None

Measurement: Number of building square feet rehabilitated to leasable condition.
Result: No additional buildings were rehabilitated.

Goal: To attract and/or retain new and existing businesses to the City and
region.

Objective A:  Market BUDC properties as an urban alternative for new construction of
light manufacturing, distribution and office facilities.

New Measurement: Close on the Land Sale Agreement with Uniland Development
for 255 Ship Canal Parkway.
Result: Land sale of 225 Ship Canal closed.

103



New Measurement: Close on the Land Sale Agreement with Zephyr Investors for

Result;

various BLCP parcels.
Land sale agreement with Zephyr Investors was amended to accommodate
additional due diligence.

New Measurement: Negotiate and close on a Land Sale Agreement with G.W.

Result:

Measurement:

Result:

Measurement;

Result:

Measurement:

Result:

Objective B:

Measurement;
Result:

Measurement:

Result:

Measurement:
Result:

Objective C:

Burnett for 193 Ship Canal Parkway.
Land sale agreement with G.W. Burnett is in active negotiations.

Assist in a minimum of four (4) prospects interested in purchasing land
and/or buildings.

Continued to work with three (3) land purchasers and prospects at BLCP,
In addition, new interest is developing for the purchase of land in the
Northland Corridor.

A minimum of six (6) “earned” media appearances and five hundred (500)
website page and social media views.
Both measurements exceeded.

Maintain infrastructure amenities to enhance the marketability of the
BLCP and Northland properties.

All infrastructure amenities were maintained properly at both BLCP and
the Northland Corridor. In addition, a property owners association was
created to ensure additional maintenance and sustainability.

Support the economic development efforts of the City of Buffalo Office of
Strategic Planning (OSP) with the task of expanding or relocating
businesses of a diverse nature in the City.

Close on the sale of a portion of 308 Crowley to Enterprise Folding Box.
Closed on an additional sale to Enterprise Folding Box Company
including a cinder block building for their expansion.

Assist in identifying parcels of land currently in or to be added to
marketable inventory.
Working on another sale of land to Enterprise Folding Box Company.

Number of businesses contacted, as directed by OSP.
Approximately sixty (60) businesses contacted. In addition, BUDC

partnered with OSP on various small business pandemic recovery
efforts.

Support the economic development efforts of the City by maintaining
procurement practices that encourage the participation of local (50%,),
minority (25%), and women-owned (5%) businesses.

104



Measurement: All informal bids, formal bids, request for proposals, and requests for
qualifications will include the City’s participation goals listed above.

Result: Standard procedure for all proposals and bids.

Goal: To support the revitalization of Downtown Buffalo.
Objective A:  Serve as lead management entity for BBRP/Race for Place initiatives.

Measurement: A minimum of twenty (25) companies contacted.
Result: Approximately fifty (50) businesses contacted.

Objective B:  Coordinate financial assistance for adaptive re-use projects.
Measurement: A minimum of two (2) projects assisted.

Result: Worked with several property owners to coordinate financial assistance.

Objective C:  Manage lending program as an incentive for adaptive re-use and/or new
comstruction projects.

Measurement: A minimum of two (2) loans approved and closed.
Result: No loans approved or closed.

Measurement: Implement approved loan modifications for the Downtown Loan Program.
Result: Currently under review by loan committee.

Objective D:  Assist coordination of public right-of-way and public space improvements.

New Measurement: Promote and coordinate added creativity and innovation within
the public realm.

Result: Coordinated with the City of Buffalo and partners on innovation concepts.
Also received notice of funding award for an innovative placemaking
grant. Coordinated with City of Buffalo and partners on small business
social distancing initiatives to aid in small business Covid-19 recovery.

New Measurement: Further the recommendations included in the Future of
Mobility Report.

Result: Coordinated with the City of Buffalo to further the future of mobility
report recommendations including Requests for Proposals related to
Curbside Management; Mohawk Ramp Redevelopment and
Transportation Demand Management in the central business district.

105



New Measurement: Coordinate a series of Innovative Focus Group sessions to gain

Result:

community input on upcoming smart city technologies and related
infrastructure improvements.

Conducted additional outreach via virtual meetings, due to covid BUDC
plans to execute additional concepts in 2022.

New Measurement: Further the recommendations from Race for Place for

Result:

Measurement:
Result;

Measurement;

Result:

Measurement:
Result;

Measurement;

Result:

Measurement:

Result;

Objective E:

Result:

continued outreach through community focus groups.

Conducted additional outreach via virtual meetings, due to covid BUDC
plans to execute additional concepts in 2022.

A minimum of two (2) city blocks and one (1) public space improved.
Three (3) city blocks improved.

Identify funding and develop waterfront public realm strategy and
continue waterfront stakeholder coordination efforts.

Submitted successful application for waterfront public realm strategy.
Facilitated four (4) waterfront coordination meetings.

Finalize Flower District / Ellicott Corridor Concept Plan.
Finalized and released Ellicott Street Placemaking Strategy.

Facilitate a strategy to improve downtown infrastructure maintenance and
sustainability with the six partners.

BUDC continues to work with partners on concepts to build private public
partnerships for public realm to expand downtown business improvement
district.

Coordinate with six (6) partners to develop strategy for a capital campaign
to solicit private funding for public realm improvements.

Coordinated with the City of Buffalo and partners on concepts to build
private public partnerships for public realm.

Coordinate additional phases of Queen City Pop Up (QCPU).

Successfully re-launched QCPU Holiday Edition featuring five (5)
retailers.

New Measurement: Explore outdoor QCPU Concepts.

Result:

Measurement:

BUDC is currently in coordination with the City on funding on QCPU
outdoor editions.

Coordinate at least two (2) technical assistance and/or business recovery
sessions for QCPU retailers.

106



Result: Provided financial assistance and business recovery opportunities to
retailers.

Measurement: Maintain a webpage and directory for/of QCPU participants.
Result: BUDC is in the process of website design and directory for retailers.

Objective F:  Continue coordination of the publication, marketing, and online
promotion of Buffalo’s Race for Place Plan.

Result: BUDC also promoted Race for Place on several webinars, podcasts, and
local radio stations to increase awareness.

New Measurement: Expand digital presence for raceforplacebuffalo.com.

Result: BUDC is in the process of enhancing race for place landing page into the
BUDC webpage for enhanced visibility.

Objective G: Build awareness of Downtown programs, tools, and incentives.

New Measurement: At least two (2) earned appearances on regional and/or national
platforms.

Measurement: At least two (2) presentations to business associations, professional
organizations, and community groups.

Result: Presentations to Urbanism Next National, City- of Buffalo Board of Block
Clubs, WUFO radio, Smart Growth Network Conference, Mass Dept. of
Transportation Innovation Conference, Catching up with the Clerk Radio
program. Media appearances related to the launch and promotion of the
Buy Black Buffalo “Lunch Crawl and Happy Hour” to support downtown
black owned restaurants in collaboration with the City of Buffalo.

Objective H:  Promote the construction of additional units of downtown housing.

Measurement: The announcement of two hundred fifty (250) units to be constructed.
Result: Announcement of new housing exceeded 250 units.

Objective I:  Coordinate the resolution or redevelopment of targeted problem
properties within the BBRP boundaries.

Measurement: A minimum of three (3) problem properties addressed.
Result: Assisted with two (2) properties.

10

107



Goal: To transform LaSalle Park into Ralph C. Wilson Centennial Park, and a
world class waterfront park and recreational amenity that will serve both
neighborhood residents, regional citizens and visitors.

Objective A:

Assist the City of Buffalo and other partners with the management of the
design and due diligence phases of the project.

New Measurement: Negotiate and execute contract with Michael Van Valkenburgh

Measurement;

Result;

Associates for Construction Documents.

Manage the design team and the design process to ensure that the project
proceeds on schedule and within budget.

Managed the design team by attending weekly meetings with the core
team made up of City of Buffalo and Ralph C. Wilson Jr. Foundation
members and bi-weekly meetings with MVAA, UBRI and Buffalo
Waterkeeper to ensure milestones are completed.

Measurement: Negotiate and execute contracts for additional required due diligence

Result;

investigations, NEPA and other regulatory approvals.

The project management team Gardiner and Theobald has organized all
regulatory approvals. We have completed all environmental due diligence
investigations and approvals such as SEQR and SHPO on as need basis,
the NEPA will be completed in 2022.

Objective B:  Assist the City of Buffalo and other partners with the overall management

Measurement:

Result:

Objective C:

Measurement:

Result:

Measurement:

of the project.

Manage the contract and deliverable for the project management team
contracted to provide assistance.

Negotiated and executed a contract extension with the project
management team of Gardiner and Theobald for bid and contractual,
construction, post construction, and final accounting services.

Assist the City of Buffalo and other partners with identifying, securing and
managing funding for the implementation of the project.

Work with the Ralph C. Wilson Foundation to apply for and manage
grants that they have committed for the design and implementation of the
project.

BUDC managed previously awarded Wilson Foundation Grants RG-1812-
06793, RG-1904-0735, RG-2002-08808, RG-2003-08836, RG-2011-
09787, and RG-2011-09787. BUDC also applied for Grant 5 in fall of
2021and received award notice in January 2022.

Work with other partners, including Buffalo Niagara Waterkeeper and the
Ralph C. Wilson Foundation, to identify additional funding sources to
implement and construct the project.

11

108



Result: BUDC, in collaboration with partners, identified several funding
opportunities to close the funding gap on the construction of the park,
including the National Park Service Land and Water Conservation Fund

grant.

Measurement: Prepare, submit, execute and manage funding applications and agreements
that are secured for the project.

Result: BUDC assisted in the preparation and management of numerous funding
applications in collaboration with the City of Buffalo, Buffalo
Waterkeeper and others.

Objective D:  Assist the City of Buffalo and other partners with ensuring effective and
sustainable long-term maintenance and operations of the park.

Measurement: Work with the City of Buffalo and the design and project management
team to ensure that the final design of the park is sustainable from a
maintenance and operations perspective and provides equitable access to
the surrounding community.

Result: Worked Received the construction documents at 50 and currently all
parties are reviewing and commenting, Established Ralph C. Wilson Jr.
Centennial Park Conservancy.

Measurement: Assist the Ralph C. Wilson Foundation, the City of Buffalo and other
project partners to identify and secure funding and a governance structure
to ensure sustainable long-term maintenance and operations of the park.

Result: Established the Ralph C. Wilson Jr. Centennial Park Conservancy for
future funding and maintenance of the part post construction.

Goal: To effectively manage property, development projects and initiatives.

Objective A:  Engage in all aspects of productive property management including
marketing, leasing, maintenance, etc.

Measurement: Keep property related costs within budget.
Result: Property related costs were maintained within budget.

Objective B:  Support development projects by working with regional utility companies
to include their grant programs in local initiatives. Package other
economic development incentives to enhance the marketability of
properties.

Measurement: A minimum of two (2) projects referred.
Result: All new projects were referred to National Grid and National Fuel for
grant program consideration, including new Northland Central tenants.

12

109



13

110



Additional Questions:

Have the board members acknowledged that they have read and understood the mission of
BUDC?

The Board discussed and approved the BUDC’s mission statement at the March 30, 2021 Board
meeting.

‘Who has the power to appoint the management of BUDC?

The Board of Directors appoints the management of BUDC to the positions of President,
Executive Vice-President, Vice-President, Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer and Secretary.

If the Board appoints management, do you have a policy you follow when appointing the
management of BUDC?

The Board follows the BUDC By-Laws when appointing management.

Briefly describe the role of the Board and the role of management in the implementation of
the mission.

Management works closely with the Chair, Vice-Chair and Committee Chairs in formulating an
on-going work plan for management to carry out the strategic goals related to the mission of the
organization. Board members review and approve individual projects, initiatives and transactions
to ensure that they are consistent with BUDC’s mission. Board members also review and
approve the annual budget to ensure resources are allocated appropriately to meet the BUDC’s
mission.

Has the Board acknowledged that they have read and understood the responses to each of
these questions?

Yes, these questions and responses were discussed and approved by the Board at the March 30,
2021 Board meeting.

14

111



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC)

2022 Mission Statement and Performance Measurements
Date Approved:

BUDC Mission Statement:

The mission of Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC) is to support the urban
economic development efforts of the region through acquisition, remediation and management of
distressed properties, and to engage in related real estate development activities for the purpose
of attracting and/or retaining new and existing businesses to the City as part of the region. The
mission of BUDC also includes supporting the revitalization of downtown Buffalo by serving as
the lead management entity for Buffalo Building Reuse Project (BBRP) and Race for Place
initiatives, working in collaboration with the City of Buffalo; including the coordination of
financial assistance for downtown adaptive re-use projects and public right-of-way
improvements. BUDC also serves as the lead management entity for the Ralph C. Wilson, Jr.
Centennial Park transformation.

BUDC Performance Measurements:

Goal: To reclaim abandoned and distressed land and buildings for future
development.

Objective A:  Continue to establish the Northland Beltline (“Northland”) as the prime
urban area for reclamation, by implementing the redevelopment strategy
and continuing to engage in appropriate planning processes and leasing
Jor future development.

New Measurement: Complete Phase 2 EDA Build Back Better Application for 631
Northland; 612 Northland; 541 East Delavan Ave.; 777 Northland
Ave; Clean Energy Microgrid and other relevant infrastructure
improvements

Measurement: Assemble any additional properties that become available which are
needed to enhance Northland.

Measurement: Obtain City of Buffalo Planning Board approval for various phases of
Northland redevelopment as they occur.

Measurement: Obtain State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) approval to maximize
the preservation of structures that will contribute to the redevelopment of
Northland and the select demolition of structures that are an impediment
to the redevelopment.

Measurement: Manage all compliance and milestones related to the financing for
Northland Central; including Historic Preservation Tax Credits,
Brownfield Cleanup Program Tax Credits, New Market Tax Credits, and
bridge loan financing.

112



Measurement:

Measurement:

Measurement:

Measurement:

Measurement:

Measurement;

Measurement:

Measurement:

Measurement;

Measurement;

Measurement:

Objective B:

Measurement:

Measurement:

Measurement:

Negotiate and execute any lease agreement amendments with tenants at
Northland Central and 612 Northland.

Continue to implement the Soil (Site) Management Plan (SMP) for
Northland Central, under the NYS Brownfield Cleanup Program.

Continue effective M/WBE Utilization and Workforce Participation
programs for remaining Northland construction.

Continue to implement the Restore NY V Grant initiatives, including
renovations at 541 E. Delavan and select demolition at 777 Northland.

Continue the implementation of the Historic Preservation Mitigation
measures agreed to with the State Historic Preservation Office, according
to the Memorandum of Agreement (MOA).

Continue to work with the NYSDEC regarding Superfund investigation
and remediation at the 537 E. Delavan site.

If funding becomes available, begin renovations or other actions necessary
to bring other space across Northland to a “ready-to-lease” condition.

Continue the Community Outreach Program, with one additional Public
Meeting and one additional Stakeholder Advisory Committee Meeting,
and additional community outreach through social media.

Continue to implement the green infrastructure plan for 537 E. Delavan, if
construction resumes.

Complete the pre-development planning, analysis, and financing phases of
the Community Solar and Microgrid project.

Execute a contract with the consultant team for the tax credit, legal, and
accounting services needed to determine the feasibility of moving forward
with a renovation project at 631 Northland.

Secure funds to continue to advance the Northland Beltline projects.

Pursue a Grant Disbursement Agreement (GDA) with Empire State
Development (ESD) for $1.8M in additional funding for the Northland
Community Solar & Microgrid Project.

Draw-down all remaining funds related to the $200,000 GDA (#133,857)
with ESD for the Northland Community Solar & Microgrid Project.

Submit an application to National Grid for additional funding related to
the Northland Community Solar & Microgrid Project.

113



Measurement:

Measurement;

Measurement:

Measurement:

Measurement:

Continue to draw-down funds related to the City’s Restore NY V GDA
(#ADO009) for new work to be completed at 541 E. Delavan and 777
Northland.

Submit all documentation for the 6™ installment of Historic Tax Credits

related to the development of Northland Central.

Confirm receipt of 2020 BTC refund from NYS related to the Northland
Central redevelopment.

Draw-down all remaining funds related to the $6M GDA (#AC426) with
ESD for Northland Workforce Training Center equipment.

Identify additional funding sources (i.e. grants and tax credits) and income
opportunities for future phases of Northland Beltline projects.

Objective C: Continue to transition Northland management responsibilities to the

Measurement:

Measurement:

Measurement:
Measurement:
Measurement:
Measurement:

Measurement:

Measurement;

Objective D:

Director of Construction & Project Development
Manage construction of 714 Northland parking lot improvements.

Re-engage Watts Engineers and 34 Group to resume Phase 1C
construction at 541 E. Delavan.

Re-engage 34 Group to begin select demolition at 777 Northland.
On a monthly basis, coordinate all Northland property maintenance and
repairs with Mancuso Management.

Continue to engage NYS Department of State on review of Beltline
Brownfield Opportunity Area (BOA) Nomination Document.

Coordinate two (2) networking events Northland area small businesses

Continue to collaborate with LISC to implement components of the
Northland Corridor Delavan Grider Community Enhancement Project
from 2020.

Complete required annual and bi-annual compliance reports for
ECIDA and NTCIC/Tax Credit Investors.

Prepare land and buildings for development through remediation, select
demolition, infrastructure upgrades/construction, site improvements, and
amenity construction.

114



New Measurement: Negotiate and close on a Land Sale Agreement for remaining
land at 308 Crowley Street

Measurement: Finalize the Brownfield Cleanup Work Plan with NYS Department of
Environmental Conservation for 193 Ship Canal Parkway.

Measurement: Assemble appropriate properties throughout the City to increase inventory
for future brownfield projects.

Measurement: Number of acres remediated to shovel-ready condition.

Measurement: Number of building square feet rehabilitated to leasable condition.

Goal: To attract and/or retain new and existing businesses to the City and
region.

Objective A:  Market BUDC properties as an urban alternative for new construction of

light manufacturing, distribution and office facilities.

Measurement: Close on the Land Sale Agreement with Zephyr Investors for various
BLCP parcels.

New Measurement: Negotiate and close on a Land Sale Agreement with G.W.
Burnett for 193 Ship Canal Parkway.

Measurement: Assist in a minimum of four (4) prospects interested in purchasing land
and/or buildings.

Measurement: A minimum of six (6) “earned” media appearances and five hundred (500)
website page and social media views.

Measurement: Maintain infrastructure amenities to enhance the marketability of the
BLCP and Northland properties.

Objective B:  Support the economic development efforts of the City of Buffalo Office of
Strategic Planning (OSP) with the task of expanding or relocating
businesses of a diverse nature in the City.

Measurement: Close on the sale of a portion of 308 Crowley to Enterprise Folding Box.

Measurement: Number of businesses contacted, as directed by OSP.

Objective C:  Support the economic development efforts of the City by maintaining
procurement practices that encourage the participation of local (50%),
minority (25%), and women-owned (5%) businesses.

115



Measurement;

Goal: To support
Objective A:

Measurement:

Objective B:

Measurement;

Objective C:

Measurement:

Measurement:

Objective D:
Measurement:

Measurement;

Measurement;

Measurement;

Measurement:

Measurement:

Measurement:

All informal bids, formal bids, request for proposals, and requests for
qualifications will include the City’s participation goals listed above.

the revitalization of Downtown Buffalo.
Serve as lead management entity for BBRP/Race for Place initiatives.

A minimum of twenty (25) companies contacted.

Coordinate financial assistance for adaptive re-use projects and/or new
construction projects.

A minimum of two (2) projects assisted.

Manage lending program as an incentive for adaptive re-use and/or new
construction projects.

A minimum of two (2) loans approved and closed.

Facilitate consensus around proposed loan program modifications and
implement approved modifications for the Downtown Loan Program.

Assist coordination of public right-of-way and public space improvements.
Promote and coordinate added creativity and innovation within the public
realm.

Further the recommendations included in the Future of Mobility Report.

Coordinate a series of Innovative Focus Group sessions to gain
community input on upcoming smart city technologies and related
infrastructure improvements.

Further the recommendations from Race for Place for continued outreach
through community focus groups.

A minimum of two (2) city blocks and one (1) public space improved.

Complete Waterfront/Inner Harbor public realm strategy and continue
waterfront stakeholder coordination efforts.

Further the recommendations outlined Ellicott Street Placemaking
Strategy

116



Measurement: Facilitate a strategy to improve downtown infrastructure maintenance and
sustainability with the six partners.

Measurement: Coordinate with the six partners to develop strategy for a capital campaign
to solicit private funding for public realm improvements.

Objective E:  Coordinate additional phases of Queen City Pop Up (QCPU).

Measurement: Explore outdoor QCPU Concepts.

Measurement: Maintain a webpage and directory for/of QCPU participants.

Objective F:  Continue coordination of the publication, marketing, and online
promotion of Buffalo’s Race for Place Plan.

Measurement: Expand digital presence for raceforplacebuffalo.com.

Objective G: Build awareness of Downtown programs, tools, and incentives.

Measurement: At least two (2) earned appearances on regional and/or national platforms.

Measurement: At least two (2) presentations to business associations, professional
organizations, and community groups.

Objective H:  Promote the construction of additional units of downtown housing.
New Measurement: The announcement of two hundred fifty (250) units to be
constructed, with at least 20% affordable units.

Objective I:  Coordinate the resolution or redevelopment of targeted problem

properties within the BBRP boundaries.

Measurement: A minimum of three (3) problem properties addressed.

Goal: To transform LaSalle Park into Ralph C. Wilson Centennial Park, and a
world class waterfront park and recreational amenity that will serve both
neighborhood residents, regional citizens and visitors.

117



Objective A:  Assist the City of Buffalo and other partners with the management of the
design and due diligence phases of the project.

Measurement: Manage the design team and the design process to ensure that the project
proceeds on schedule and within budget.

Measurement: Negotiate and execute contracts for any additional required due diligence
investigations, NEPA and other regulatory approvals.

Objective B: Assist the City of Buffalo and other partners with the overall management
of the project.

Measurement: Manage the contract and deliverable for the project management team
contracted to provide assistance.

New Measurement: Work with the City of Buffalo and project management team to
execute a Construction Management Contract.

Objective C:  Assist the City of Buffalo and other partners with identifying, securing and
managing funding for the implementation of the project.

Measurement: Work with the Ralph C. Wilson Foundation to apply for and manage
grants that they have committed for the design and implementation of the
project.

Measurement: Work with other partners, including Buffalo Niagara Waterkeeper and the
Ralph C. Wilson Foundation, to identify additional funding sources to
implement and construct the project.

Measurement: Prepare, submit, execute and manage funding applications and agreements
that are secured for the project.

Objective D:  Assist the City of Buffalo and other partners with ensuring effective and
sustainable long-term maintenance and operations of the park.

Measurement: Continue to work with the City of Buffalo and the design and project
management team to ensure that the final design of the park is sustainable
from a maintenance and operations perspective and provides equitable
access to the surrounding community.

Goal: To effectively manage property, development projects and initiatives.

Objective A:  Engage in all aspects of productive property management including
marketing, leasing, maintenance, ec.

Measurement: Keep property related costs within budget.

118



Objective B:  Support development projects by working with regional utility companies
to include their grant programs in local initiatives. Package other
economic development incentives to enhance the marketability of
properties.

Measurement: A minimum of two (2) projects referred.

119



Additional Questions:

Have the board members acknowledged that they have read and understood the mission of
BUDC?

The Board discussed and approved the BUDC’s mission statement at the March 29, 2022 Board
meeting,

Who has the power to appoint the management of BUDC?

The Board of Directors appoints the management of BUDC to the positions of President,
Executive Vice-President, Vice-President, Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer and Secretary.

If the Board appoints management, do you have a policy you follow when appointing the
management of BUDC?

The Board follows the BUDC By-Laws when appointing management.

Briefly describe the role of the Board and the role of management in the implementation of
the mission.

Management works closely with the Chair, Vice-Chair and Committee Chairs in formulating an
on-going work plan for management to carry out the strategic goals related to the mission of the
organization, Board members review and approve individual projects, initiatives and transactions
to ensure that they are consistent with BUDC’s mission. Board members also review and
approve the annual budget to ensure resources are allocated appropriately to meet the BUDC’s
mission.

Has the Board acknowledged that they have read and understood the responses to each of
these questions?

Yes, these questions and responses were discussed and approved by the Board at the March 29,
2022 Board meeting.

120



B.

BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

AMENDED AND RESTATED PROCUREMENT POLICY
===l AU RIS IALED PROCUREMENT POLICY

Scope and Purpose.

Pursuant to Section 2824 of the Public Authorities Law, the Buffalo Urban
Development Corporation (“BUDC”) is required to establish and adopt a
procurement policy. This Amended and Restated Procurement Policy (“Policy™)
shall also be applicable to all procurements undertaken by any existing subsidiary
or affiliated organizations of BUDC and such other subsidiaries and affiliates as
may hereafter be established by BUDC,

Procurement Procedures.

1. Solicitation Procedures for the Purchase of Goods and Services.
Soliciiation Frocedures for the Purchase of Goods and Services

a. Up to $10,000 per instance ~ Documented verbal quotes or
written/fax/email quotes from at least two vendors.

b. Greater than $10,000 to $25,000 per instance — Written/fax/email
quotes from at least three vendors.

c. Greater than $25,000 to $100,000 per instance ~ Formal written
Request for Proposal (RFP) submitted to at least three vendors and
posted at the BUDC website.

d Greater than $100,000 per instance — Formal written Request for
Proposal (RFP) submitted to at least three vendors, posted at the
BUDC website and publicly noticed in the NYS Contract Reporter.

e Notwithstanding the foregoing, if it is reasonably anticipated that
cumulative procurements pursuant to subsections (a) or (b) above
will cost between $25,000 and $100,000 per calendar year for a
single vendor or service, BUDC shall comply with the provisions
of subsection (c) above; or if such cumulative procurements are
reasonably anticipated to cost over $100,000 per calendar year,
BUDC shall comply with the provisions of subsection (d) above.

2.  Exceptions. Altemative proposals or quotations shall not be required for

procurements made through or with respect to:
a, New York State or Erie County contracts.

b. State Finance Law Section 175-b (from agencies for the blind or
severely handicapped).

121



Correction Law Section 186 (articles manufactured in correctional
institutions).

Emergency Procurements — an emergency exists if the delay
caused by soliciting quotes would endanger public health, welfare
or property. Approval of the President after consultation with the
officers of BUDC is necessary, which shall be documented in the
procurement file and shall include a description of the facts giving
rise to the emergency and the basis for selecting the particular
vendor. :

Time Sensitive Economic Development Opportunity — An
opportunity is time-sensitive when a vendor must be retained
quickly to avoid a delay that would adversely impact an economic
development project or initiative of BUDC. Such time-sensitive
situations include, but are not limited to: the possible loss of grant
funding; the termination, default or withdrawal of an existing
vendor; the need to respond to a court order or regulatory directive;
or some other compelling need for goods or services. Approval of
the President after consultation with the officers of BUDC is
necessary, which shall be documented in the procurement file and
shall also include a description of the facts relating to the time-
sensitive opportunity and the basis for selecting the particular
vendor.

Sole Source Procurements — A “sole source” means a situation
where (i) there is only one possible source in the marketplace for
the goods or services, (ii) no other goods and/or services provide
substantially equivalent or similar benefits, and (jii) considering
the benefits, the cost to BUDC is reasonable and in the best
interests of BUDC. Approval of the President after consultation
with the officers of BUDC is necessary, which shall be
documented in the procurement file along with an explanation of
the basis for the procurement qualifying as a sole source
procurement.

Single Source Procurements — A “single source” means a situation
where, even though two or more vendors are available to supply
the required goods or services, BUDC determines that: (i) one
particular vendor has unique knowledge or expertise with respect
to the required goods, services or project, rendering the use of
competitive procedures impractical; and (i) considering the
benefits, the cost to BUDC is reasonable. Approval of the
President after consultation with the officers of BUDC is
necessary, which shall be documented in the procurement file
along with an explanation of the basis for concluding that a single

122



source procurement was in the best interests of BUDC and the
manner in which BUDC identified the selected vendor.

h. Utilities and Affiliate Transactions — The purchase of utilities and
inter-affiliate or subsidiary transactions are excepted from’
alternative proposal/quotation requirements.

i. Unavailability of the minimum number of vendors required under
Section B, as applicable, that are able or willing to respond to a
solicitation.

j- Resolution Waiving Solicitation Requirements — The BUDC Board
of Directors may adopt a resolution prospectively waiving
solicitation requirements upon the Board’s determination that
solicitation would be impractical and such waiver is in the best
interests of BUDC,

Basis for the Award of Contracts.

It is the general policy of BUDC to award contracts to the lowest
responsible dollar offeror who meets the specifications therefor. BUDC
may award contracts to other than the lowest responsible dollar offeror
under circumstances that BUDC determines justify an award to other than
the lowest responsible dollar offeror. In making any such determination,
BUDC shall consider relevant factors including, without limitation:

a. The vendor is an MBE or WBE firm, or relative to other vendors
for the specific procurement has demonstrated the ability to meet
or exceed applicable M/WBE and/or minority or workforce
participation requirements;

-b. Delivery, quality and quantity requirements;
t
c. Past vendor performance and/or experience;

d. ‘Which proposal is most advantageous to BUDC, considering other
factors in addition to price;

123



e. Unavailability of the minimum number of vendors required under
Section B, as applicable, that are able or willing to respond to a
solicitation; and

f Any procurement excepted from the alternative proposal/quotation
requirements as set forth in subsection 2 of this Section B, and the
procurement of professional services in Section E of this Policy,

Documentation: Procurement Tracki

Each procurement made under this Policy shall be documented on a
separate Procurement Tracking Form, the form of which is attached hereto
as Schedule A and made a part hereof. An annual procurement report shall
be presented to the Audit & Finance Committee,

Contents of Reduests for Proposals (RFP).

For all procurements under this Policy that requite an RFP, the following
information shall be included in the solicitation:

a. Goods being sought or the scope of services desired;
b. The projected term of the contract;

c. Criteria to be used in evaluating proposals and the requirements
that must be fulfilled;

d Schedule of relevant dates;
e, Insurance requirements;
f. M/WBE goals; and

g Designation of the BUDC representative to whom communications
regarding the RFP should be directed.

For all procurements under this Policy that require an RFQ, the following
information shall be included in the solicitation:

a. The scope of services desired;

124



b. Criteria to be used in evaluating qualifications and the
requirements that must be fulfilled;

c. Insurance requirements, if applicable;
d. M/WBE goals; and

e. Designation of the BUDC representative to whom communications
regarding the RFQ should be directed.

C. Erie County Businesses and Minority & Women Owned Enterprises.

+ It is the goal of BUDC to provide opportunities for the purchase of goods and
services from (i) business enterprises located in Erie County and (ji) certified minority
and/or women-owned business enterprises. To that end, BUDC will utilize available lists
of M/WBE businesses certified by Erie County and/or State of New York and use its best
efforts to solicit proposals from such businesses by notifying them of opportunities to
submit proposals for goods or services when practical. In addition, where the
procurement of a specific good or service is to be accomplished using funds other than
the funds of BUDC or its affiliates, BUDC shall comply with all M/WBE goals and other
M/WBE requirements applicable to such funding,

D.  Effect on Other Procurement Requirements.

Where the procurement of a specific good or service is to be accomplished using
funds other than the funds of BUDC and such funding sources specify different or more
restrictive procurement requirements than are provided for in this Policy, the procurement
requirements of the funding source will supersede the requirements of this Policy.

In those instances where BUDC is a recipient of federal funds which it will use to
pay for goods or services, the procurement provisions set forth in 22 CF.R §200.318 et
seq. shall apply, including procurement requirements applicable to goods or services that
exceed $150,000 in value (as such amount is adjusted in accordance with 48 C.F.R.
Section 2.101). For procurements using federal funds, BUDC shall include in its contract
with the vendor or contractor the applicable contract provisions set forth in Appendix I
to Part 200 of Title 2 of the Code of Federal Regulations, or any successor regulation or
appendix..

E. Professional Services.

Contracts for professional services involve the application of specialized
expertise, the use of professional judgment, or a high degree of creativity. Professional
services include services which require special education and/or training, license to
practice or are creative in nature. Examples are: lawyers, doctors, accountants, and
engineers. Furthermore, professional service contracts often involve a relationship of
personal trust and confidence. Procurement of professional services in an amount up to
$25,000 is not subject to the solicitation procedures contained in Sections B(1)(a) and (b)
of this Policy. Procurement of professional services in an amount greater than $25,000

125



shall be made through a written Request for Proposal (RFP) or a Request for
Qualifications (RFQ) process,

F, Procurement of Insurance.

Procurement of Insurance Brokerage services is subject to this Policy as a
professional service. Notwithstanding the foregoing, actual insurance policies procured
are not subject to the requirements of this Policy.

G.  Procurement Lobbying.

BUDC shall follow the applicable provisions of the New York Procurement
Lobbying Law (State Finance Law §§ 139-j, 139-k)) for any contract or other agreement
for an article of procurement involving an estimated annualized expenditure in excess of
$15,000.

H.  Reporting Requirements.

Procurements are intended to be made for no greater than the fair market value of
the asset procured. In the event circumstances exist in which the acquisition of an asset is
made where the contract price to be paid by BUDC exceeds the fair market value of the
asset, BUDC shall include in its annual report required by Section 2800(2) of the Public
Authorities Law a detailed explanation of the justification for making the purchase and a
certification by the President and Chief Financial Officer of BUDC that they have
reviewed the terms of the acquisition and determined that it complies with applicable law
and this Policy.

L Approval Thresholds,

The following approval thresholds shall apply to the procurement of all goods and
services, except those procurements made under Section B(2)(d) and (¢):

1. The President and Executive Vice President of BUDC are each authorized
to procure goods and services in an amount up to $10,000. Prior to
procuring such goods or services, the President or Executive Vice
President shall confer with the Treasurer to confirm that the proposed
expenditure is within budgetary limits. The President or Executive Vice
President shall report the procurement of goods and services at the next
Board of Directors meeting following the date of procurement.

2. The Audit and Finance Committee, Downtown Committee and Real Estate
Committee, as applicable, are each authorized to approve the procurement
of goods and services greater than $10,000, but not in excess of $25,000.
Prior to procuring such goods or services, the President and applicable
committee chair shall confer with the Treasurer to confirm that the
proposed expenditure is within budgetary limits. The President or
Executive Vice President shall report the procurement of goods and

126



services authorized by the applicable committee at the next BUDC Board
of Directors meeting following the date of procurement.

3. The procurement of goods and services in an amount greater than $25,000
shall require the approval of the BUDC Board of Directors. By resolution,
the Board may delegate to BUDC executive staff or a committee of the
Board the authority to procure goods or services in an amount greater than
$25,000 without Board approval. '

J. Annual Review.

This Policy shall be annually reviewed and approved by BUDC’s Board of
Directors.

Adopted: 7/7/2009

Amended & Adopted; 6/8/2010
Re-adopted: 3/29/2011
Re-adopted: 3/27/2012
Re-adopted: 2/26/2013
Amended and Adopted: 3/31/2015
Re-adopted; 3/29/2016
Re-adopted: 3/28/2017
Amended & Adopted: 3/27/2018
Re-adopted: 3/26/2019
Re-adopted: 3/31/2020
Re-adopted: 3/30/2021

127



SCHEDULE A
Procurement Tracking Form

128



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Street | Buffalo, NY 14203 | Phone: 716-856-6525 | Fax: 716-856-6754

Procurement Tracking Form

Original Solicitation Date: : “ Procurement Category: O Goods/Services
Procurement Description: s O Professional Services

Approving Party (s1,2-3): O President O Executive Vice President O BUDC Committee QO Board of Directors
Vendor Selected: ,

Is Vendor an M/WBE? O Yes ONo ifves, Specify type: , Contract Price;
Date Awarded: Source of Funds:

(e, Emergency, Time Sensitive Opportunity, Sole Source, Single Source, etc)

* Reporting Procedure (51,1.3)
Procurement Report Delivered to: O Board of Directors (O N/A
| Date of Report {Meeting): _
2 - Quotations/Proposals Received:
# Vendor Type of Solicitation {5 8(1){s-¢)) Amount
1 O RFP/RFQ/Written mlowmov«bat
2 O REP/RFQ/Written Proposal O Written O Verbal
3 ORFR/RFO/Written Propossl O Written () Vertal
4 O RFP/RFQ/Written Proposet O Written O Verbal
5 . O RFPIRFQ/Written Progosal (O Written (O Verba!
) i O RFPREQ/Written Progesal O Written (O Verbal

Was L.owest Cost Proposal Selected? O Yes O No
if No, Please Explain (s s(3)(a-t}:

{Sectlon (*§”) references in this form refer to sections of the BUDC Amended and Restated Procuremient Policy]
v.103/27/2018

129



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Procurement Procedures Applicable to the

Expenditure of Federal Funds

ARTICLE 1
Scope

L1 The procurement of goods and services made by Buffalo Urban Development
Corporation or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries (“BUDC”) involving the expenditure by
BUDC of federal funds will be undertaken in accordance with the procurement procedures set
forth herein (the “Policy”) and the applicable provisions of 2 CFR Sections 200.318 through
200.326. All other procurements (i.c., those made with non-federal funds) shall be made in
accordance with the BUDC procurement policy then in effect.

ARTICLE 11
Procurement Standards

2.1 All procurements subject to this Policy are to be undertaken in a manner that
provides for full and open competition consistent with the standards set forth in 2 CFR Section
200.319. Regardless of the procurement method utilized, BUDC may only award contracts to
responsible contractors or vendors possessing the ability to perform successfully under the terms
and conditions of the procurement. Consideration will be given to such matters as
contractor/vendor integrity, compliance with public policy, record of past performance and
financial and technical resources in awarding contracts.

22  Solicitations will contain a clear and accurate description of the technical
requirements for the material, product, or service to be procured and will identify all
requirements that the bidders must fulfill and all other factors that will be used by BUDC in
evaluating bids or proposals. In addition, BUDC will ensure that all solicitations include enough
qualified sources to ensure maximum open and free competition.

23 Inorderto ensure objective contractor/vendor performance and eliminate unfair
competitive advantages, contractors/vendors that develop or draft specifications, requirements,
statements of work, invitations for bids, or requests for proposals will be excluded from
competing for such procurements,

24  Solicitations will not contain features that unduly restrict competition. Some
examples of situations considered under federal regulations to be restrictive of competition
include, but are not limited to, the following:

Page 1 of 6

130



Placing unreasonable requirements on firms in order for them to qualify to do
business with BUDC;

Requiring unnecessary experience and excessive bonding;

Non-competitive pricing practices between firms or between affiliated companies;
Executing non-competitive contracts with consultants that are on retainer
contracts

Specifying only a “brand name” product instead of allowing “an equal” product to
be offered; and

Any arbitrary action in the procurement process.

YV ¥V VVV Vv

2.5  Inundertaking procurements, BUDC shall avoid the acquisition of unnecessary or
duplicative items. Consideration should be given to consolidating or breaking out procurements
to obtain a more economical purchase. Where appropriate, an analysis will be made of lease
versus purchase alternatives, and any other appropriate analysis to determine the most
economical approach to procuring the specific good or service,

2.6  Contracting with Small inorily Businesses, Women's Business Enterprises,
and Labor Surplus Area Firms. In accordance with 2 CFR Section 200.321, BUDC will take
affirmative steps to assure that minority businesses, women’s business enterprises, and labor
surplus area firms are used when possible. These affirmative steps include the following:

> Placing qualified small and minority businesses and women’s business enterprises
on BUDC’s solicitation lists;

> Assuring that BUDC solicits small and minority businesses and women’s business
enterprises whenever they are potential sources;

» When economically feasible, dividing total project requirements into smaller tasks
or quantities to permit maximum participation by small and minority businesses
and women’s business enterprises;

» Establishing delivery schedules, where the requirement permits, which encourage
participation by small and minority businesses and women’s business enterprises;

> Using the services and assistance, as appropriate, of organizations such as the
Small Business Administration and the Minority Business Development Agency
of the United States Department of Commerce; and

> Requiring the prime contractor, if subcontracts are to be let, to take the sbove

ive steps.

Methods of Procurement

3.1  Methods. In accordance with 2 CFR Section 200.320, BUDC shall procure
good and services utilizing one of the following methods: (i) micro-purchase procedures; (ii)
small purchase procedures; (iii) procurement by competitive proposals; or (iv) procurement by
competitive sealed bids. In addition, BUDC may procure goods and services without competition
under the circumstances set forth in Section 3.6.

Page2 of 6

131



3.2 Micro-purchases (2 CFR Section 200.67). Micro-purchases involve the

acquisition of goods or services that in the aggregate, cost no more than the Micro-Purchase
Threshold, as such threshold is set forth in 2 CFR Section 200.67 (currently $10,000). Micro-
purchases may be made without soliciting competitive quotations, provided that the BUDC
President considers the price to be reasonable, and such determination is documented in the
record of procurement,

3.3 Small Purchases (2 CFR Section 200.68). Small purchases involve the

acquisition of goods or services that cost no more than the Simplified Acquisition Threshold, as
such threshold is set forth in 2 CFR Section 200.68 (currently $250,000). For small purchases,
BUDC will obtain written price or rate quotations from an adequate number of qualified sources,
which generally will involve soliciting written price or rate quotations from a minimum of two
(2) vendors,

34  Procurement through Competitive Proposals. As provided in 2 CFR Section
200.320(d), the competitive proposals method of procurement is normally conducted with more
than one source submitting an offer and either a fixed price or cost-reimbursement type contract
is awarded. It is generally used when conditions are not appropriate for the use of sealed bids,
When the competitive proposal method is used, the following requirements apply:

> Requests for proposals (RFP) must be publicized and identify all evaluation
factors and their relative importance;

> Proposals must be solicited from an adequate number of qualified sources—three
proposals will generally be deemed adequate;

» BUDC will utilize 2 documented method for conducting technical evaluations of
the proposals received and for selecting recipients;

> Contracts will be awarded to the responsible firm whose proposal is most
advantageous to BUDC, with price and other factors considered.

BUDC may use competitive proposal procedures for qualifications-based procurement of
architectural/engineering (A/E) professional services whereby competitors® qualifications are
evaluated and the most qualified competitor is selected, subject to négotiation of fair and
reasonable compensation. This method, where price is not used as a selection factor, can only be
used in procurement of A/E professional services. It cannot be used to purchase other types of
services though A/E firms are a potential source to perform such services.

3.5  Procurement by Sealed Bids. BUDC may procure goods and services through the
use of a competitive sealed bid process. Where sealed bid procurement is used, bids must be
publicly solicited with a firm fixed-price contract (lump sum or unit price) to be awarded to the -
responsible bidder whose bid is the lowest in price while conforming to all material terms and
conditions of the solicitation.

3.3.1 Construction Services. As provided in 2 CFR Section 200.320, the
competitive sealed bid method of procurement is the preferred method of procuring construction
services, if the following conditions apply: (A) a complete, adequate, and realistic specification
or purchase description is available; (B) two or more responsible bidders are willing and able to

Page 3 of 6

132



compete effectively for the business; and (C) the procurement lends itself to a firm fixed price
contract and the selection of the successful bidder can be made principally on the basis of price.

Where sealed bids are used, the following requirements apply:

>

Y V Vv V Vv

Bids must be solicited from a sufficient number of known suppliers who
are given adequate response time prior to the date set for opening the bids;
The invitations for bids must define the items or services in order for the
bidder to properly respond;

All bids should be opened at the time and place identified in the invitation
for bids;

A firm fixed price contract will be made in writing to the lowest
responsive and responsible bidder; and

Any or all bids may be rejected if there is a sound documented reason for
doing so.

Bid bonds, performance bonds and payment bonds are required as
provided in 2 CFR Section 200.325.

3.6  Procurements without Competition. BUDC may procure goods or services

without competition when one or more of the following circumstances apply:

> The good or service being procured is available only from a sole source;
The public exigency or emergency nature of the procurement will not permit a delay
resulting from a competitive solicitation;

competitive proposals in response to a written request from BUDC; or

>
» The federal awarding agency or pass-through entity expressly anthorizes non-
>

After solicitation of a number of sources, competition is determined by BUDC to be
inadequate.

ARTICLE IV

Contracts; Incorporation of Federal Contract Provisions

4.1  All contracts entered into by BUDC shall contain the applicable provisions set
forth in Appendix Il to 2 CFR Part 200, or any successor regulation or appendix. BUDC shall
undertake such cost or price analysis as may be required in accordance with 2 CFR Section
200.323, Time and materials contracts are discouraged and shall be utilized only in compliance
with the provisions of 2 CFR 200.318(G)().

- ARTICLEV
Records of Procurement Transactions

5.1 BUDC will maintain records of all procurements made pursuant to this Policy.
Such records shall include, at a minimum, a written report with relevant source documents
setting forth the rationale for the method of procurement selected, the type of contract, the basis

Page 4 of 6

133



for contractor selection or rejection, and the basis for the contract price. Source documents for
purposes of this Article shall include receipts, purchase orders, invoices, RFP/RFQ data and bid
documents. These documents will be maintained for such period of time as the federal award or
sub-grant requires, or if no such period is specified, in accordance with BUDC records retention
policies.

ARTICLE VI
Conflicts of Interest

6.1  No employee, director, officer or agent of BUDC may participate in the selection,
award or administration of a contract supported by a federal award if he or she has a real or
apparent conflict of interest. Such a conflict of interest would arise when the employe, director,
officer, or agent, any member of his or her immediate family, his or her partner, or an
organization which employs or is about to employ any of the parties indicated herein, has a
financial or other interest in or a tangible personal benefit from a firm considered for a contract.
In the event that a conflict of interest, real or apparent, exists, the employee, director officer, or
agent of BUDC shall notify the appropriate official(s) of BUDC, and such conflict of interest
shall be processed in accordance with the provisions of the BUDC Code of Ethics,

6.2  No employee, director, officer or agent of BUDC shall solicit or accept gratuities,
favors, or anything of monetary value from current or prospective consultants, contractors,
vendors in connection with any federal procurements made under this Policy. For purposes of
this Section, “gratuities, favors, or anything of monetary value” shall include money, services,
loans, travel, entertainment, hospitality or any financial transaction on terms not available to the
general public, but shall not include normal hospitality or promotional materials if such
hospitality or materials do not exceed $100.00 in value and are not received in circumstances in
which it might reasonably be inferred that they were given with intention to influence or reward
an employee, director, officer or agent of BUDC in relation to the performance of their duties,

6.3  Any BUDC employee, director, officer, or agent who knowingly and deliberately
violates the provisions of this Article may be subject to disciplinary action up to and including
termination or employment or removal from the board or office. Any contractor or potential
contractor who knowingly and deliberately violates these provisions will be barred from future

transactions with BUDC.

ARTICLE VII
Contract Approval Thresholds

7.1 The approval thresholds set forth in Section (I) of the BUDC Procurement Policy
shall be applicable to the procurement of all goods and services made under this Policy, other
than emergency procurements made pursuant to Section 3.6.

Page Sof 6

134



ARTICLE VII
Amendments

8.1  This Policy may be amended from time to time by the BUDC Board of Directors.

Adopted: October 27, 2020
Re-adopted: March 30, 2021

Page 6 of 6

135



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Property Disposition Guidelines

The Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (“BUDC”) is required by Section 2896 of
the Public Authorities Law to adopt by resolution comprehensive guidelines regarding the use,
awarding, monitoring and reporting of contracts for the disposal of Property (as defined herein).
The following guidelines (the “Guidelines™) are adopted pursuant to such requirement and are
applicable with respect to the use, awarding, monitoring and reporting of all Property Disposition
Contracts which are (i) entered into by BUDC or (ii) solicited or awarded by BUDC on behalf of
any subsidiary of BUDC (a “BUDC Subsidiary”).

ARTICLE1
DEFINITIONS

1. “Contracting Officer” shall mean the officer of BUDC who shall be appointed by
resolution of the Board of Directors of BUDC to be responsible for the disposition of Property.

2. “Dispose” or “disposal” or “disposition” shall mean the transfer of title or any
other beneficial interest in Property from BUDC or a BUDC Subsidiary to any unrelated third

party.

3. “Property” shall mean personal property in excess of Five Thousand Dollars
($5,000.00) in value, real property, or any other legally transferable interest in such property, to
the extent that such interest may by conveyed to another person for any purpose, excluding an
interest securing a loan or other financial obligation of another party.

4. “Property Disposition Contracts™ shall mean written agreements for the sale,
lease, transfer or other disposition of Property from BUDC or a BUDC Subsidiary to any
unrelated third party.

5. “Real Property” shall mean real property and interests therein.

~ ARTICLETI |
APPOINTMENT AND DUTIES OF CONTRACTING OFFICER

A. Appointment

The Contracting Officer shall be an officer of BUDC appointed by the Board of Directors
who is responsible for the supervision and direction over the custody, vontrol and disposition of

136



Property and responsible for BUDC’s compliance with and enforcement of these Guidelines.
The Executive Vice President of BUDC shall be the Contracting Officer for purposes of these
Guidelines.

B. Duties
The duties of the Contracting Officer shall include the following:

1. Maintaining adequate inventory controls and accountability systems for all
Property under BUDC’s control.

2. Periodically conducting an inventory of Property to determine which Property
may be disposed of.

3. Preparing an annual written report of all Property. Each report shall include a list
of all Real Property, a full description of all real and personal property disposed of during the
reporting period, the price received and the name of the purchaser for all Property sold during
each reporting period. Each report shall be completed and delivered to the New York State
Comptroller, the Director of the Budget, the Commissioner of General Services and the New
York State Legislature no later than ninety (90) days following the completion of BUDC’s fiscal
year.

4. Disposing of Property as promptly as possible in accordance with these
Guidelines, as directed by BUDC.

ARTICLE II1

PROPERTY DISPOSITION REQUIREMENTS
A. Method of Disposition

ill. Subject to such exceptions and/or requirements set forth in these Guidelines, in
the event that BUDC or a BUDC Subsidiary determines to dispose of any of its Property, BUDC
shall endeavor to dispose of such Property for at least the fair market value of the Property. The
disposition of Property may be made by sale, exchange, or transfer, for cash, credit or other
Property, with or without warranty, and upon such terms and conditions as are determined by
BUDC to be appropriate and reasonable and consistent with these Guidelines.

2. ‘No disposition of Real Property, or any interest in Real Property, may be made
unless an appraisal of the value of such Real Property has been made by an independent
appraiser and included in the record of the transaction. In addition, no disposition of any personal
property, which because of its unique nature or the unique circumstances of the proposed
transaction is not readily valued with reference to an active market for similar property, shall be
made without an independent appraisal.

137



B. Award and Approval of Property Disposition Contracts

1. Compliance with Guidelines: Approval Requirements. All dispositions of
Property shall be conducted in accordance with these Guidelines by or under the supervision of
the Contracting Officer. Any proposed dispositions of real property shall be presented to the
BUDC Real Estate Committee for consideration, and if approved by said committee, shall be
submitted to the BUDC Board of Directors for approval or other appropriate action.

2. Disposition by Public Bid.

(a) All Property Disposition Contracts may be made only after publicly
advertising for bids, unless the criteria set forth in Article ITI(B)(3) below has been satisfied for
such contracts to be made by negotiation or public auction.

(b)  Whenever public advertising for bids is required, (i) the advertisement for
bids shall be made at such time prior to the disposal or contract, through such methods, and on
such terms and conditions, as shall permit full and free competition consistent with the value
and nature of the Property; (ii) all bids shall be publicly disclosed at the time and place stated in
the advertisement; and (iii) the award shall be made with reasonable promptness by notice to the
responsible bidder whose bid, conforming to the invitation for bids, will be most advantageous
to.BUDC and New York State, price and other factors considered.

(c)  Any public bid for the disposition of Property may be rejected, refused, or
declined by BUDC or the Contracting Officer on any basis or ground allowable at law.

3. Disposition by Negotiated Sale/Public Auction. The following dispositions are
exempt and excepted from the public bidding requirements set forth above in Article II(B)(2)
and may be consummated through a negotiated sale or by public auction:

(@)  Below Market Dispositions. BUDC may dispose of Property for less than
the fair market value of the Property under the circumstances set forth in Article III(B)(S) of
these Guidelines.

(b)  Disposition of Certain Personal Property. BUDC may dispose of
personal property where such personal property has qualities separate from the utilitarian
purpose of such property, such as artistic quality, antiquity, historical significance, rarity, or
other quality or similar effect, that would tend to increase its value, or if the personal property is
to be sold in such quantity that, if it were disposed of through public advertisement and bidding,
would adversely affect the state or local market for such property, and the estimated fair market
value of such property and other satisfactory terms of disposal can be obtained by negotiation.

_ (¢)  Disposition of Low FMV Property. BUDC may dispose of Property the
fair market value of which does not exceed Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15,000.00).

(d)  Disposition Following Receipt of Unacceptable Bid Prices. BUDC may
dispose of Property where the bid prices received by BUDC after public advertising are not

138



commercially reasonable (either as to all or some part of the Property) as determined by BUDC
in its sole discretion.

()  Disposition to New York State. BUDC may dispose of Property to
New York State or any political subdivision of New York State.

® Disposition Authorized by Law. BUDC may dispose of Property
where such disposition is otherwise authorized by law.

4. Reporting Requirements Regarding Negotiated Dispositions.

(@ Preparation of Written Statements. The Contracting Officer shall
prepare a written statement explaining the circumstances of each negotiated disposition of
Property involving any of the following:

@) the negotiated disposition of personal property which has an
estimated fair market value in excess of Fifteen Thousand Dollars
($15,000.00);

(ii))  the negotiated disposition of Real Property that has an  estimated
fair market value in excess of One Hundred Thousand Dollars
($100,000.00);

(iii)  the negotiated disposition of Real Property that will be  disposed
of by lease, if the estimated annual rent over the term of the lease
is in excess of Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15,000.00); or

(iv)  the negotiated disposition of Real Property or real and related
personal property where the same will be disposed of by exchange,
regardless of value, or any Property any part of the consideration
for which is Real Property.

(b)  Submission of Written Statements. Written statements prepared pursuant
to Article 1II(B)(4) shall be submitted to the New York State Comptroller, the Director of the
Budget, the Commissioner of General Services and the State Legislature no later than ninety (90)
days prior to the date on which the disposition of Property is expected to take place. The
Contracting Officer shall maintain a copy of all written statements at BUDC’s principal office.

5. Disposal of Property for Less Than Fair Market Value.
) No asset owned, leased or otherwise in the control of BUDC may be sold,
leased or otherwise alienated for less than its fair market value unless such disposition meets one
of the following requirements:

139



1) The transferee is a government or other public entity, and the terms
and conditions of the disposition require that ownership and use of the asset will remain with the
government or any other public entity.

(ii)  The purpose of the disposition is within BUDC’s corporate
purpose, mission or its governing statute.

(b)  Inthe event that BUDC seeks to dispose of an asset for less than its fair
market value and neither of the circumstances set forth in Section 5(a)(i) and (ii) are applicable,
then BUDC shall provide written notification of the proposed disposition to the Governor, the
Speaker of the Assembly and the temporary President of the Senate, and such proposed
disposition shall be subject to approval or denial by the Governor, the Senate or the Assembly in
accordance with the provisions set forth in the Section 2897 (7) of the Public Authorities Law.

(© In the event a below fair market value disposition is proposed, the
following information shall be provided to the BUDC Board of Directors and to the public:

@@ A full description of the asset;

(i)  An appraisal of the fair market value of the asset and any other
information establishing the fair market value that may be sought by the Board;

(iii) A description of the purpose of the disposition and a reasonable
statement of the kind and amount of the benefit to the public resulting from the disposition,
including but not limited to the kind, number, location, wages or salaries of jobs created or
preserved as required by the disposition, the benefits, if any, to the communities in which the
asset is situated as are required by the disposition;

(iv) A statement of the value to be received compared to the fair market
value;

(V) The names of any private parties participating in the disposition,
and if different than the statement required by paragraph (iv) above, a statement of the value to
the private party; and

(vi)  The names of other private parties who have made an offer for
such asset, the value offered, and the purpose for which the asset was sought to be used.

(d) Before authorizing the disposition of any property for less than fair market
value, the BUDC Board of Directors shall consider the information described in 5(c) above and
make a written determination that there is no reasonable alternative to the proposed below
market disposition that would achieve the same purpose as the proposed disposition.

140



ARTICLE IV
GENERAL PROVISIONS

A, Annual Review and Submission of Guidelines

These Guidelines shall be annually reviewed and approved by the BUDC Board of
Directors. On or before the 31% day of March of each year, BUDC shall file with the New York
State Comptroller a copy of the most recently reviewed and adopted guidelines, including the
name of the Contracting Officer, and shall post the Guidelines on BUDC’s website. Guidelines
posted on BUDC’s website shall be maintained at least until the Guidelines for the following
year are posted on BUDC’s website.

B. Effect of Awarded Contracts

These Guidelines are intended for the guidance of the officers, directors and employees of
BUDC and its Subsidiaries only. Nothing contained herein is intended or shall be construed to
confer upon any person, firm or corporation any right, remedy, claim or benefit under, or by
reason of, any requirement or provision hereof, or be deemed to alter, affect the validity of,
modify the terms of or impair any contract or agreement made or entered into in violation of, or
without compliance with, these Guidelines. Without limiting the generality of the preceding
sentence, any deed, bill of sale, lease, or other instrument executed by or on behalf of BUDC or a
BUDC Subsidiary, purporting to transfer title or any other interest in Property shall be
conclusive evidence of compliance with these Guidelines insofar as concerns title or other
interest of any bona fide grantee or transferee who has given valuable consideration for such title
or other interest and has not received actual or constructive notice of lack of compliance with
these Guidelines prior to the closing.

C. Effective Date; Amendments.

These Guidelines shall be effective upon the affirmative vote of the Board of Directors of
the Corporation and may be amended upon affirmative vote of a majority of the Board of
Directors.

Effective Date: November 30, 2006
Amended: March 2, 2010 '
Re-Adopted: March 29, 2011
Re-Adopted: March 27, 2012
Re-adopted: February 26, 2013
Re-adopted: February 25, 2014
Re-adopted: March 31, 2015
Re-adopted: March 29, 2016
Re-adopted: March 28, 2017
Re-adopted: March 27, 2018
Re-adopted: March 26, 2019
Re-adopted; March 31, 2020
Re-adopted: March 30, 2021

141



6. No director, officer or employee of BUDC should by his or her conduct give
reasonable basis for the impression that any person can improperly influence him or her or
unduly enjoy his or her favor in the performance of his or her official duties, or that he or
she is affected by the kinship, rank, position or influence of any party or person.

7. Each director, officer and employee of BUDC should abstain from making
personal investments in enterprises which he or she has reason to believe may be directly
involved in decisions to be made by him or her or which will otherwise create substantial
conflict between his or her duty in the public interest and his or her private interest.

8. Each director, officer or employee of BUDC should endeavor to pursue a
course of conduct which will not raise suspicion among the public that he or she is likely
to be engaged in acts that-are in violation of his or her trust.

ARTICLE I
Conflicts of Interest

1. Purpose. The purpose of this Article is to protect BUDC when it is
considering entering into a transaction or arrangement that might benefit the private interest
of a Related Party, and to set forth procedures for handling potential or actual Conflicts of
Interest and Related Party Transactions.

2. Definitions.

“Conflict of Interest.” A Conflict of Interest exists if an outside interest or
activity influences (or reasonably appears to influence) the ability of an
individual to exercise objectivity, impairs the individual’s ability or
independence in fulfilling his or her duties to BUDC or reasonably tends to
conflict with the proper discharge of his or her duties to BUDC.

“Financial Interest.” An individual has a Financial Interest if the
individual has, directly or indirectly, through business, investment, or a
Relative:

(i)  Anownership or investment interest in any entity with which
BUDC has a transaction or arrangement;

(i) A compensation arrangement with BUDC or with any entity
or individual with which BUDC has a transaction or arrangement;
or

(iii) A potential ownership or investment interest in, or

compensation arrangement with, any entity or individual with which
BUDC is negotiating a transaction or arrangement. ‘

Page 2 of 6

142



(ii) If disclosure is made at a meeting of any BUDC committee or to
the BUDC Ethics Officer or BUDC legal counsel, the matter will
be referred to the Governance Committee for determination of
whether a Conflict of Interest and/or Related Party Transaction
exists.

@A) If the Board or the Governance Committee, as applicable,
determines that the agreement, transaction or arrangement is
a Related Party Transaction, then the Board or the
Governance Committee shal] follow the procedures for
Related Party Transactions set forth in Section 4 of this
Article.

(i)  If the Board or the Governance Committee, as applicable,
determines that a Conflict of Interest exists, but the
agreement, transaction or arrangement does not constitute a
Related Party Transaction, then the Board or the Governance
Committee may proceed with its consideration of the
transaction, provided however, that the Interested Person
shall abstain from deliberation and voting regarding the
transaction.

(ili)  If the Board or the Governance Committee, as applicable,
determines that a Conflict of Interest does not exist, then the
Board or the Governance Committee may proceed with its
consideration of the transaction, and the Interested Person
may participate in the deliberation and voting regarding the
transaction. .

(iv)  The existence and resolution of the potential Conflict of
Interest and/or Related Party Transaction shall be
documented in the minutes of the meeting(s) at which the
matter was discussed and voted upon. :

4, Related Party Transactions.

(a BUDC may enter into a Related Party Transaction only if the Board
or the Governance Committee determines that the transaction is fair, reasonable and in
BUDC’s best interest at the time of such determination (such determination shall be

Page 4 of 6

143



documented in the minutes of the meeting at which the Related Party Transaction was
approved); provided, however, that prior to entering into the transaction, the Board or the
Governance Committee shall consider alternatives to the extent available.

(b) Related Party Transactions shall be approved by not less than a
majority vote of the Board or the Governance Committee, as applicable (not counting the
Interested Person for purposes of voting or quorum). The Board or Governance Committee
shall contemporaneously document in the meeting minutes the basis for approval,
including its consideration of alternative transactions.

5. Annual Disclosure. Prior to the initial election of any director or officer,
and annually thereafter, he or she shall complete, sign and submit to the Secretary a written
statement identifying, to the best of his or her knowledge, any entity of which he or she is
an officer, director, trustee, member, owner (either as a sole proprietor or as partner), or
employee, and with which BUDC has a relationship, and any transaction in which he or
she might have a conflicting interest. Compliance with the financial disclosure
requirements of the City of Buffalo, if so applicable, shall be deemed compliance with the
requirements of this Section.

ARTICLE III
Ethics Officer

The Executive Vice President of BUDC shall serve as the Ethics Officer. In the
event of a vacancy, the BUDC Governance Committee Chair shall serve as the Fthics
Officer until such time as the BUDC Board appoints a successor.

The Ethics Officer shall report to the Board. The Ethics Officer shall have the
duties set forth below, and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board:

1. Advise in confidence each director, officer or employee of BUDC who
seeks guidance regarding ethical behavior.

2. Receive and investigate complaints about possible violations of this Code
of Ethics.
3. Dismiss complaints found to be without substance.

4. Prepare investigative reports of his or her findings to be submitted for action
by the Chair or the Board.

ARTICLE IV
Reporting Unethical Behavior; Whistleblower Policy

In accordance with Title 12 of Article 9 of the Public Authorities Law, BUDC has
adopted a Whistleblower Policy to afford certain protections to individuals who, in good

Page 5 of 6

144



Approved ang Adopteq: 6-2-2009
Reviewed by Governance Committee: 5-24-2010

Re-Adopted: 3-29-2011

Amended ang Adopted: 3.2 7-2012

Re-adopted: 2-26-2013

Re-adopted: 2-25-2014

Amended ang Adopted: 3-31 -2015

Re-adopted: 3-29-2016

Amended ang Adopted: 3-28-2017

Reviewed: 3-5-2018 (Governance Committee of the Board of Directors)
Reviewed: 3.1 3-2019 (Governance Committee of the Board of Directors)

Page 6 of 6

145



II.

BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION (“BUDC”)
WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY

Introduction

. Applicability: This Whistleblower Policy (“Policy”) shall apply to the Buffalo Urban

Development Corporation (“BUDC”), its existing affiliates and any other affiliated
entities that may hereafter be established by BUDC (hereinafter collectively referred
to as the “Corporation”) upon approval by the Board of Directors of the Corporation.

. Scope: In accordance with Title 12 of Article 9 of the Public Authorities Law, the

Corporation is required to adopt a policy to protect individuals who, in good faith,
report violations of the Corporation’s Code of Ethics or other instances of potential
wrongdoing within the Corporation. '

Purpose: This Policy provides directors, officers and employees of the Corporation
with a confidential means to report credible allegations of misconduct, wrongdoing,
or unethical behavior and to protect those individuals, when acting in good faith, from
personal or professional retaliation.

Definitions

“Corporation Employee™: All directors and officers of the Corporation, and all staff
employed by the Corporation, whether employed full-time or part-time, employed
pursuant to a contract, employed temporarily, or employed on a probationary basis.

- “Good Faith”: Information concerning potential Wrongdoing is disclosed in “good

faith” when the individual making the disclosure reasonably believes such
information to be true and reasonably believes that it constitutes potential
Wrongdoing.

. “Personnel Action”: Any action affecting compensation, appointment, promotion,

transfer, assignment, reassignment, reinstatement or evaluation of performance.

. “Whistleblower”: Any Corporation Employee who in good faith discloses

information concerning Wrongdoing by another Corporation Employee, or
concerning the business of the Corporation itself.

“Wrongdoing”: Any alleged corruption, fraud, criminal or unethical activity,
misconduct, waste, conflict of interest, intentional reporting of false or misleading

information, or abuse of authbrity engaged in by a Corporation Employee that
relates to the Corporation.

Page 1 of 3

146



III: Reporting Wrongdoing

All Corporation Employees who discover or have knowledge of potential Wrongdoing
concerning directors, officers or employees of the Corporation; or a person having business
dealings with the Corporation; or concerning the Corporation itself, shall report such activity
in accordance with the following procedures:

a.

The Corporation Employee shall disclose any information concerning Wrongdoing
either orally or in a written report to his or her supervisor, or to the Corporation’s
ethics officer, general counsel, or human resources representative.

A Corporation Employee who discovers or has knowledge of Wrongdoing shall
report such Wrongdoing in a prompt and timely manner.

The identity of the Whis-tleblower and the substance of his or her allegations will be
kept confidential to the best extent possible.

The individual to whom the potential Wrongdoing is reported shall investigate and
handle the claim in a timely and reasonable manner, which may include referring
such information to the Authorities Budget Office or an appropriate law enforcement
agency where applicable.

Should a Corporation Employee believe in good faith that disclosing information
within the Corporation pursuant to Section I1I(a) above would likely subject him or
her to adverse Personnel Action or be wholly ineffective, the Corporation
Employee may instead disclose the information to the Authorities Budget Office or
to an appropriate law enforcement agency, if applicable. The Authorities Budget
Office’s toll free number (1-800-560-1770) should be used in such circumstances.

IV: No Retaliation or Interference

No Corporation Employee shall retaliate against any Whistleblower for the disclosure of
potential Wrongdoing, whether through threat, coercion, or abuse of authority; and, no
Corporation Employee shall interfere with the right of any other Corporation Employee by any
improper means aimed at deterring disclosure of potential Wrongdoing. Any attempts at
retaliation or interference are strictly prohibited, and:

a.

No Corporation Employee who, in good faith, discloses potential violations of the
Corporation’s Code of Ethics or other instances of potential Wrongdoing shall suffer
harassment, retaliation or adverse Personnel Action.

All allegations of retaliation against a Whistleblower or interference with an
individual seeking to disclose potential Wrongdoing will be investigated by the
Corporation.

Any Corporation Employee who retaliates against or attempts to interfere with any
individual for having in good faith disclosed potential violations of the Corporation’s

Page2 of 3

147



Code of Ethics or other instances of potential Wrongdoing is subject to
disciplinary action, which may include termination of employment.

d. Any allegation of retaliation or interference will be taken and treated seriously and,
irrespective of the outcome of the initial complaint, will be treated as a separate
matter.

V: Other Legal Rights Not Impaired

This Policy is not intended to limit, diminish or impair any other rights or remedies that
an individual may have under the law with respect to disclosing potential wrongdoing free from
retaliation or adverse personnel action, including without limitation the whistleblower
protections provided under Civil Service Law §75-b. Labor Law & 740, State Finance Law §
191 (commonly known as the “False Claims Act”). and Executive Law § 55(1). BUDC shall
comply with all such provisions as applicable. including the posting of any notice required
pursuant to Labor Law § 740. as amended effective January 26. 2022.

VI. Implementation

This Whistleblower Policy shall be provided to all directors, officers, and employees of
the Corporation and shall be reviewed annually by the Corporation’s Governance Committee.

Approved and Adopted: 3/27/2012

Re-adopted: 2/26/2013

Re-adopted: 2/25/2014

Re-adopted: 3/31/2015

Re-adopted: 3/29/2016

Re-adopted: 3/28/2017

Reviewed: 3/5/2018 (Governance Committee of the Board of Directors)
Reviewed: 3/13/2019 (Governance Committee of the Board of Directors)
Reviewed: 3/16/2020 (Governance Committee of the Board of Directors)
Reviewed: 3/4/2021 (Governance Committee of the Board of Directors)

148



Page 3 of 3

149



2021 ANNUAL REPORT
(For purposes'of Section 2800(2) of the Public Authorities Law)

150



Purpose of the Annual Report:

As a local development corporation established by the City of Buffalo, the Buffalo Urban
Development Corporation (BUDC) is required to comply with New York State’s Public
Authorities Law. Under this Law, BUDC is required to submit a comprehensive annual
report that includes information on:

Operations and accomplishments
Financial Reports

Mission Statement & Performance Measurements
Bonds and notes outstanding
Compensation (for those earning $100,000
Projects undertaken during the year

Property Report
Code of Ethics

LRI B W=

10 Legislation that forms the statutory b
11. Board structure
12. By-Laws

13. Listing of material chang S
14, Four-year Financial Plan

i5.0f the a?honty
‘2345‘* e =

In compliance w1‘tih‘ﬁa‘£ Publi¢
presented 3the ﬁsc“i ;

i) Audited Financial Sﬁt@ﬁ{ents:

The audited financial statements for the BUDC will be posted on its website at
http://www.buffalourbandevelopment.com/budc-corporate-reports. The financial
statement certification is included on page 8.

The financial statements are audited on an annual basis, by BUDC’s independent auditors
Freed Maxick CPAs, P.C. In their opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of BUDC as of December 31, 2021 and the
changes in net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in conforrmty with
accounting principals generally accepted in the United States of America.

27
151



ii) Grants & Subsidy Programs: ,
BUDC and its affiliates are recipients of certain Federal, State, Local and private
foundation grant programs that are utilized for land development projects. Details of the
various grants are outlined in BUDC’s audited financial statements.

iii) Operating & Financial Risks: .
The following outline some of the operating and financial risks that impact BUDC:

* Liquidity — A significant portion of BUDC’s assets consist of land and buildings
held for sale or lease which are not readily conventi e;to cash. Since BUDC relies
upon land sales and lease revenues to fund opsr s, a reduction in the amount
of cash derived from land sales and lease rﬂ§: s could cause BUDC difficulty
in funding operations. S

® Recovery of Land held for sale — BU
development costs as “Land and g
difficulty selling the underlying parcel
not be able to recover the amount rectyd

¢ Environmental — Since BUDC and its“aff 'Q 5

with enwronmental cont'j_ on, it is eXpp

_atmg ﬁmds and relis i *ia@wly on grant fundmg for certain projects.

alwh cognizant of the fact that a change in the legislative
State could have a significant effect on future

3 ;h\k

iv) Current bond ratmgs‘:-
BUDC does not issue bonds on its own behalf and therefore is not rated by municipal
bond rating agencies.

v) Long-term liabilities including leases and employee benefit plans:
BUDC has long-term liabilities related to loans and notes payable as described in Section
4.

IR
152



3. Mission Statement & Performance Measurements:

BUDC’s Mission Statement & Performance Measurements Report for 2021 is included in
Attachment 1. This document was reviewed and approved by the Board at the March 30,
2021 Board meeting.

4. Schedule of Bonds and Notes Outstanding:

In 2006, BUDC issued $675,000 in promissory notes in connectlon with the expansion of
its Buffalo Lakeside Commerce Park remediation and<redevelopment. During 2007,

$150,000 of these notes were repaid while in 2008 an,'{ onal $267,619 of these notes
cember 31, 2021. In 2017,

683 Northland LLC borrowed amounts totaling ‘§{3
Workforce Training Center project as part of ;
683 Northland LLC also entered into
totaling $30,000,000; $10,180,810,000 of\whi
In 2019, BUDC entered into a $369,7

Attachment 2 for detail of BUDE” s loans and

per the New Y:_,
B10graph1es i

care; website at
Qﬂg-contact—us Salanes and  benefit

i ;ﬁ‘edsor oited under PARIS.
:'M\‘ i g.ep ;‘t% .

Dperation Accomplishments  report  posted at
hitp://www.buffalourbafilevelopment. com/budc-corporate-reports for a listing of various
initiatives accomplished in 2021.

7. Listing of certain Property of the Corporation:

Attachment 4 provides information regarding the real property holdings of BUDC and its
affiliates.

8. Code of Ethics:

9
153



The Corporation’s Code of Ethics is posted on BUDC’s website at
http://www.buffalourbandevelopment.com/budc-corporate-policies.

9. Assessment of the Effectiveness of Internal Control Structure and Procedures:

Management’s Assessment of the Effectiveness of Internal Controls of BUDC is posted
on BUDC’s website at https://www.buffalourbandevelopment.com/budc-corporate-

reports.

BUDC’s independent auditors have conducted tests of the effectiveness of BUDC’s
internal controls over financial reporting and their r f is included in the audited
financial statements posted on BUDC’s website at

BUDC
BUDC is a local development corporation whig
certain projects pursuant to Not—For-Proﬁt Co"
IDAs (which exist as public b""{ :
corporations that are empower N0, eQ
by others, industrial or manufactuting pla
prmmpally to be conducted (“Beneﬁ’tgfl

Cs are establlshed‘as charitable
rehablhtate and improve for use
Sty in which its operations are
ake loans. LDCs can provide
isition,: igation, improvement, and
.Béi T‘;;,"*-'iory Specific LDC powers
nation and furrish advice, technical assistance
authontles (ii) to acquire by purchase,
; personal property and (iii) to borrow

Sy

A copy of specific leg‘t lation carbe found at the following address
http:/publicieginfo.state. nb..ggLLAWSSEAF cgi?QUERYTYPE=LAWS+&QUERYDA
TA=$$NPC14 ¥ _@TXNI?CGM] I+&LIST=L AW+&BROWSER=EXPLORER+&TO

KEN—35134270+&TAR

SVIEW

11. Description of the Alithority and its Board Structure:

i) Names of Committees and Committee Members:

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation is administered by a Real Estate Committee,
Audit & Finance Committee, Governance Committee, Downtown Committee, and Loan
Committee. A description of the committees and a listing of committee members is
posted on the BUDC website at http://www.buffalourbandevelopment.com/budc-board-
committees.

ii) List of Board Meetings & Attendance:

AN
154



A list of the 2021 Board meetings and Board attendance is outlined on Attachment 5.

iii) Description of major authority units, subsidiaries: BUDC’s Corporate Chart is
included in Attachment 6.

iv) Number of Employees:

BUDC had four full-time employees in 2021. It also utilized employees of the Erie
County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA) to provide financial, administrative,
and property management services on a fee basis, through a shared services agreement.

v) Organizational Chart:
BUDC’s organizational chart is posted on BUDC’s wela"
http://www. buffalourbandevelonment com/budc-conta

12. Bylaws:

Accomphshmenk : g .
PrOJect BUDC app] on, Jr. Foundatlon for grant funds to assist
ed in downtown waterfront planning and

1l awarded BUDC a $2.8 million dollar

| ;;g and managing grant add1t10nal fundmg from the
S \ the amount of $3.06 million, BUDC was also successful
in leveraging idditional fun ing from the Community Foundation for an additional
BUDC support St »Oreat Lakes Foundation and others to support this
transformational project,: BUDC also continues to successfully manage contracts with
Gardiner & Theobald for” prOJect management and cost estimating services, as well as a
contract with Michael Van Valkenburg & Associates for landscape design services.

BUDC also continued to make significant strides in the Northland Beltline Corridor
redevelopment area in 2021, despite the disruption caused by the COVID 19 pandemic.
BUDC was able to attract addltlonal tenants to the campus such as Garwood Medical and
Bank On Buffalo. BUDC also worked in collaboration with partners at City of Buffalo,
Invest Buffalo Niagara, Northland Workforce Training Center and the UB Regional
Institute on a joint application for federal funding through the EDA Build Back Better

41
155



grant program to bring additional resources for the continued development of properties
withing the Northland Beltline Corridor. The WNY Region was successful in securing
planning funding and to also advance to Phase 2 of the program that has the potential to
unlock millions in capital funding for the Northland Corridor and the WNY region.

These investments in existing assets/infrastructure will increase development density in
the City of Buffalo that encourages walkability and multi-modal transportation, connects
dis-advantaged communities with employment clusters, and attracts private investment to
further foster a vibrant, sustainable community in line with the Region’s established
smart growth principles. The Northland Beltline Corridor continues to evolve as an
innovation hub focused on workforce training, advanced m mufacturing, and energy, with
a focus on encouraging job training and employmen East Side residents. The
combined project at Northland Central has exceed 00 million. In addition to the

15. Board Perforq;
The BUDC Boagd'

‘Perfosance Evaluation for 2021 and
t Office. The results of the survey are not

el
o, ‘
17. Description of materialpending litigation:

o

The audited financiak s!s;t}até’ments for BUDC outline any material pending litigation.
The audited financial statements are posted on BUDC’s website at
http://www.buffalourbandevelopment.com/budc-corporate-reports.

42
156



Certification Pursuant to Section 2800(3) of the Public Authorities Law

Pursuant to Section 2800 (3) of the Public Authorities Law, each of the undersigned
Officers of Buffalo Urban Development Corporation, does hereby certify with respect to
the annual financial report of the Corporation (the “Annual Financial Report™) posted on
BUDC’s website at hitp://www.buffalourbandevelopment.com/budc-corporate-reports
that based on the officer’s knowledge:

1. The information provided in the Annual Financial Report is accurate, correct and
does not contain any untrue statement of material faet;

would cause the financial

Does not omit any material fact which, if o

43
157



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Street

Suite 404

Buffalo, New York 14203

phone: 716-856-6525

fix: 716-856-6754

web: buffalourbandevelopment.com

Item 3.4

MEMORANDUM

TO: BUDC Board of Directors
FROM: Antonio Parker, Project Manager

SUBJECT: Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park ~-MLB-MLBPA Youth Development
Foundation Grant Agreement

DATE: March 29, 2022

In 2021, BUDC submitted a grant application to the Major League Baseball (MLB) Youth
Development Foundation for the field renovation component of the Ralph C. Wilson, Jr.
Foundation Centennial Park (“Centennial Park™) project. The MLB Youth Development
Foundation approved BUDC’s grant application on March 8, 2022 for an award in the amount of
$960,000 (the “Grant Agreement”). This renovation project will include the installation of new
lighting at the youth baseball and softball fields at Centennial Park. As a condition of receiving
the grant funds, BUDC will be required to submit scheduled reports on the accounting and status
of the field renovation, which project manager Gardiner & Theobald (G&T) will complete and
provide to BUDC for submission. The Grant Agreement extends through November 30, 2025
unless extended by the MLB Youth Development Foundation in its discretion.

Although a formal recommendation could not be given due to a lack of quorum at the March 16,
2022 Downtown Committee meeting, the Committee members present discussed the item and
agreed it should be moved to the Board for approval.

ACTION:

I am requesting that the BUDC Board of Directors: (i) accept the $960,000 grant award from the
MLB Youth Development Foundation; and (ii) authorize the BUDC President or Executive Vice
President to execute the Grant Agreement and take such other actions as are necessary to
implement this authorization.

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Chairman of the Board ® Dennis Penman, Vice Chairman ® Brandye Mesriweather, President
Rebecca Gandour, Executive Vice President ® Mollie Profic, Treasurer ® Atiga Abidi, Assistant Treasurer ® Kevin J, Zanner, Secretary

158



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Street

Suite 404

Buffalo, New York 14203

phone: 716-856-6525

fax: 716-856-6754

web: buffalourbandevelopment.com

Item 3.5
MEMORANDUM
TO: BUDC Board of Directors
FROM: Antonio Parker, Project Manager

SUBJECT: Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park - MVVA Master Service Agreement
Amendment: ADA Accessible Kayak Launch

DATE: March 29, 2022

In May 2019, the BUDC Board of Directors approved a Master Service Agreement (the “MVVA
Agreement”) with Michael Van Valkenburgh Associates (“MVVA”) for Schematic Design and
Design Development for Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park (“Centennial Park™). The MVVA
Agreement has been subsequently amended to provide for additional Schematic Design costs,
inclusion of the Pedestrian Bridge Schematic Design, additional Design Development, to
incorporate provisions relating to Great Lakes Commission Grant Funding, and the preparation of
Construction Documents.

At the October 26, 2021 BUDC Board meeting, the Board authorized MVVA to proceed with
Construction Document Package Two and released the contingency described in the Fourth
Amendment to the MV VA Agreement for Centennial Park.

The Centennial Park design team, led by Project Manager Gardiner & Theobald (“G&T”), recently
identified the need for additional design work to incorporate an ADA Kayak Transfer Platform at
the Blueway Site at Centennial Park. G&T is recommending an amendment to the MVVA
Agreement for this additional work, which will be completed by MVVA subconsultant, Beech &
Bonaparte.

The total cost of this work is $41,814.16 and will be paid with existing grant awards from the
Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Foundation as follows:

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Chairman of the Board ® Dennis Penman, Vice Chairman ® Brandye Merriweather, President
Rebecca Gandour, Executive Vice President ® Mollic Profic, Treasurer ® Atiga Abidi, Assistant Treasurer ® Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary

159



e $38,063 in unused funds from Wilson Grant #1
e $3,751.16 in unused funds from Wilson Grant #2

ACTION:

I am requesting that the BUDC Board of Directors approve an amendment to the MVVA Master
Service Agreement in the amount of $41,814.16 for additional design work to include an ADA
Accessible Kayak Transfer Platform at Centennial Park; and (ii) authorize the President or
Executive Vice President to execute the amendment to the MVV A Master Service Agreement and
take such other actions as are necessary to implement this authorization.

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Chairman of the Board ® Dennis Peniman, Vice Chairman ® Brandye Merriweather, President
Rebecca Gandour, Executive Vice President ® Mollie Profic, Treasurer ® Atiga Abidi, Assistant Treasurer ® Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary

160



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Strest

Suite 404

Buffalo, New York 14203

phone: 716-856-6525

fax: 716-856-6754 I .

web: buffalourbandevelopment.com

Item 3.6

MEMORANDUM

TO: BUDC Board of Directors
FROM: Brandye Merriweather, President

SUBJECT: Sale of 3.63 +/- acres of Real Property at 308 Crowley to Douglas
Development Corporation

DATE: March 29, 2022

BUDC’s core mission includes the acquisition of brownfield and distressed properties and the re-
positioning of these properties for future redevelopment and a return to productive use. To that
end, BUDC and the Mayor’s Office of Strategic Planning previously identified the former
manufacturing complex located at 308 Crowley Avenue in the Riverside section of the City of
Buffalo as a strategic brownfield acquisition for BUDC. In June of 2018, BUDC acquired the
site through a wholly owned subsidiary limited liability company (King Crow, LLC).

Douglas Development Corporation desires to purchase the remaining 3.63 +/- acre parcel of land
and improvements located at the 308 Crowley site. BUDC executive staff and Douglas
Development Corporation representatives negotiated the terms of a Land Sale Agreement, with a
proposed purchase price for the parcel in the amount of $120,000.00. The property is being sold
in “as-is” condition. The Land Sale Agreement will include a provision requiring Douglas
Development Corporation to ensure that the end use of the site is compatible with the residential
neighborhood in which it is located. The developer will also agree to restore and retain the tower
structure and most of the warehouse located on the site.

An independent appraisal of the property was obtained, which valued the parcel at $120,000.00.
The BUDC Real Estate Committee reviewed the proposed sale transaction at its March 22, 2022
meeting and is recommending that the Board of Directors approve the sale of the property to
Douglas Development Corporation. A Resolution authorizing the sale is attached to this
memorandum,

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Chairman of the Board ® Dennis Penman, Vice Chairman ® Brandye Merriweather, President
Rebecca Gandour, Executive Vice President ® Mollie Profic, Treasurer ® Atiqa Abidi, Assistant Treasurer ® Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary

161



ACTION:

We are requesting that the Board of Directors adopt the attached Resolution to approve the sale
of a 3.63 +/- acre parcel at 308 Crowley to Douglas Development Corporation.

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Chairman of the Board ® Dennis Penman, Vice Chairman ® Brandye Memiweather, President
Rebecca Gandour, Executive Vice President ® Mollie Profic, Treasurer ® Atiqa Abidi, Assistant Treasurer ® Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary

162



RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
(BUDC) TO ENTER INTO A LAND SALE AGREEMENT
WITH DOUGLAS DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION OR AN
AFFILIATED ENTITY FOR THE SALE OF
APPROXIMATELY 3.63 +/- ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY
LOCATED AT 308 CROWLEY STREET, BUFFALO, NEW
YORK

WHEREAS, BUDC is authorized and empowered by Section 1411 of the Not-for-Profit
Corporation Law of the State of New York, as amended, to relieve and reduce unemployment,
promote and provide for additional and maximum employment, improve and maintain job
opportunities, lessen the burdens of government and to combat community deterioration and
blight, all to promote the general and public welfare of the people of the City of Buffalo; and

WHEREAS, in furtherance of these purposes, BUDC is empowered, among other things,
to assist with the environmental remediation and redevelopment of brownfield sites and other
environmentally distressed properties and returning such properties to productive use, and to sell
or convey such properties; and

WHEREAS, in accordance with the BUDC Property Disposition Guidelines
(“Guidelines™) and applicable provisions of the New York Public Authorities Law (“PAL”), and
subject to such exceptions and/or requirements set forth in the Guidelines and the PAL, BUDC
may dispose of real property by sale, exchange, transfer, for cash, credit or other property, with or
without warranty, and upon such terms and conditions as are determined by BUDC to be
appropriate and reasonable and consistent with the Guidelines; and

WHEREAS, BUDC is the sole member of King Crow, LLC, a limited liability company
formed by BUDC to hold title to the real property and improvements located at 308 Crowley
Avenue, Buffalo, New York; and

WHEREAS, Douglas Development Corporation (the “Company”) submitted a proposal
to purchase, on an “as-is, where is” basis, the real property and improvements located at 308
Crowley Street (the “Real Property”); and

WHEREAS, BUDC obtained an independent appraisal from GAR Associates LLC (the
“Appraisal”) that appraised the value of the Real Property to be $120,000.00; and

WHEREAS, BUDC and the Company have negotiated a proposed purchase price for the
Real Property of $120,000.00, an amount that is consistent with the appraised value of the Real
Property.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BUFFALO URBAN
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. BUDC hereby determines that the proposed sale of the Real Property to the

Page 1 of 2

163



Company is within the purpose, mission and statutory authority of BUDC, including the provisions
of the BUDC Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

Section 2. BUDC hereby approves the sale by King Crow LLC of the Real Property to
the Company (or a subsidiary or affiliate designated by the Company) for the purchase price of
$120,000.00.

Section 3. The President and the Executive Vice President of BUDC are each hereby
authorized to negotiate and execute a land sale agreement (“Land Sale Agreement”) for the sale of
the Real Property to the Company, such agreement to be in a form acceptable to BUDC counsel.
The Land Sale Agreement shall include provisions requiring the Company to ensure that the end
use of the Real Property is compatible with the residential neighborhood in which it is located, and
that Company agrees to restore and retain the tower structure and most of the warehouse located
on the Real Property.

Section 4. The President and Executive Vice President are each hereby authorized for
and in the name and on behalf of King Crow, LLC and BUDC to do all acts and things required
and to execute and deliver all such certificates, instruments and documents, to pay all such fees,
charges and expenses, to enforce or waive any conditions precedent to closing in the Land Sale
Agreement, and to do all such further acts and things as may be necessary or, in the opinion of
President or Executive Vice President acting, desirable and proper in connection with the sale and
closing of the transaction to effect the purposes of these resolutions.

Section 5. These resolutions shall take effect immediately.

Dated: March 29, 2022

Page 2 of 2

164



